

Starting Strong

Engaging Young Children LESSONS FROM RESEARCH ABOUT QUALITY IN EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION AND CARE





Starting Strong

Engaging Young Children

LESSONS FROM RESEARCH ABOUT QUALITY IN EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION AND CARE



This work is published under the responsibility of the Secretary-General of the OECD. The opinions expressed and arguments employed herein do not necessarily reflect the official views of OECD member countries.

This document, as well as any data and any map included herein, are without prejudice to the status of or sovereignty over any territory, to the delimitation of international frontiers and boundaries and to the name of any territory, city or area.

Please cite this publication as:

OECD (2018), Engaging Young Children: Lessons from Research about Quality in Early Childhood Education and Care, Starting Strong, OECD Publishing, Paris. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264085145-en

ISBN 978-92-64-08513-8 (print) ISBN 978-92-64-08514-5 (PDF)

Series: Starting Strong ISSN 2521-6023 (print) ISSN 2521-6031 (online)

The statistical data for Israel are supplied by and under the responsibility of the relevant Israeli authorities. The use of such data by the OECD is without prejudice to the status of the Golan Heights, East Jerusalem and Israeli settlements in the West Bank under the terms of international law.

Photo credits: Cover © Shutterstock / Robert Kneschke

Corrigenda to OECD publications may be found on line at: www.oecd.org/about/publishing/corrigenda.htm. © OECD 2018

You can copy, download or print OECD content for your own use, and you can include excerpts from OECD publications, databases and multimedia products in your own documents, presentations, blogs, websites and teaching materials, provided that suitable acknowledgment of the source and copyright owner(s) is given. All requests for public or commercial use and translation rights should be submitted to *rights@oecd.org*. Requests for permission to photocopy portions of this material for public or commercial use shall be addressed directly to the Copyright Clearance Center (CCC) at *info@copyright.com* or the Centre francais d'exploitation du droit de copie (CFC) at contact@cfcopies.com.

Foreword

The first years of life lay the foundations for an individual's future skills development and learning. As the *Starting Strong* reports of the Organisation for Economic Development and Co-operation (OECD) and other research has demonstrated, investments in high-quality early childhood education and care pay dividends in terms of children's short- and long-term learning and development.

Many OECD countries recognise this and have increased public spending on ECEC, particularly to expand its access. In consequence, universal or quasi-universal access to at least one year of pre-primary education is now a reality in most countries, which constitutes significant progress towards the Sustainable Development Goals education targets. A growing body of research suggests that only high-quality early childhood education and care is associated with children's development and learning, with especially strong evidence in the case of disadvantaged children. But raising quality can be a daunting task when public budgets are being tightened.

As a result, policy makers face complex decisions in spending, evaluating trade-offs between structural investments and investments that improve the quality of the interactions taking place in early childhood settings, for instance between staff and children. The nature of these demands imply that policy makers need to be informed of the evidence base and then examine how a variety of policy options apply to their context or jurisdiction.

This research report summarises the key findings from two background studies which were commissioned as part of initial desk-based research for the new OECD project "Policy Review: Quality beyond Regulations in Early Childhood Education and Care (ECEC)", focusing in particular on "process quality", to be conducted in 2017-2020. The report aims at supporting readers to understand different dimensions of quality in ECEC and the complexity of the provision of education and care for the early years. It also highlights significant quality issues in existing research and avenues for further research.

One of the two background studies is a literature review authored by Pauline Slot (University of Utrecht). It examines how structural and process aspects of ECEC quality are interrelated in the provisions of ECEC for children from birth to age 5, including family daycare. The review has an explicit cross-national focus, and includes the "grey" literature (i.e. national and international reports, unpublished studies, recent evidence).

To complement the literature review, a meta-analysis was authored by Antje von Suchodoletz (New York University Abu Dhabi), D. Susie Lee, Bharathy Premachandra and Hirokazu Yoshikawa (New York University). It explores how aspects of quality are associated with child development and learning. The meta-analysis also has an explicit cross-national focus, but was limited to centre-based settings for children aged 3 to 5. Both background studies were designed, implemented and concluded in 2017.

Based on the two research studies (literature review and meta-analysis), this report was written by the OECD ECEC team: Clara Barata (lead author), with contributions from Victoria Liberatore (e.g. introductions, OECD data charts, research assistance), Arno Engel and Miho Taguma (e.g. messaging, Chapters 1 and 5). Project support was provided by Mernie Graziotin. Guillaume Bousquet finalised the meta-analysis charts with guidance from Éric Charbonnier. Victoria Elliott provided the editorial support. Sophie Limoges and Rachel Linden provided support to the publication process.

Members of the OECD Network on Early Childhood Education and Care provided feedback on draft versions of the report, and helped guide the development of the research and publication (see Annex A).

Co-ordination was initially provided by Éric Charbonnier, and later Clara Barata, with overall guidance and support by Yuri Belfali, Miho Taguma and Arno Engel. Final review was provided by Andreas Schleicher, Noémie Le Donné, Elizabeth Shuey and Hannah Ulferts. The report also benefitted from conceptual discussions on process quality with the Questionnaire Expert Group and Consortium of the OECD Starting Strong Teaching and Learning International Survey

This document has been co-funded by the European Union. The opinions expressed and arguments employed herein do not necessarily reflect the official views of the European Union, OECD member countries or OECD ECEC Network members. This work has also been produced with the financial support of the Jacobs Foundation Switzerland.

Information on the OECD's work on Early Childhood Education and Care is available at: http://www.oecd.org/education/school/earlychildhoodeducationandcare.htm.

Table of contents

Foreword	3
List of abbreviations	9
Executive summary	11
Chapter 1. Overview: Promoting quality early childhood education and care, child development and learning	13
Introduction Scope and evidence base of this report Most OECD countries now offer universal access to at least a year of early childhood	14 17
education and care, but its quality remains a concern The importance and definition of quality	19 22
Linking research to policy levers for improving early childhood education and care quality	29
Annex 1.A. Variation in Early Childhood Education and Care staff-child interactions across studies and age ranges Notes References	31 33 33
Chapter 2. Standards and governance for quality early childhood education and care	. 41
Introduction What does research tell us about the importance of quality standards and governance for quality staff-child interactions in early childhood education and care? Note References	42 44 58 58
Chapter 3. Supporting quality early childhood education and care through workforce development and working conditions	e 65
Introduction What does the research tell us about the importance of workforce development and	66
working conditions for staff-child interactions in early childhood education and care? Notes References	68 87 87
Chapter 4. Data and monitoring to improve quality in early childhood education and care	95
Introduction	96

6 | TABLE OF CONTENTS

What does research tell us about the importance of data and monitoring for staff-child interactions in early childhood education and care?	98
References	102
Chapter 5. Key insights and avenues for further research	105
Introduction	106
Avenues for further research 1: clarifying inconclusive evidence Avenues for further research 2: create new evidence where gaps exist or where research	112
hypotheses are not applicable	114
Note	127
References	127
Annex A. List of network member contributors	135
Annex B. Literature review method	137
Reference	138
Annex C. Meta-analysis method	139
References	157

Tables

Table 1.1. Influence of structural characteristics on staff-child interactions and child	
development and learning for well-documented policy levers	17
Table 1.2. Structural and process indicators examined in this report for each policy theme.	30
Table 2.1. Diversity in child-staff ratios and group sizes in reported studies for centres for	
children aged 3 to 5	45
Table 2.2. Diversity in child-staff ratios and group sizes in reported studies for centres for	
children aged 0 to 2	51
Table 2.3. Diversity in child-staff ratios and group sizes in reported studies for family	
daycare settings	52
Table 5.1. A summary of findings from the literature review of the relationship between	
structural characteristics and staff-child interactions	117
Table 5.2. A summary of findings from the meta-analysis of the relationship between	
structural characteristics, staff-child interactions, and child development and	
learning for centres for children aged 3 to 5	123

Figures

Figure 1.1. Proportion of low performers among 15-year-old pupils according to the	
numbers of years spent in early childhood education (PISA 2015)	15
Figure 1.2. Enrolment rates in early childhood education and primary education,	
by age (2014)	20
Figure 1.3. Percentage of 15-year-old students who attended early childhood education	
(ISCED 0) for two years and more, by socio-economic background (PISA 2015)	21
Figure 1.4. Conceptual and analytical model for the relationship between ECEC structural	
quality, process quality, and child development and learning	26
Figure 2.1. Child-staff ratios in early childhood education and care (ISCED 0) (2015)	42
Figure 2.2. Lower child-staff ratios are associated with positive staff-child interactions	47
Figure 2.3. No consistent evidence of association between child-staff ratios and emerging	
academic skills	49
Figure 2.4. Mixed associations between intensity of daily service and staff-child	
interactions.	55
Figure 3.1. Annual statutory teachers' salaries in pre-primary education (2015)	67
Figure 3.2. More positive staff-child interactions are associated with higher levels of child	
emerging academic skills	69
Figure 3.3. Inconsistent associations between positive staff-child relationships and child	
behavioural/ social skills.	71
Figure 3.4. Negative staff-child interactions are associated with worse behavioural/	
social skills	72
Figure 3.5. Higher quality or exposure to developmental and educational activities is	
associated with higher levels of children's skills	73
Figure 3.6. Higher levels of pre-service qualifications are associated with higher quality	
of staff-child interactions.	74
Figure 3.7. No association between pre-service qualifications and provision of development	ļ
and educational activities.	75
Figure 3.8. No evidence of consistent association between pre-service qualifications and	
children's development and learning.	77
Figure 3.9. Inconsistent associations between work experience and staff-child interactions.	82
Figure 3.10. No evidence of association between staff work experience and provision of	
development and educational activities.	83

Boxes

Box 1.1. Commonly used measures to assess ECEC process quality	. 25
Box 2.1. Interpreting the meta-analysis charts	. 48
Box 3.1. Interpreting the meta-analysis charts	. 70
Box 3.2. Organisation of networking in family daycare settings	. 86
Box 4.1. Quality rating and improvement systems in the United States	. 97

List of abbreviations

BA	Bachelor's degree				
CARE	Curriculum and Quality Analysis and Impact Review of European				
	Early Childhood Education and Care				
CIS	Caregiver Interaction Scales				
CLASS	Classroom Assessment Scoring System				
EACEA	Education, Audio-visual and Culture Executive Agency				
EC	European Commission				
ECE	Early childhood education				
ECEC	Early childhood education and care				
ECERS	Early Childhood Education Rating Scale				
ELLCO	Early Literacy and Language Classroom Observation				
ERS	Environment Rating Scales				
EU	European Union				
Eurydice Network	Education Information Network in Europe				
FCCERS	Family Child Care Environment Rating Scale				
ISCED	International Standard Classification of Education, including				
	ISCED 01 for programmes designed for children aged 0-2 and				
	ISCED 02 for programmes designed for children aged 3-5				
ITERS	Infant and Toddler Environment Rating Scale				
MDG	United Nations Millennium Development Goals				
NICHD	National Institute of Child Health and Human Development				
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development				
ORCE	Observational Record of the Caregiving Environment				
Pre-K	Pre-kindergarten				
QRIS	Quality Monitoring and Rating Improvement Systems				
SDG	United Nations Sustainable Development Goals				
US	United States				

Executive summary

The first years of life lay the foundations for a child's future development and learning. Reflecting on the important role of early childhood education and care (ECEC) services in providing all children with the skills they need to be successful in school and in helping disadvantaged children to catch up, many countries have increased their financial support for early childhood provision in recent years. More recently, the focus of debate has been shifting from expanding access to affordable early childhood education and care to enhancing its quality. This is because a growing body of research suggests that the magnitude of the benefits for children will depend on the level of quality of services.

In light of budgetary constraints, policy makers require the latest knowledge base of the quality dimensions that are the most important for ensuring children's development and early learning. Current research, however, is often narrow in focus or limited to programme-level or national-level conclusions. To take stock of and to expand the knowledge base on this topic, the OECD has commissioned a cross-national literature review and meta-analysis of the relationship between structure and process quality in early childhood education and care and links of quality to child development and early learning, conducted in 2017. Structural characteristics are conceptualised as more distal indicators of quality that refer to the infrastructure, whereas process quality concerns the more proximal processes of children's everyday experiences.

Results are organised into three thematic policy levers that build on the Starting Strong III Quality Toolbox and later the European Union (EU) Proposal for key principles of a Quality Framework for Early Childhood Education and Care. The report then concludes with an overview of key insights and avenues for further research.

Overview: Promoting early childhood education and care quality, child development and learning (Chapter 1). As early years provision has expanded, a better understanding of quality has become a priority. This chapter explains why process quality matters, introduces the methods and scope of this report and provides a brief overview on access. It then moves on to describe the importance of defining and analysing quality for different age groups and types of ECEC settings. It highlights key findings and explains their linkages to the policy levers that guide the structure of the report.

Standards and governance (Chapter 2). Child-staff ratios and group sizes are the two most commonly used and studied early childhood education and care quality regulations. Lower ratios and, to a lesser degree, smaller group size were found to be consistently supportive of staff-child relationships across different types of settings. However, the evidence for the relationship between smaller ratios and emerging academic skills, such as early literacy and early numeracy, was unclear. Children in class- or playrooms with a larger share of immigrant or bilingual children seemed to experience lower quality staff-child interactions, as well as present lower language and literacy skills. Other dimensions considered, such as the physical location of the setting, intensity of daily services and

12 | EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

licensing, were based on fewer studies or inconsistent evidence for their association with staff-child interactions.

Workforce development and working conditions (Chapter 3). Higher-quality staffchild interactions and exposure to developmental and educational activities were found to be linked to higher levels of children's emerging literacy and numeracy skills, as well as better behavioural and social skills. These associations were similar for groups of children from predominately disadvantaged backgrounds and more mixed groups. Both higher pre-service qualifications and in-service training (or professional development) were found to be related to higher-quality staff-child interactions, but only staff in-service training was related to children's emerging academic, behavioural or social skills. Positive associations were found between working conditions, the organisational climate in settings, and staff-child interactions, but the number of studies that have included these aspects is limited. The association of staff years of work experience with positive staffchild interactions appeared to be inconsistent across types of settings.

Data and monitoring (Chapter 4). Data and monitoring can be a powerful lever to encourage quality in early childhood education and care by establishing facts, trends and evidence to inform measures for improvements. The implementation of quality monitoring and rating improvement systems was associated with higher-quality staff-child interactions, in particular for centres for children aged 3 to 5 and for children aged 0 to 2. The associations are more uncertain for family daycare. Monitoring and quality rating systems provide only rough indicators of process quality.

Key insights and avenues for further research (Chapter 5). This report offers a set of key insights. Children can develop their skills more effectively when staff provide highquality interactions, but relationships between structural characteristics, such as childstaff ratios and pre-service qualification, and children's development may be indirect. In contrast, participation in ECEC-specific professional development is associated with both higher-quality interactions and better child development. Associations between group size and staff-child interactions are less clear, but more positive relations were found for the youngest children. Monitoring systems can also inform quality improvements. Emerging evidence on other mechanisms, such as staff collaboration, working conditions, well-being, physical location of centres and child group composition, also indicates a relationship to better staff-child interactions, but the evidence for them is limited.

This report also identifies important avenues for future research. More evidence is necessary on the relationship between the combined or mediated effects of structural features and process quality. Child development domains, such as well-being and critical skills, need to be examined more broadly in studies of early childhood education and care quality. How structural characteristics relate to child peer experiences is ill-understood, as well as the interactions staff establish with other staff, the children's parents/guardians and the broader community. More and more fine-grained evidence on curriculum and monitoring would provide important insights. Finally, further studies of quality for the youngest are necessary across indicators to inform research and policy.

Chapter 1. Overview: Promoting quality early childhood education and care, child development and learning

Research shows that quality early childhood education and care (ECEC) affects children's development and learning. There is consensus that process quality, such as the quality of staff-child interactions and developmental activities, is the primary driver of gains in children's development through ECEC. This report builds on a cross-national literature review examining the relations between structural indicators, such as child-staff ratios, and process quality in settings for children aged 3 to 5, aged 0 to 2, including family daycare settings. It also provides insights from a new meta-analysis of the linkages between quality and child learning and development. This overview chapter describes how ECEC provision has expanded and emphasises the importance of better understanding and defining ECEC quality. It highlights key findings and explains their linkages to policy levers such as standards and governance; workforce development and working conditions; data and monitoring.

The statistical data for Israel are supplied by and under the responsibility of the relevant Israeli authorities. The use of such data by the OECD is without prejudice to the status of the Golan Heights, East Jerusalem and Israeli settlements in the West Bank under the terms of international law.

Introduction

The effects of quality early childhood education and care (ECEC) on children's development and learning have been well established in the literature, and there is a general consensus that process quality is the primary driver of children's development in ECEC (Melhuish et al., $2015_{[1]}$). The OECD *Starting Strong* reports (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD, $2001_{[2]}$; $2006_{[3]}$; $2011_{[4]}$; $2015_{[5]}$; $2017b_{[6]}$) and other international research point out that high-quality ECEC is beneficial for children's early development and their subsequent school performance in various domains, such as language use and emerging academic skills, early literacy and numeracy, and socio-emotional skills (Burchinal, $2016_{[7]}$; Cappella, Aber and Kim, $2016_{[8]}$; Melhuish et al., $2015_{[1]}$; Yoshikawa and Kabay, $2015_{[9]}$). The OECD's Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) study suggests that 15-year-old students who attended early childhood education for less than one year are 3.1 times more likely than students who attended for one year or more to perform below the baseline level of proficiency in science (this decreases to 2.3 times after accounting for socio-economic status), see Figure 1.1 (OECD, $2017a_{[10]}$).

Benefits of high-quality ECEC also extend to health and well-being, for example by helping instil healthy habits of eating and physical activity (OECD, $2014_{[11]}$). Evidence is growing that high-quality ECEC services also help support children's outcomes later in life, including in labour market participation, reduction of poverty, increased intergenerational social mobility and social integration (Sammons et al., $2008_{[12]}$; Sylva et al., $2004_{[13]}$).

An early learning environment that provides young children with opportunities to engage in developmentally appropriate, stimulating, and language-rich activities and social interactions can compensate for the risks for children from disadvantaged backgrounds of falling behind or not reaching their full developmental potential (Arnold and Doctoroff, 2003_[14]; Heckman, 2006_[15]). Such research highlights the long-term benefits of investments in ECEC programmes.

Policy makers face complex decisions in spending on ECEC, and need to consider tradeoffs between structural investments and investments that improve the quality of the interactions between ECEC staff and children. Such demands require that policy makers be informed of the evidence base so that they can examine how a variety of policy options apply to their context or jurisdiction.

However, the focus of current research is often too narrow, examining only one aspect of quality, or being limited to programme- or national-level conclusions. These two aspects have received considerable criticism from the research and policy-making community. Prior research on structural characteristics of ECEC settings has been dominated by a focus on the so-called "iron triangle" characteristics (i.e. child-staff ratio, group size and teachers' pre-service qualifications; (Slot, $2017_{[16]}$). To date, the vast majority of studies investigating associations between structural characteristics and process quality focused on only one indicator of process quality: the quality of teacher-child interactions. The research has also largely overlooked many other aspects of process quality, such as child-to-child (peer) interactions.



Figure 1.1. Proportion of low performers among 15-year-old pupils according to the numbers of years spent in early childhood education (PISA 2015)

Notes: Countries and economies are ranked in ascending order of the percentage of low-performing students who did not attended early childhood education (ISCED 0) or attended for "less than one year". Low performers may be able to use basic or everyday scientific knowledge to recognise or identify aspects of familiar or simple scientific phenomena. However, they also often confuse key features of a scientific investigation, apply incorrect scientific information and mix personal beliefs with scientific facts in support of a decision.

* Note by Turkey: The information in this document with reference to "Cyprus" relates to the southern part of the island. There is no single authority representing both Turkish and Greek Cypriot people on the Island. Turkey recognises the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus (TRNC). Until a lasting and equitable solution is found within the context of the United Nations, Turkey shall preserve its position concerning the "Cyprus issue".

Note by all the European Union Member States of the OECD and the European Union: The Republic of Cyprus is recognised by all members of the United Nations with the exception of Turkey. The information in this document relates to the area under the effective control of the Government of the Republic of Cyprus. *Source*: (OECD, 2017a_[10])

Researchers have also pointed out that examining quality in a programme or a country gives an incomplete picture of the wide scope of quality experiences and indicators. Arguably, most countries have quality regulations and monitoring systems that limit the potential diversity in staff and structure characteristics, and the range of staff practices.

An additional limitation of the literature available is that it relies predominantly on studies conducted in the United States, and examines mostly centre-based settings for children aged 3 to 5, whereas systematic research on indicators of quality in ECEC across types of settings and with a global focus is still very limited.

Process quality matters

This report confirms that process quality is a powerful predictor of children's development and learning. The evidence shows that children have higher levels of emerging literacy and numeracy skills, as well as better behavioural and social skills, in ECEC settings with more positive staff-child interactions, or staff providing higher quality or more exposure to developmental and educational activities. Better outcomes for children are also observed when there are fewer negative staff-child interactions. Associations between staff-child interactions and children's development and learning did not differ significantly for children from predominantly disadvantaged backgrounds, compared to a more mixed or balanced group of children.

The report also shows that a few common structural quality indicators, such as child-staff ratios, pre-service qualifications, staff participation in in-service training, and the existence of quality monitoring and rating improvement systems all influence staff-child interactions (see Table 1.1). The evidence is less clear for group sizes and the years of work experience of staff.

Finally, the report documents very limited direct effects of such structural indicators on children's development and learning in the studies available. There is evidence for the benefits of in-service training for child development and learning, but the links of other structural characteristics to child development and learning are unclear or have not been examined in the literature. This means, for example, that despite changes in staff-child interactions linked to structural quality changes, no relationship was detected between child-staff ratios and children's early literacy and numeracy.

A possible reason for these apparently inconsistent findings could be that structural characteristics of ECEC provision are primarily *indirectly* related to child development and learning, influencing child development through process quality. Since many other factors, such as the children's home-learning environment, also affect children's early development, direct effects may not be likely in some cases.

Measurement may also play a role. For instance, the strongest linkages between staffchild interactions and child development are found in examining staff practices geared to specific developmental domains (e.g. emergent literacy and numeracy) and evaluations of children's development in precisely those areas. Indeed, research on curricula and their linkages to staff practices and child development is unbalanced and insufficient.

Another explanation is that structural features are interrelated, and that only by looking at combinations of structural indicators can we better understand how structural features promote development and learning. Contextual factors also need to be taken into consideration to increase understanding of the mechanisms at play between structure, process and child development. Finally, there may be optimal combinations or levels at which some of the most commonly utilised structural levers, such as qualifications, ratios and group size, have an impact on process quality and children's development, but the research is still focused on estimating the benefits on a one-to-one relationship.

Table 1.1 summarises the indicators for which a considerable number of studies are available, with ample geographic representation, and combined analysis from the

literature review and meta-analysis, where available. The results of this report suggest that policy makers can leverage structural regulations to encourage high-quality staffchild interactions. For instance, staff should be well-trained to encourage children's development, and should enjoy good working conditions. Monitoring systems can be harnessed for quality improvements.

Table 1.1. Influence of structural characteristics on staff-child interactions and child
development and learning for well-documented policy levers

Structural characteristics	Association with		
	Staff-child interactions	Child development and learning	
Lower child-staff ratio	Positive	Evidence unclear	
Smaller group size	Evidence unclear	m	
Higher pre-service qualifications	Positive	Evidence unclear	
Participation in in-service training/ professional development	Positive	Positive	
Years of work experience	Evidence unclear	m	
Presence of accountability/Quality monitoring and rating improvement systems (QRIS)	Positive/neutral	Evidence unclear	

Note: "m" signifies missing, i.e. indicating that sufficiently reliable evidence is not available.

Looking at geographical differences, several patterns can be observed. Links between staff-child ratios and interactions between staff and children were not found to vary according to the geographical location. But while US studies showed negative associations between staff-child interactions and children's behavioural skills, those linkages were overall positive in studies conducted outside the United States.

Other mechanisms, such as the funding of provisions or staff salaries, are also examined in this report, but the evidence for them is limited by the number of available studies and/or country representation. The report shows that children can develop literacy, numeracy, behavioural and social skills more effectively when staff engage in quality developmental activities with children. In turn, these staff practices and engagement with children may depend on team collaboration, and benefit from improved working conditions and well-being. Licensing for family day care, when regulated with pre-service qualifications, can be a tool to ensure better interactions for children. Separate class- or playrooms for disadvantaged, immigrant or bilingual children are associated with risks for equity and quality in ECEC. Lastly, the location of ECEC centres within schools may be associated with differences in staff's engagement with children.

This chapter first introduces the methods and scope of this report, provides a brief overview on access to ECEC, then moves on to describe the importance of definition of quality, including arguments for analysing the quality of centres for children aged 0 to 2, and for family daycare settings. It ends by explaining the policy levers guiding the structure of this report.

Scope and evidence base of this report

The overarching goal of this report is to review the current cross-national conceptual and empirical knowledge base of the relationship between ECEC structure and process quality, and links between quality and child development, learning and well-being.

The report summarises the conclusions of a literature review that examines how the structural and process aspects of ECEC quality are interrelated in settings for children aged 0 to 5, with a distinction between centres for younger children (under 3 years old), centres for older children (3 to 5 years old), and family daycare settings when appropriate (Slot, $2017_{[16]}$). The review had an explicit cross-national focus, and includes a review of the "grey" literature (i.e. national and international reports, unpublished studies, recent evidence).

The literature review also looks at the preliminary evidence from two more recent approaches to the research on ECEC quality, which partially overcome the limitations of prior research that examine only one aspect of quality (Slot, $2017_{[16]}$). The first approach explores how structural characteristics may be *indirectly* related to child development and learning, influencing child development through process quality. The evidence from this new approach has so far only taken into consideration staff-child ratios, staff qualifications and group, class- or playroom composition. The second approach looks at models of policy implementation, to examine how different structural features jointly influence staff-child interactions. This approach illustrates better the policy context of these associations, where decisions are made in tandem and/or respect previous policy. The available evidence looking at these approaches is summarised in this report, but is limited mostly to the United States, and involves only a small number of studies.

Further details of the literature review method are available in Annex B.

To complement the literature review, a meta-analysis of the association between aspects of quality, with a specific focus on studies examining process quality, and associations with child development and learning, provides an updated empirical evidence base for the conceptual knowledge (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$). The meta-analysis examines two additional aspects: *i*) the differential effects of ECEC quality for children from disadvantaged families, compared to more diverse groups of children; *ii*) the geographical differences in associations (US versus non-US). This piece of research was limited to centre-based settings for children ages 3 to 5 to allow for the analysis to be conducted in less than a year.

The meta-analysis included the full coding of 44 studies. Twenty-one of the studies reported research from the United States. Of the remaining studies, 16 reported research from different European countries (Germany [6], Netherlands [2], Portugal [3] and 1 study each from Flemish Community of Belgium, Finland, Ireland, Spain, and the United Kingdom) and 7 research studies from other countries (Australia [3], Chile [2], China [1] and Tanzania [1]).

Of the independent samples included in the meta-analysis (i.e. excluding overlapping datasets by retaining only the largest sample size), the total sample size of the studies coded was 3 110 ECEC staff (i.e. lead teachers) and 16 386 children, from 1 977 ECEC centres. Sample sizes ranged from 92 to 2 938 children, and from 16 to 694 ECEC staff. When reported (n=26), the samples were representative at the state/regional level, where the data was collected for most studies (n=22). Additional studies reported that the study population was representative at the national level (n=1) (Slot, Boom, et al., 2017) or at the local level (n=3) (Bowne et al., 2016a; Cadima et al., 2016; Phillips et al., 2009). All of the studies that included child data had similar numbers of boys and girls (43% to 53% girls). The children's age was, on average, 66 months (ranging from 37 months to 180 months; SD=36.9). Where this was reported, the majority of ECEC staff was female (95% to 100%) and, on average, 37 years old (SD=4.80).

Further details of the meta-analysis method are available in Annex C.

Across the two studies, very limited literature was found on aspects of child well-being which limited the scope of examined child outcomes to development and learning.

Most OECD countries now offer universal access to at least a year of early childhood education and care, but its quality remains a concern

Reflecting on the important role of ECEC services in providing all children with the skills they need to be successful in school, and helping disadvantaged children to catch up, many countries have increased their financial support for ECEC programmes in recent years (OECD, $2017a_{[10]}$; Vargas-Barón, $2015_{[18]}$). This may either imply the expansion of universal provision for all children or reflect targeted measures that may specifically seek to enrol children from disadvantaged backgrounds – or a combination of both. Such approaches will also influence the composition of group, class- or playrooms.

In consequence, universal or quasi-universal access to at least one year of ECEC is now a reality in most countries (Figure 1.2), which constitutes significant progress towards the Sustainable Development Goals education targets. In most countries, more than 90% of children are already enrolled in pre-primary education (or in primary education in some countries) at age 5. These countries are already close or have reached the SDGs target recommendation for universal participation in organised learning one year before official primary-school entry age. High enrolment rates are also observed for lower age groups. Among 4-year-olds, 90% or more are already enrolled in pre-primary (or primary education) in two-thirds of the 37 countries where data are available (OECD, 2017).

The increase in access has been made possible, in part, by the extension of legal entitlements of a place for younger children, and efforts to ensure free access for the older age group (e.g. aged 3 to 5). However, there are major differences across countries in the age groups covered by legal entitlements to a place in ECEC. For instance, some countries, such as Norway and Germany, cover ages 1 to 5, while others, such as the Czech Republic and Portugal, only guarantee children a place for one or two years before entering primary school.

Similarly, the time per week covered by the legal entitlements to a place in ECEC also differs greatly across countries and jurisdictions. For example, Norway grants universal access to 41 hours of ECEC, and French pre-primary schools provide 24 hours, Austria provides between 16 and 20 hours for the year before entering primary school, and Scotland (United Kingdom) provides only 16 hours for 3-4 year-olds (OECD, 2015_[5]).

The legal entitlement to a place in ECEC is not a guarantee of free access, especially for younger children. Both variables are independent. In pre-primary education (ISCED 02), most countries provide free access to ECEC to all children for at least the year before entering primary school. However, exceptions include Japan, Norway and Slovenia, where free access to the last year of ECEC is provided, but only on a needs basis. In Slovenia, around 3% of all children aged from 11 months to 5 years have free access to ECEC. In other countries, free access to ECEC is common, but the number of years and the number of hours covered varies significantly.



Figure 1.2. Enrolment rates in early childhood education and primary education, by age (2014)

Note: Children under the age of 3 are enrolled in formal childcare (ISCED 0 and other registered ECEC services); children at ages 4 and 5 can already be enrolled in primary education in a small group of countries. This figure combines data on formal childcare from the OECD Family Database, OECD, Paris, <u>http://www.oecd.org/els/family/database.htm</u> and on ECEC and primary settings covered by the ISCED classification from OECD (2016), *Education at a Glance 2016: OECD Indicators*, ensuring a consistent reference year. For more recent data on enrolment in ISCED 0 and ISCED 1 provision, please refer to OECD (2017), *Education at a Glance 2017: OECD Indicators. Source*: (OECD, 2017c₁₁₉₁; 2016₁₂₀₁)

In many developmental areas, brain sensitivity peaks before the age of 3, including emotional control, social skills, language and numeracy (Gambaro, Stewart and Waldfogel, $2014_{[21]}$; Naudeau et al., $2011_{[22]}$) To support child development and equity, but also because of concerns about the obstacle to mothers' participation in the labour force, increasing effort has been made to provide places in ECEC to children well before the age of 3 in many countries. Data from the OECD Family Database shows that participation rates of children under the age of 3 have increased from 29% in 2006 to almost 35% in 2014 (OECD, 2017). This is also reflected in Figure 1.2.

Many countries also offer regulated family daycare, particularly in Europe (Eurydice Network, $2009_{[23]}$; OECD, $2006_{[24]}$). Family daycare settings refer to licensed home-based ECEC for children aged 0 to 2^1 . Creating family daycare places can be a fast way to meet demands for more places with a relatively limited investment (as compared to the creation of new centres), and provide children with an environment more similar to their own home. These settings may or may not have an educational function or be part of the regular ECEC system.

Coverage of family daycare settings varies considerably across countries. In Belgium, Denmark, Germany, France, Finland, the United Kingdom and Iceland regulated family daycare settings represent a significant proportion of ECEC, in particular for younger

children. In Denmark, around 40% of 1-year-olds are enrolled in regulated family daycare, whereas in France, the participation rates for the 0 to 3 age group apply to about 30% of children (European Commission, $2014_{[25]}$). In Iceland, 31% of children under 2 years old are enrolled in family daycare. In the Netherlands, about 9% of 2 and 3 year-old children are enrolled in family daycare (OECD, $2016_{[26]}$).

In addition to variations in types of provision, great disparities in enrolment persist. The children who need it the most are less likely to have access to ECEC (Eurydice Network, $2009_{[23]}$; OECD, $2017a_{[10]}$) (see Figure 1.3). Furthermore, children from disadvantaged socio-economic backgrounds have a higher chance of attending low-quality settings (Leu and Schelle, $2009_{[27]}$; Stewart and Waldfogel, $2017_{[28]}$; Vandenbroeck et al., $2018_{[29]}$; Zachrisson et al., $2013_{[30]}$).

The lower quality of settings with a large percentage of immigrant or bilingual children might reflect the barriers to access and the added risk experienced overall by disadvantaged families (Eurydice Network, $2009_{[23]}$) and ethnic minority or multilingual families in specific locations (Stewart and Waldfogel, $2017_{[28]}$). A further explanation that has been suggested is that working with disadvantaged children is more challenging and that additional resources might be needed to counteract these challenges to raise process quality (Pianta et al., $2005_{[31]}$).





Note: Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the percentage of socio-economically disadvantaged students who had attended early childhood school for two years and more. *Source:* (OECD, 2017e_[32])

The importance and definition of quality

A growing body of research suggests that the magnitude of the benefits for children will depend on the level of quality of ECEC services, and that low-quality ECEC can be associated with no benefits or even with detrimental effects on children's development and learning (Britto, Yoshikawa and Boller, $2011_{[33]}$; Howes et al., $2008_{[34]}$). With mounting pressure to prepare ever more affordable places in ECEC, in a sector that is often highly decentralised, simultaneously raising quality can be a daunting task – particularly when public budgets are being tightened. However, even defining quality in ECEC remains a challenge for researchers and policy makers seeking to enhance quality (La Paro et al., $2012_{[35]}$).

Definitions of ECEC quality often distinguish between structural characteristics and process quality (Howes et al., $2008_{[34]}$; Pianta et al., $2005_{[31]}$; Slot et al., $2017a_{[36]}$; Sylva et al., $2006_{[37]}$; Thomason and La Paro, $2009_{[38]}$); for a review see (Slot et al., $2017a_{[36]}$)). "Quality standards" are often understood as "regulations", while there is an emerging trend to extend the scope to more dimensions, such as process quality. Quality standards may also include "quality beyond regulations". To inform and influence policy and the general public about the wider definition of the ECEC quality, the concept needs to be better understood and supported.

Structural characteristics are conceptualised as more distal indicators of ECEC quality that refer to the infrastructure, i.e. the available physical, human, and material resources. Structural characteristics are often aspects of the ECEC system that have traditionally been more easy to regulate, such as child-staff ratio, group size and staff training/education (Barros et al., $2016_{[39]}$; Howes et al., $2008_{[34]}$; Slot et al., $2015_{[40]}$; Thomason and La Paro, $2009_{[38]}$). Measurement of structural aspects can often be implemented with a survey or interview at the classroom, setting or system level.

Process quality concerns the more proximal processes of children's everyday experience and involves the social, emotional, physical and instructional aspects of their interactions with staff and other children (peer interactions) while being involved in play, activities or routines (Anders, $2015_{[41]}$; Barros et al., $2016_{[39]}$; Ghazvini and Mullis, $2010_{[42]}$; Howes et al., $2008_{[34]}$; Pianta et al., $2005_{[31]}$; Slot et al., $2015_{[40]}$)

Staff-child interactions in particular usually include the dimensions of:

- emotional climate, including physical and emotional care and support
- instructional quality or pedagogical practices, including the strategies and activities staff employ to engage children in learning and development, and how to scaffold children's learning
- organisation of group routines and management of children's behaviour (Hamre et al., 2014_[43]).

Additional aspects of process quality include the quality of children's interactions with space and materials (Hamre et al., $2014_{[43]}$; Mashburn et al., $2008_{[44]}$; Slot et al., $2017a_{[36]}$; Slot, $2017_{[16]}$). Interactions among children, among staff and with parents are also paramount in the environment for learning and well-being that children experience. Parental involvement in children's learning and development begins at birth, by providing guidance, developing habits, imparting values, supporting learning experiences and sharing expectations (OECD, $2017b_{[6]}$). Children with involved parents tend to do better in reading and numeracy, have positive social and emotional social skills, and be more motivated to learn (OECD, $2017b_{[6]}$). In addition, supportive relationships that generate

healthy attachments positively affect children's understanding and regulation of emotions, as well as their feelings of security and taste for exploration and learning (OECD, $2015_{[5]}$).

The Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) and many other studies show that children whose parents engage in activities such as reading, writing words, telling stories and singing songs not only tend to achieve better reading and numeracy skills, but are also more motivated to learn (Scottish Government, $2016_{[45]}$; OECD, $2011_{[4]}$; Sylva, Siraj-Blatchford and Taggart, $2003_{[46]}$; van Voorhis et al., $2013_{[47]}$). Differences in developmental outcomes by gender and socio-economic background begin early in life, before children start primary school (Bradbury et al., $2011_{[48]}$; Feinstein, $2003_{[49]}$; Sylva et al., $2004_{[13]}$). The role of parents, ECEC staff and school teachers in identifying children's individual need for support is thus vital. However, these aspects are often under-researched, and in this report, the scope of process quality is limited by the available literature. The OECD's ongoing project on Quality beyond Regulations in ECEC, to which this report contributes, will extend the scope of analysis to those additional aspects of process quality.

For this report, the meta-analysis composes three specific indicators of process quality. To capture two different features of staff-child interactions, it uses a global score of staff-child interactions, and an aggregate score of staff-child interactions, including the staff's positive emotional, instructional, and organisation interactions with children, generally based on a set of domain-specific scores reported in the studies. Process quality was operationalised as staff-child interactions in all but 7 studies, and most commonly assessed through observational measures (breakdown of measures per study coded are detailed in Appendix C). Of the 44 studies coded, in 23 studies, a global score of the measure was used to describe the quality of staff-child interactions. In addition, 18 studies focused on positive interactions (i.e. warmth, responsiveness, negative climate), 10 studies on instructional interactions (i.e. general instructional support and cognitive stimulation but not content-specific instruction), and 8 studies on organisation/ management of routines/chaos.

It also uses an aggregate score of the exposure and/or quality of developmental and educational activities. Fifteen studies focused on developmental and educational activity indicators of process quality, which were assessed using observational (n=13) and self-report measures (n=2), see Appendix C for detailed breakdown of measures per study coded). Despite the variety of measures, all studies focused on educational activities, i.e. early literacy or early numeracy activities.

Most of the studies reported information regarding the reliability of the process quality measures included, and the reliability reported was acceptable to excellent for staff-child interactions and developmental and educational activities. Although peer interactions were considered a priority for the literature search in the literature review and meta-analysis, studies of peer interactions as an indicator of process quality were scarce, and often limited to findings from studies conducted in the United States (von Suchodoletz et al., 2017_[17]). Some more recent conceptualisations of ECEC quality may include parent and community engagement as potential structural and process mechanisms for quality, but these were considered beyond the scope of the literature review and meta-analysis, and thus of this report.

Measurement of process quality generally involves the use of a standardised observational protocol, and may also include an interview with staff and/or leaders. The protocol tends to be complex, time-intensive and require specialised training (Box 1.1).

Only a few of measures have been used consistently across jurisdictions and countries. The rigorous adaptation of measures to other countries allows for a more direct comparison of the level of process quality observed in different contexts. However, levels of quality reported in the studies cannot be considered as representative for the quality in each particular country or region.

Comprehensive process quality measures, such as the environmental rating scales, are the most commonly used observational instruments hence allowing for international comparison. A recent meta-analysis of 72 studies from 23 countries focusing on ECEC for children aged zero to five demonstrated that the average level of comprehensive process quality as measured by the environmental rating scales, was mediocre with a score of almost 4 on a 7-point rating scale (Vermeer et al., $2016_{[50]}$). However, significant differences were found between studies, i.e. studies from Australia reported the highest average scores (i.e. at 5), while studies from Bangladesh, the Netherlands Antilles, and South Korea reported the lowest scores (i.e. below 3). Quality was generally observed to be higher in studies from North America than in studies from Europe, South America, and Asia, but the variation was also larger in North America compared to Europe and Asia.

More specific measures of process quality looking at staff-child interactions, such as the Classroom Assessment Scoring System (CLASS), are also increasingly being adapted to different countries and across different age ranges. A preliminary overview (see Annex Table 1.A.1) reveals a consistent pattern of mid-to-high range scores in the CLASS for emotionally and organisationally supportive classroom interactions, and low to lowest range scores for instructional support across all age ranges and types of provision (Slot, 2017_[16]).

Overall, the findings for the preschool age (with the CLASS Pre-K) show medium to medium-high quality for emotional support in studies from all countries. Instructional support, or support for learning, is in the low range and lowest for the majority of studies and only reported in the mid-range in studies from Finland, the Netherlands, and Portugal. Although the number of studies involving infant and toddler classrooms is rather limited, the results reveal a similar pattern as for the preschool age. However, for all subdomains of staff-child interactions (emotional, organisational and instructional support), the variation observed within countries is roughly equal to the variation between countries, indicating that the quality of staff-child interactions is only partially determined by country-wide characteristics or national policies.

Box 1.1. Commonly used measures to assess ECEC process quality.

Instruments that assess process quality are divided into global quality measures (e.g. Environment Rating Scales, or ERS), and instruments that focus explicitly or exclusively on the quality of interactions between staff and the children (e.g. the Classroom Assessment Scoring System, or CLASS). Most instruments are age-specific (Infant and Toddler Environment Rating Scale, or ITERS, for infant and toddler classrooms, versus Early Childhood Education Rating Scale, or ECERS, for preschool classrooms), and have had multiple reviews and adaptations to different contexts (e.g. ITERS versus ITERS-R). A few instruments distinguish between different subdomains of process quality (e.g. the CLASS distinguishes between emotional support, classroom management and instructional support).

Global quality measures

Environment Rating Scales (ERS): These observational tools evaluate the overall quality in ECEC, encompassing a wide range of quality aspects based on the following subscales: space and furnishing, personal care routines, language reasoning, activities, interaction, programme structure, and parents and staff.

Different versions have been developed for infant and toddler classrooms (ITERS-R; (Harms, Cryer and Clifford, $1990_{[51]}$)), preschool classrooms (ECERS-R; (Harms, Clifford and Cryer, $1998_{[52]}$)), family daycare (Family Child Care Environment Rating Scale, or FCCRS, or FCCERS-Revised; (Harms, Cryer and Clifford, $2007_{[53]}$). In addition, an extension of the Early Child Care Environment Rating Scale (ECERS) was developed by (Sylva, Siraj and Taggart, $2003_{[54]}$) ECERS-E) to capture aspects of the curriculum with a focus on literacy, math, science and diversity.

Quality of interactions

Caregiver Interaction Scales (CIS; (Arnett, 1989_[55])). The CIS measures teachers' sensitivity, harshness, detachment and permissiveness in the interactions with children.

Classroom Assessment Scoring System (CLASS). The CLASS evaluates emotional, behavioural and instructional aspects of the teacher's interactions with children and the way the teacher encourages interactions with materials and peers. There are several different age versions available for infant classrooms (CLASS Infant; (Hamre et al., $2014_{[43]}$)) for toddler classrooms (CLASS Toddler; (La Paro et al., $2012_{[35]}$)), and for preschool classrooms (CLASS Pre-K; (Pianta, La Paro and Hamre, $2008_{[56]}$)).

Observational Record of the Caregiving Environment (ORCE); (NICHD Early Child Care Research Network, 1996_[57]). The ORCE measures caregiver-child interactions, with a few items addressing language and cognition.

Early Literacy and Language Classroom Observation (ELLCO; (Smith, Dickinson and Sangeorge, 2002_[58])). The ELLCO measure focuses on classroom interactions, but also has a more domain-specific focus on emerging literacy activities.

Student-Teacher-Relationship Scale (STRS; (Pianta, 2001_[59])). The STRS is self-report measure of closeness and conflict in student-teacher interactions for preschool and kindergarten classrooms.

Reflecting this trend, the (European Commission, $2014_{[25]}$) describes quality as a multidimensional, complex construct that includes the structure of ECEC provision, processes and practices in ECEC settings, and outcomes from ECEC provision. Conceptualisations cover global aspects (such as a warm climate or child-appropriate behaviour) and domain-specific stimulation, in learning areas such as literacy, emerging mathematics and science (Anders, $2015_{[41]}$). Essential to a multidimensional understanding of quality is the provision of a learning environment in which young children can engage in developmentally appropriate, stimulating and language-rich activities that offer opportunities for play and exploration, for use of language, for higher-order thinking and problem solving, and for social interactions (European Commission, $2014_{[25]}$; OECD, $2017b_{[6]}$) Consequently, to improve quality in ECEC, it is essential to define quality dimensions and their key indicators beyond the indicators that are traditionally regulated.

Processes and relationships in ECEC are crucial for quality

Structural features are considered to be important preconditions for process quality, and to some degree for child development and learning (Vandell et al., $2010_{[60]}$). Despite the strong theoretical assumption that structural staff and classroom features affect children's development through process quality (see Figure 1.4), the empirical evidence supporting this notion is weak (Melhuish et al., $2015_{[1]}$). For exceptions see: (Connor et al., $2005_{[61]}$; Melhuish et al., $2015_{[1]}$; NICHD Early Child Care Research Network, $2002_{[62]}$; Slot et al., $2017b_{[63]}$).

Figure 1.4. Conceptual and analytical model for the relationship between ECEC structural quality, process quality, and child development and learning



Source: Adapted from (Slot, 2017[16])

Relations between structural and process quality in ECEC settings have been extensively studied, with mixed and inconsistent findings (Pianta et al., $2005_{[31]}$). One explanation is that structural characteristics may be more indirectly related to child outcomes by providing the foundation for process quality as the primary mechanism for children's development and learning. However, studies directly testing indirect effects of structural quality on children's development and learning are limited and, so far, show a mixed pattern of associations (Anders, $2015_{[41]}$).

Despite such findings, structural factors have been prioritised as a key strategy for improving the quality of ECEC programmes and ultimately children's development and learning (Early et al., $2007_{[64]}$). For example, in many countries, raising staff qualification requirements is the quality improvement strategy of choice (Early et al., $2007_{[64]}$). Structural standards are relatively easy to set and observe – both by inspectors and parents (e.g. space per child, number of adults in a class- or playroom). Regulating effective professional development, for instance, is a much more complex endeavour.

Linkages between structural and staff-child interactions also matter for the youngest children

Many countries have regulations to address the specificity of provision for children under the age of 3 (OECD, $2006_{[24]}$). As a consequence, structural conditions for centres for children under the age of 3 differ in many respects from centre provisions for children aged 3 to 6. For example, group sizes or the child-to-staff ratio tend to be lower (Barros et al., $2016_{[39]}$; Jamison et al., $2014_{[65]}$; Slot et al., $2015_{[40]}$; Vogel et al., $2015a_{[66]}$; $2015b_{[67]}$).

Despite these regulations, the quality of the interactions and of the environment provided in centres has been reported to be lower for infants and toddlers than for pre-schoolers (Fenech, Sweller and Harrison, $2010_{[68]}$; Helmerhorst et al., $2014_{[69]}$; Lahti et al., $2015_{[70]}$; Fukkink et al., $2013_{[71]}$). In particular, centres with mixed age groups serving children from birth until age 3 years appear to offer lower quality (Slot et al., $2017c_{[72]}$).

There is also some evidence that the quality of the materials, activities, and environment may be lower in centres for infants as compared to those for toddlers (Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$), whereas basic safety and organisation and the quality of (language) interactions may be higher for infants than for toddlers (King et al., $2016_{[74]}$) For example, research shows that support for children's development, well-being and learning is comparatively lower for infants (Fukkink et al., $2013_{[71]}$), as well as emotionally supportive interactions (Helmerhorst et al., $2014_{[69]}$)

These concerns also apply to family daycare settings, which are an important part of provision for the youngest children in many countries. The minimum requirements defined for licensed family daycare services vary widely across countries. Regulations usually require that providers meet minimum health, safety and nutrition standards, and also minimum educational requirements for caregivers. Some countries distinguish between registered family daycare providers, which often involve minimal to no monitoring or supervision, and licensed family daycare providers, which often involve minimal to no monitoring to a certain extent. In this report, family daycare settings refer only to the publicly regulated ECEC settings for children aged 0 to 2.

Family daycare settings differ in many respects from centres. Family daycare providers typically work alone (Porter et al., 2010b_[75]). Group sizes and child-staff ratios tend to be lower than in centres (e.g. (Burchinal, Howes and Kontos, 2002_[76]; Coley et al., 2016_[77];

Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$; OECD, $2006_{[24]}$); but there is considerable variation across countries (Boogaard, Bollen and Dikkers, $2014_{[78]}$)

Staff educational qualifications also tend be lower for family day care providers than for staff working in centres. Moreover, family daycare providers tend to have fewer opportunities for professional development (e.g. (Boogaard, Bollen and Dikkers, 2014_[78]; Fuligni et al., 2009_[79]). An overview by the OECD (2006) showed that the requirements for licensed family daycare care tend to be lower than for centre-based ECEC.

The quality of the interactions and of the environment provided in family daycare settings has generally been reported to be lower in comparison to centres. In a recent review, the environment in family daycare settings was described as varying from inadequate (Elicker et al., $2005_{[80]}$; Fuller et al., $2004_{[81]}$; Peisner-Feinberg et al., $2000_{[82]}$) to good (Paulsell et al., $2008_{[83]}$; Shivers, $2006_{[84]}$), and overall quality in family daycare appeared comparably lower than quality in centre-based care (Coley et al., $2016_{[77]}$; Elicker et al., $2005_{[80]}$; Fuller et al., $2004_{[81]}$; Lahti et al., $2015_{[70]}$). Specifically, the provision of learning activities was rated lower (Coley et al., $2016_{[77]}$; Fuller et al., $2004_{[81]}$), whereas no differences were found for the quality of interactions (Fuller et al., $2004_{[81]}$).

Taken together, the literature indicates that quality of family daycare varies considerably. Although some structural characteristics are beneficial, such as a small group size and small child-staff ratios, other features can be less favourable, such as staff's lower educational qualifications, lack of professional development and other support and resources. Moreover, more empirical evidence is needed to enhance our understanding of which characteristics of family daycare contribute to higher process quality; and which have an impact on children's well-being, development and learning (Susman-Stillman and Banghart, $2011_{[85]}$).

Links between staff-child interactions and children's development and learning

The research evidence appears more consistent concerning the positive effects of staffchild interactions on child development and learning. During the early childhood years, social interactions between children and their social context influence children's developmental trajectories (Bronfenbrenner and Morris, $2006_{[86]}$; Rimm-Kaufman and Wanless, $2012_{[87]}$). In ECEC settings, sustained positive interactions between staff and children provide an important proximal context that may facilitate opportunities for children's development and learning (Bronfenbrenner and Morris, $2006_{[86]}$) There is extensive evidence that high-quality staff-child interactions account for individual differences in children's behavioural, social-emotional and academic outcomes, highlighting the importance of the quality of staff-child interactions for the effectiveness of ECEC services (e.g. (Cadima et al., $2016_{[88]}$; Cappella, Aber and Kim, $2016_{[8]}$; Hamre and Pianta, $2005_{[89]}$; Mashburn et al., $2008_{[44]}$).

However, the associations between staff-child interactions and early child cognitive and socio-emotional skills and competencies are inconsistent in size (e.g. in Latin America, Europe and the United States (Araujo et al., $2016_{[90]}$; Leyva et al., $2015_{[91]}$; Mashburn et al., $2008_{[44]}$; Pakarinen et al., $2010_{[92]}$). Although these relationships may vary from one domain of development to another, few studies show strong and consistent associations between the commonly studied dimensions (e.g. emotional climate, instructional quality and classroom organisation) and any domain of early childhood skills. In response, more specific instructional measures have been developed that attempt to capture quality of interactions that are specific to such skills as numeracy development or vocabulary development (Bowne, Yoshikawa and Snow, $2016_{[93]}$; Clements and Sarama, $2014_{[94]}$).

These, again, largely show relatively small associations with those specific child developmental domains.

In the meta-analysis, data on children's development and learning was most commonly assessed using standardised performance tests (n=21) and ECEC staff/parent ratings (n=8). Two studies used self-report measures. Available child data were grouped into emerging academic skills (early numeracy and literacy) and social and behavioural skills (behaviour regulation, executive function, behavioural problems and social competence). Common measures of emerging academic skills included the Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test (PPVT), the Woodcock-Johnson Tests of Cognitive Ability, and ECEC staff or parent rating scales, to assess social and behavioural competencies.

Information regarding the measures' reliability was limited. Only 17 studies reported reliability of the information, with alpha coefficients ranging between 0.72 and 0.98. However, in the majority of cases where reliability was not reported, studies used well-established and validated measures.

Linking research to policy levers for improving early childhood education and care quality

To help translate research findings into concrete policy actions, the Starting Strong III Quality Toolbox, and, building on the former, the European Union (EU) Proposal for Key Principles of a Quality Framework for Early Childhood Education and Care, set out to define policy levers to provide guidance on improving ECEC quality. In collaboration with ECEC experts and policy makers, the ECEC Network of the OECD, and the ECEC Thematic Working Group of the European Union, proposed to create a common understanding of quality as a multidimensional, complex construct that includes the structure of ECEC provision, processes and practices in ECEC settings, and outcomes from ECEC provision.

In this report, evidence is presented and analysed under a proposed thematic frame for quality that proposes to add on to the Starting Strong III Quality Toolbox in areas with strong and new findings, while examining the relevance of each policy lever in light of its association with process indicators, such as the quality of the staff-child interactions and staff quality or exposure to developmental and educational activities, as well as aspects of child development and learning, such as emergent academic and socio-emotional skills. In comparison to the Starting Strong III Quality Toolbox, two policy levers – curriculum and pedagogy, and parent/guardian and community engagement – were not included. Curriculum and pedagogy were found to be rarely and inconsistently addressed in the empirical literature. Parent/guardian and community engagement was considered beyond the scope of the literature review and meta-analysis. Table 1.2 presents a brief summary of indicators considered in this report for each policy lever and chapter.

Chapter 2 considers aspects of standards and governance, namely the setting of staff-child ratios and group sizes as minimum standards, the financing of ECEC services, the physical location of the centre, the intensity of the service, class or playroom composition, and the effects of licensing and certification.

Chapter 3 examines workforce development and working conditions, namely pre-service qualifications and in-service training of staff, years of work experience; working conditions (i.e. salaries), staff well-being and organisational climate.

Chapter 4 considers monitoring and data on quality, specifically Quality Rating Information Systems (QRIS).

Finally, Chapter 5 concludes with an overview of key insights and avenues for further research.

Fable 1.2. Structural and	process indicators	examined in t	this report for	each policy theme
----------------------------------	--------------------	---------------	-----------------	-------------------

Target areas of policy levers to improve quality	System/structural indicators, i.e. the aspects of ECEC that are traditionally regulated and function as preconditions of proxy of process quality	Process/interaction indicators, i.e. the child's day-to-day experience
Standards, and governance (Chapter 2)	Minimum standards (e.g. staff-child ratios, group sizes); financing of ECEC services (whether public/ non-profit or private); physical location of the centre, intensity of the service, registering or licensing of services, class- or playroom composition	Overall staff-child interactions, staff emotional, instructional, and organisation interactions with the children
Workforce development and working conditions (Chapter 3)	Pre-service qualifications of staff; in-service training of staff; years of work experience; working conditions (i.e. salaries); staff well-being, organisational climate, networking	Overall staff-child interactions, staff emotional, instructional, and organisation interactions with the children Developmental and educational activities
Monitoring and data on quality (Chapter 4)	Monitoring systems and tools (QRIS)	Overall staff-child interactions, staff emotional, instructional, and organisation interactions with the children

Annex 1.A. Variation in Early Childhood Education and Care staff-child interactions across studies and age ranges

Annex Table 1.A.1. Variation in scores for emotionally, organisationally and instructionally supportive classroom interactions across studies and age ranges

Country	Reference	Ν	Sample	Age range	Domain	Mean	SD
Australia	Tayler et al. 2013	254	Two states	Preschool	Emotional support	5.13	.92
					Classroom organisation	4.60	.92
					Instructional support	2.07	.76
Flemish Comm. (Belgium)	Hulpia et al. 2016	167	Stratified random sample	Infant	Relational climate	5.11	.80
					Teacher sensitivity	4.86	1.02
					Facilitated exploration	3.33	1.14
					Early language support	2.97	1.22
		233	Stratified random sample	Toddler	Emotional and behavioural support	5.22	.84
					Engaged support for learning	2.66	.88
Chile	Leyva et al., 2015	91	At-risk, 4 municipalities in Santiago	Preschool	Emotional support	4.65	.54
					Classroom organisation	4.29	.63
					Instructional support	1.75	.55
China	Hu et al.2016b	180	Stratified, random sample	Preschool	Emotional support	5.03	.69
					Classroom organisation	4.80	.81
					Instructional support	2.12	.61
Denmark	Slot et al. 2017a, under review	402	Purposive sample at-risk children,	Preschool	Emotional support	5.85	.42
					Classroom organisation	5.69	.47
					Instructional support	2.45	.55
Germany	Stuck, Kammermeyer and Roux,2016	61	One state	Preschool	Emotional support	5.88	.57
					Classroom organisation	6.15	.61
					Instructional support	1.61	.49
Germany	Von Suchodoletz et al.,2014	63	One state	Preschool	Emotional support	5.32	.75
					Classroom organisation	4.82	1.02
					Instructional support	2.47	.78
Finland	Pakarinen et al. 2010	49	Semi-rural and urban sample	Preschool	Emotional support	5.54	.69
					Classroom organisation	5.34	.66
					Instructional support	3.97	.92

Assessment of interactions using the Classroom Assessment Scoring System

32	1.	OVERVIEW:	PROMOTING Q	UALITY ECEC,	CHILD DEVEL	OPMENT ANI) LEARNING

Country	Reference	Ν	Sample	Age range	Domain	Mean	SD
Netherlands	Slot et al., 2017b	269	Semi-rural and urban sample	Toddler	Emotional and behavioural support	5.37	1.02
					Engaged support for learning	3.29	1.28
Netherlands	Veen and Leseman, 2015	133	Semi-rural and urban sample	Preschool	Emotional support	5.34	.73
					Classroom organisation	5.03	.85
					Instructional support	3.27	.89
Poland	Wyslowska et al., 2017	30		Toddler	Emotional and behavioural support	5.79	.86
		30			Engaged support for learning	2.84	1.02
Portugal	Barros et al., 2016	90	Metropolitan area Porto	Infant	Relational climate	4.62	.76
					Teacher sensitivity	4.20	.88
					Facilitated exploration	2.58	.75
					Early language support	2.62	.76
	Cadima, Leal and Burchinal, 2010	64	Metropolitan area Porto	Preschool	Emotional support	4.60	.88
					Classroom organisation	4.11	.90
					Instructional support	3.04	1.13
Spain	Sandstrom, 2012	25	Random sample in one city	Preschool	Emotional support	4.79	.63
					Classroom organisation	4.32	.67
					Instructional support	2.16	.49
Switzerland	Perren, Frei and Hermann, 2016	35	Different ECEC settings	Toddler	Emotional and behavioural support	5.44	.76
					Engaged support for learning	3.23	1.07
US	Jamison et al. 2014	30	One state	Infant	Relational climate	5.07	.98
					Teacher sensitivity	5.13	.93
					Facilitated exploration	4.02	1.08
					Early language support	3.89	1.02
	La Paro, Wiliamson and Hatfield, 2014	101	One state	Toddler	Emotional and behavioural support	4.82	.99
					Engaged support for learning	2.83	1.07
	Hamre et al., 2013	4035	Multi- state and multi- sample	Preschool	Emotional support	5.23	.88
					Classroom organisation	4.66	.93
					Instructional support	2.58	.88

Note: The studies reported in this table show considerable variation in sample size and geographical spread within countries. However, reported levels of quality cannot be considered as representative for the quality in each particular country or region where the study took place. *Source*: (Slot, $2017_{[16]}$)

Notes

1. Family daycare settings may also apply to older children before compulsory school starts or for after-school care. However, those settings are not considered in this report.

References

[41]
[90]
[55]
[14]
[39]
[78]
[93]
[48]
[33]

Bronfenbrenner, U. and P. Morris (2006), "The bioecological model of human development", in <i>Handbook of Child Psychology</i> , John Wiley & Sons, Inc., <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/9780470147658.chpsy0114</u> .	[86]
Burchinal, E. (2016), "Quality, thresholds, features and dosage in early care and education: Secondary data analyses of child outcomes", <i>Monographs of the Society for Research in</i> <i>Child Development</i> , Vol. 81/2, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/mono.12248</u> .	[7]
Burchinal, M., C. Howes and S. Kontos (2002), "Structural predictors of child care quality in child care homes", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 17/1, pp. 87-105, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(02)00132-1</u> .	[76]
Cadima, J. et al. (2016), "Classroom interactions, dyadic teacher–child relationships, and self–regulation in socially disadvantaged young children", <i>Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology</i> , Vol. 44/1, pp. 7-17, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10802-015-0060-5</u> .	[88]
Cappella, E., J. Aber and H. Kim (2016), <i>Teaching Beyond Achievement Tests:</i> <i>Perspectives From Developmental and Education Science</i> , American Educational Research Association, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3102/978-0-935302-48-6_4</u> .	[8]
Clements, D. and J. Sarama (2014), <i>Learning and Teaching Early Math</i> , Routledge, New York, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4324/9780203520574</u> .	[94]
Coley, R. et al. (2016), "Comparing public, private, and informal preschool programs in a national sample of low-income children", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 36, pp. 91-105, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2015.11.002</u> .	[77]
Connor, C. et al. (2005), "Teacher qualifications, classroom practices, family characteristics, and preschool experience: Complex effects on first graders' vocabulary and early reading outcomes", <i>Journal of School Psychology</i> , Vol. 43/4, pp. 343-375, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2005.06.001.</u>	[61]
Early, D. et al. (2007), "Teachers' education, classroom quality, and young children's academic skills: Results from seven studies of preschool programs", <i>Child</i> <i>Development</i> , Vol. 78/2, pp. 558-580, <u>http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467- 8624.2007.01014.x</u> .	[64]
Elicker, J. et al. (2005), <i>Child care for working poor families: Child development and parent employment outcomes. Community child care research project: Final report</i> , Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN.	[80]
European Commission (2014), <i>Key principles of a quality framework: Proposal for key principles of a quality framework on early childhood education and care</i> , Report of the working group on early childhood education and care under the auspices of the European Commision, <u>http://ec.europa.eu/assets/eac/education/policy/strategic-framework/archive/documents/ecc-quality-framework_en.pdf</u> .	[25]
Eurydice Network (2009), <i>Tackling social and educational inequalities through early childhood education and care in Europpe</i> , European Commission, Brussels, <u>http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/about/eurydice/documents/098EN.pdf</u> .	[23]
Feinstein, L. (2003), "Inequality in the early cognitive development of British children in the 1970 cohort", <i>Economica</i> , Vol. 70/277, pp. 73-97, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1468-0335.t01-1-00272</u> .	[49]
--	------
Fenech, M., N. Sweller and L. Harrison (2010), "Identifying high-quality centre-based childcare using quantitative data-sets: What the numbers do and don't tell us", <i>International Journal of Early Years Education</i> , Vol. 18/4, pp. 283-296, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09669760.2010.531615</u> .	[68]
 Fukkink, R. et al. (2013), Pedagogische kwaliteit van de kinderopvang voor 0- tot 4- jarigen in Nederlandse kinderdagverblijven in 2012 (Pedagogical quality of childcare for 0-4 year-olds in Dutch daycare centers in 2012), http://www.kinderopvangonderzoek.nl/drupal/sites/default/files/field/textfile/NCKO%2 Orapport%20Kwaliteitspeiling%202012_0.pdf. 	[71]
Fuligni, A. et al. (2009), "Diverse pathways in early childhood professional development: An exploration of early educators in public preschools, private preschools, and family child care homes", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 20/3, pp. 507-526, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409280902783483</u> .	[79]
Fuller, B. et al. (2004), "Child care quality: Centers and home settings that serve poor families", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 19/4, pp. 505-527, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2004.10.006</u> .	[81]
Gambaro, L., K. Stewart and J. Waldfogel (2014), <i>An Equal start?: Poviding Quality Early</i> <i>Education and Care for Disadvantaged Children</i> , Policy Press at the University of Bristol, Bristol, <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt9qgznh</u> (accessed on 02 February 2018).	[21]
Ghazvini, A. and R. Mullis (2010), "Center-based care for young children: Examining predictors of quality", <i>The Journal of Genetic Psychology</i> , Vol. 163/1, pp. 112-125, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00221320209597972</u> .	[42]
Hamre, B. and R. Pianta (2005), "Can instructional and emotional support in the first-grade classroom make a difference for children at risk of school failure?", <i>Child Development</i> , Vol. 76/5, pp. 949-967, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2005.00889.x</u> .	[89]
Hamre, B. et al. (2014), <i>Classroom Assessment Scoring System (CLASS) manual, Infant</i> , Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co, Baltimore, MD.	[43]
Harms, T., Cryer, D., & Clifford, R. M. (1990). Infant/Toddler Environment Rating Scale, Teachers College Press, New York, NY.	[51]
Harms, T., R. Clifford and D. Cryer (1998), <i>Early Childhood Environmental Rating Scale-Revised (Spanish)</i> , Teachers College Press, Vermont.	[52]
Harms, T., D. Cryer and R. Clifford (2007), <i>Family child care environment rating scale</i> , Teachers College Press, <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED497998</u> (accessed on 02 February 2018).	[53]

Heckman, J. (2006), "Skill formation and the economics of investing in disadvantaged children", <i>Science</i> , Vol. 312/5782, pp. 1900-1902, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1128898</u> .	[15]
Helmerhorst, K. et al. (2014), "Measuring the interactive skills of caregivers in child care centers: Development and validation of the caregiver interaction profile scales", <i>Early</i> <i>Education and Development</i> , Vol. 25/5, pp. 770-790, <u>http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.1080/10409289.2014.840482</u> .	[69]
Howes, C. et al. (2008), "Ready to learn? Children's pre-academic achievement in pre- Kindergarten programs", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 23/1, pp. 27-50, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2007.05.002</u> .	[34]
Hulpia, H. et al. (2016), <i>MeMoQ Deelrapport 10. Emotionele en educatieve ondersteuning in de nulmeting</i> , Kind en Gezin, Ugent, KU Leuven.	[73]
Jamison, K. et al. (2014), "CLASS-Infant: An observational measure for assessing teacher- infant interactions in center-based child care", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 25/4, pp. 553-572, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2013.822239</u> .	[65]
King, E. et al. (2016), "Classroom quality in infant and toddler classrooms: impact of age and programme type", <i>Early Child Development and Care</i> , Vol. 186/11, pp. 1821-1835, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2015.1134521</u> .	[74]
La Paro, K. et al. (2012), "Examining the definition and measurement of quality in early childhood education: A review of studies using the ECERS-R from 2003 to 2010", <i>Early Childhood Research & Practice</i> , Vol. 14/1, <u>http://ecrp.uiuc.edu/v14n1/laparo.html</u> .	[35]
Lahti, M. et al. (2015), "Approaches to validating child care quality rating and improvement systems (QRIS): Results from two states with similar QRIS type", <i>Early</i> <i>Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 30, pp. 280-290, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2014.04.005</u> .	[70]
Leu, H. and R. Schelle (2009), "Between education and care? Critical reflections on early childhood policies in Germany", <i>Early Years</i> , Vol. 29/1, pp. 5-18, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09575140802689034</u> .	[27]
Leyva, D. et al. (2015), "Teacher-child interactions in Chile and their associations with prekindergarten outcomes", <i>Child Development</i> , Vol. 86/3, pp. 1-19, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12342</u> .	[91]
Mashburn, A. et al. (2008), "Measures of classroom quality in prekindergarten and children's development of academic, language, and social skills", <i>Child Development</i> , Vol. 79/3, pp. 732-749, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2008.01154.x</u> .	[44]
Melhuish, E. et al. (2015), A review of research on the effects of early childhood education and care (ECEC) upon child development. WP4.1 Curriculum and quality analysis	[1]

impact review, CARE, http://ecec-care.org/fileadmin/careproject/Publications/reports/.

Naudeau, S. et al. (2011), "Investing in Young Children An Early Childhood Development Guide for Policy Dialogue and Project Preparation", <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/2525 (</u> accessed on 02 February 2018).	[22]
NICHD Early Child Care Research Network (1996), "Characteristics of infant child care: Factors contributing to positive caregiving", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 11, pp. 269-306, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(96)90009-5</u> .	[57]
NICHD Early Child Care Research Network (2002), "Child-care structure → process → outcome: Direct and indirect effects of child-care quality on young children's development", <i>Psychological Science</i> , Vol. 13/3, pp. 199-206, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.00438</u> .	[62]
OECD (2001), <i>Starting Strong: Early Childhood Education and Care</i> , Starting Strong, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264192829-en</u> .	[2]
OECD (2006), <i>Starting Strong II: Early Childhood Education and Care</i> , Starting Strong, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264035461-en</u> .	[3]
OECD (2006), Where Immigrant Students Succeed: A Comparative Review of Performance and Engagement in PISA 2003, PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264023611-en</u> .	[24]
OECD (2011), <i>Starting Strong III: A Quality Toolbox for Early Childhood Education and Care</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264123564-en</u> .	[4]
OECD (2014), New Insights from TALIS 2013: Teaching and Learning in Primary and Upper Secondary Education, TALIS, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264226319-en</u> .	[11]
OECD (2015), <i>Starting Strong IV: Monitoring Quality in Early Childhood Education and Care</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264233515-en</u> .	[5]
OECD (2016), <i>Education at a Glance 2016: OECD Indicators</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/eag-2016-en</u> .	[20]
OECD (2016), <i>Netherlands 2016: Foundations for the Future</i> , Reviews of National Policies for Education, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264257658-en</u> .	[26]
OECD (2017a), Starting Strong 2017: Key OECD Indicators on Early Childhood Education and Care, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264276116-3-en</u> .	[10]
OECD (2017b), Starting Strong V: Transitions from Early Childhood Education and Care to Primary Education, Starting Strong, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264276253-en</u> .	[6]
OECD (2017c), OECD Family Database, <u>http://www.oecd.org/els/family/database.htm</u> (accessed on 2 October 2017).	[19]

OECD (2017e), <i>PISA online education database</i> , <u>http://www.oecd.org/pisa/data</u> (accessed on 2 October 2017).	[32]
Pakarinen, E. et al. (2010), "Classroom organization and teacher stress predict learning motivation in kindergarten children", <i>European Journal of Psychology of Education</i> , Vol. 25/3, pp. 281-300, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10212-010-0025-6</u> .	[92]
Paulsell, D. et al. (2008), <i>Better beginnings: The state of early learning and kindergarten readiness in East Yakima and White Center</i> , Mathematica Policy Research, Princeton, NJ.	[83]
Peisner-Feinberg, E. et al. (2000), <i>Family child care in North Carolina</i> , University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Frank Porter Graham Child Development Center, Chapel Hill, NC.	[82]
Pianta, R. (2001), STRS Student-teacher Relationship Scale: Professional Manual, Psychological Assessment Resources, Odessa, FL.	[59]
Pianta, R. et al. (2005), "Features of Pre-Kindergarten programs, classrooms, and teachers: Do they predict observed classroom quality and child-teacher interactions?", <i>Applied Developmental Science</i> , Vol. 9/3, pp. 144-159.	[31]
Pianta, R., K. La Paro and B. Hamre (2008), <i>Classroom Assessment Scoring System</i> (CLASS) manual, Pre-K, Paul H. Brookes Publishing, Baltimore, MD.	[56]
Porter, T. et al. (2010b), <i>Supporting quality in home-based child care: A compendium of 23 initiatives</i> , Mathematica Policy Research, Washington, DC.	[75]
Rimm-Kaufman, S. and S. Wanless (2012), "An ecological perspective to understanding the early development of self-regulatory skills, social skills, and achievement", in Pianta, R. et al. (eds.), <i>The Handbook of early education</i> , Guilford Publishers, New York, NY.	[87]
Sammons, P. et al. (2008), <i>Children's Cognitive Attainment and Progress in English</i> <i>Primary Schools During Key Stage 2: Investigating the potential continuing influences</i> <i>of pre-school education</i> , VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-531-91452-7_12</u> .	[12]
Scottish Government (2016), "Growing up in Scotland", <u>http://hub.careinspectorate.com/media/355563/language-development-and-enjoyment-of-reading-impacts-of-early-parent-child-activities-in-two-growing-up-in-scotland-cohorts.pdf</u> (accessed on 15 February 2018).	[45]
Shivers, E. (2006), "A closer look at kith and kin care: Exploring variability of quality within family, friend and neighbor care", <i>Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology</i> , Vol. 27/5, pp. 411-426, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2006.06.007</u> .	[84]
Slot, P. et al. (2015), "Associations between structural quality aspects and process quality in Dutch early childhood education and care settings", <i>Early Childhood Research</i> <i>Quarterly</i> , Vol. 33, pp. 64-76, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2015.06.001</u> .	[40]

Slot, P. (2017), <i>Literature review on Early Childhood Education and Care quality:</i> <i>Relations between structural characteristics at different levels and process quality,</i> Internal document, OECD, Paris.	[16]
Slot, P. et al. (2017a), "Measurement properties of the CLASS Toddler in ECEC in the Netherlands", <i>Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology</i> , Vol. 48, pp. 79-91, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2016.11.008</u> .	[36]
Slot, P. et al. (2017b), <i>Structural and Process Quality of Danish Preschools: Direct and Indirect Associations with Children's Growth in Language and Pre-Literacy Skills</i> , Revision submitted for publication.	[63]
Slot, P. et al. (2017c), <i>Kwaliteit van de Nederlandse kinderdagopvang, peuteropvang, buitenschoolse opvang en gastouderopvang. Meting 2017 (Quality of the Dutch child day care, toddler care, after-school care and home-based care. Measurement 2017),</i> Landelijke Kwaliteitsmonitor Kinderopvang (National Child Care Quality Monitor), <u>http://www.monitorlkk.nl</u> .	[72]
Smith, M., D. Dickinson and A. Sangeorge (2002), <i>Early literacy and language classroom observation scale (ELLCO)</i> , Paul H. Brookes Publication Co, Baltimore, MD.	[58]
Stewart, K. and J. Waldfogel (2017), "Closing Gaps Early: The role of early years policy in promoting social mobility in England", <u>https://www.suttontrust.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Closing-Gaps-Early_FINAL.pdf</u> (accessed on 02 February 2018).	[28]
Susman-Stillman, A. and P. Banghart (2011), <i>Quality in Family, Friend, and Nighbor Child Care Settings</i> , Child Care & Early Education Reserach Connections, New York, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7916/D8R49ZR3</u> .	[85]
Sylva, K., I. Siraj-Blatchford and B. Taggart (2003), <i>Assessing quality in the early years:</i> <i>Early Childhood Environmental Rating Scale Extension (ECERS-E) four curricular</i> <i>subscales</i> , Trentham Books, London.	[46]
Sylva, K., I. Siraj and B. Taggart (2003), <i>Assessing quality in the early years : early childhood environment rating scale : extension (ECERS-E), four curricular subscales,</i> Trentham Books.	[54]
Sylva, K. et al. (2004), The Effective Provision of Pre-school Education (EPPE) project: Final Report - A longitudinal study funded by the DfES 1997-2004, Institute of Education, University of London/ Department for Education and Skills/ Sure Start, London.	[13]
Sylva, K. et al. (2006), "Capturing quality in early childhood through environmental scales", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 21/1, pp. 76-92, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2006.01.003</u> .	[37]
Thomason, A. and K. La Paro (2009), "Measuring the quality of teacher–child interactions in toddler child care", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 20, pp. 285-304,	[38]

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409280902773351.

van Voorhis, F. et al. (2013), "The Impact of Family Involvement on the Education of Children Ages 3 to 8: A Focus on Literacy and Math Achievement Outcomes and Social-Emotional Skills - Executive Summary", <u>https://www.mdrc.org/sites/default/files/The_Impact_of_Family_Imvolvement_ES.pdf</u> (accessed on 15 February 2018).	[47]
Vandell, D. et al. (2010), "Do effects of early child care extend to age 15 years? Results from the NICHD study of early child care and youth development", <i>Child Development</i> , Vol. 81/3, pp. 737-756, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01431.x</u> .	[60]
Vandenbroeck, M. et al. (2018), <i>Quality in family child care providers: A study of variations in process quality of home-based childcare</i> , Submitted for publication in European Early Childhood Education Journal.	[29]
Vargas-Barón, E. (2015), "Policies on early childhood care and education: their evolution and some impacts: Background paper prepared for the Education for all global monitoring report 2015", <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0023/002324/232459e.pdf</u> .	[18]
Vermeer, H. et al. (2016), "Quality of child care using the environmental rating scales: A meta-analysis of international studies", <i>International Journal of Early Childhood</i> , Vol. 48/1, pp. 33-60, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s13158-015-0154-9</u> .	[50]
Vogel, C. et al. (2015a), <i>Toddlers in early Head Start: A portrait of 2-years-olds, their families, and the program serving them</i> , Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, DC.	[66]
Vogel, C. et al. (2015b), <i>Toddlers in early Head Start: A portrait of 3-years-olds, their families, and the program serving them</i> , Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, DC.	[67]
von Suchodoletz, A. et al. (2017), "Associations among quality indicators in early childhood education and care (ECEC) and relations with child development and learning: A meta-analysis", Internal document, OECD, Paris.	[17]
Yoshikawa, H. and S. Kabay (2015), <i>The Evidence Base on Early Childhood Care and Education in Global Contexts</i> , UNESCO, Paris, <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0023/002324/232456e.pdf</u> .	[9]
Zachrisson, H. et al. (2013), "Little evidence that time in child care causes externalizing problems during early childhood in Norway", <i>Child Development</i> , Vol. 84/4, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12040</u> .	[30]

Chapter 2. Standards and governance for quality early childhood education and care

Aspects of governance and standards are among the most commonly used regulations for improving early childhood education and care (ECEC) quality. This chapter provides an overview of the evidence linking structural mechanisms in standards and governance to staff-child interactions, by integrating the evidence for centres for children aged 3 to 5, and for children aged 0 to 2, including family daycare settings. Structural characteristics, such as ratio of children to staff, group sizes or physical location of the centre, affect the environment for staff and children, and thereby influence staff-child relationships established in ECEC settings and the support to children's development. Other aspects of governance, such as funding and classroom composition are also likely to play a role. The evidence on the benefits of longer hours of provision in general and licensing in family daycare remains largely inconclusive.

Introduction

Policy makers use many structural indicators to determine the quality of early childhood education and care (ECEC) centres, including aspects of governance and standards. Structural aspects, such as the ratio of children to adults, group sizes, funding structure of the organisation (public vs. private) or physical location of the centre (urban vs. rural, in a school or in a daycare centre), are likely to affect the working conditions for staff, and therefore influence the relationships established in ECEC settings between staff and children.

Child-staff ratios and group size are the most commonly studied aspects, and also the most commonly used regulations for improving ECEC quality. Based on the existing evidence from the schooling sector, as well as developmental and educational theory highlighting the importance of individualised pedagogy, particularly for the youngest children, many countries have implemented policies to reduce group size in early childhood development programmes (ISCED 01), and a trend is observed of smaller child-staff ratios in OECD countries in ISCED 01, compared to pre-primary education (ISCED 02) (see Figure 2.1) (OECD, 2017a_[10]).



Staff include the teaching staff as well as teaching assistants.

Figure 2.1. Child-staff ratios in early childhood education and care (ISCED 0) (2015).

Notes: 1. Year of reference is 2014. 2. Including early childhood development (ISCED 01). Countries are ranked in descending order of child-staff ratios in pre-primary education, including early childhood development (ISCED 01). Data for Belgium for ISCED 02 exclude students and teachers from the Germanspeaking Community. See Education at a Glance 2017 Annex 3 for further notes (www.oecd.org/education/education-at-a-glance-19991487.htm). Data for the Flemish Community of Belgium were available for ISCED 01 in 2015. However, due to the recent policy transition, no data were reported at this stage. *Source*: (OECD, 2017d_[95]).

Countries organise the funding structure for ECEC in different ways. Some countries have a public sector that provides universal access from a certain age, such as the European Nordic countries; whereas in other countries, the private sector chiefly runs ECEC settings, or there is a mix of the two. Private settings usually are more common for the youngest children. In this report, settings were considered public if they received funding from different public agencies at the state, city or country level.

The type of programme children attend determines the number of hours they spend in ECEC. Full-day programmes tend to be five to six hours a day, five days a week, whereas part-day programmes tend to involve a reduced number of hours and/or days. Full-day programmes are generally assumed to be better for children's development and learning because longer days give staff the opportunity to develop a more complete and multifaceted programme, and children can be more involved in planning of activities as well as in more process-oriented activities. A full-day programme during the last year of ECEC can ease the transition to primary school pedagogically, i.e. by allowing a more relaxed pace in ECEC and adequate time to prepare for the transition (Winters, Saylor and Phillips, 2003_[96]). It is also assumed that full-day programmes are particularly beneficial for economically disadvantaged children, as has been observed, for example, in Ontario (Zvoch, 2009_[97]).

Moreover, countries adopt different policies in addressing educational inequalities. Some countries apply targeted measures, specifically seeking to enrol children from disadvantaged backgrounds; whereas others choose to expand universal provision for all children, or both. Consequently, selection effects in the usage of provisions exist, leading to differences in the composition of class- and playrooms, as well as potential differences in quality (Freitas, Shelton and Tudge, 2008_[98]; Slot, Lerkkanen and Leseman, 2015_[99]).

Summary of findings

On the topic of ECEC settings' quality standards and governance, the majority of the evidence summarised demonstrated that smaller ratios and group sizes were associated with positive staff-child relationships across all types of centres (i.e. the evidence for family daycare settings is less clear than for centre-based). Despite the somewhat consistent links between ratios and group sizes and staff-child interactions, these structural indicators do not seem to be directly linked to child development and learning. The review of the literature indicated a mixed pattern of associations both across and within countries, and the meta-analysis conducted for this report demonstrated that there was no relationship between child-staff ratios and emerging academic skills, i.e. early literacy and early numeracy.

Other mechanisms, such as funding of ECEC settings, the physical location of the centre and intensity of daily services, were based on fewer studies, and returned less consistent results. Public centres for children between 3 and 6 seemed to provide better staff-child interactions than private centres; however, associations varied across countries. Moreover, although not-for-profit centres for children under 3 scored higher on structural indicators, such as health, safety and furnishings, when compared to for-profit centres, these structural differences appeared to have no implications for staff-child interactions.

The physical location of a preschool might also be related to process quality. The literature review indicated that higher process quality was observed in preschools located in schools than in preschools situated outside school grounds or in independently functioning centres. Although the evidence for this mechanism is consistent and from multiple countries, the number of studies is limited. Moreover, the opposite pattern was also observed for centres for children under 3.

The meta-analysis conducted for this report demonstrated that intensity of daily service is not consistently related to the quality of staff-child interactions. The association varied within and across countries, and depended on how the interactions between staff and children were observed and documented in the class- or playroom.

In terms of group composition, children in class- or playrooms with a larger percentage of immigrant or bilingual children seemed to experience a lower quality of staff-child interactions, particularly for centres for children 3 to 5 years old, and family daycare settings. Classroom composition was shown to affect children's development as well, i.e. children from disadvantaged backgrounds attending preschools, with a larger percentage of other children with similarly disadvantaged backgrounds, presented lower language and literacy skills.

Finally, the literature shows little and inconsistent empirical evidence supporting the added value of licensing and regulations in determining the quality of staff-child interactions in family day care. The evidence available was also limited to the US. Other aspects of standards and governance seem to be under-researched for family daycare.

This chapter provides an overview of the evidence linking structural mechanisms in standards and governance to staff-child interactions, as well as child development, learning and well-being. To build a solid knowledge base on this theme, it draws on a literature review and meta-analysis that update conceptual knowledge and the empirical evidence base for the strength of these associations, while keeping a cross-national focus. The chapter first summarises these two pieces of research, to discuss the importance of these mechanisms for process quality in ECEC. One mechanism is examined at a time, and integrates the evidence for centres for children aged 3 to 5, centres for children under the age of 3, and finally family daycare settings.

What does research tell us about the importance of quality standards and governance for quality staff-child interactions in early childhood education and care?

Smaller ratios and group sizes support positive staff-child relationships in centres for children of 3 to 6 in most studies

The majority of studies generally indicated that in centres for children aged 3 to 5, smaller group sizes and child-staff ratios were related to better staff-child interactions. This was confirmed by the meta-analysis conducted for this report. However, some studies reported no relationship between these governance indicators and process quality, particularly for overall group size. Considerable variation in reported group sizes and child-staff ratios in the summarised studies may partially account for the variation in results (see Table 2.1).

Country/Region	Study	Child-staff ratio	Group size
US	Burchinal et al, 2002	53% compliance with 7:1 for preschool	
China	Hu et al (2016)	18	
US	Mashburn et al, 2008, 2009	7	18
US	Philips et al., 2000	93% compliance with 10:1 regulation in MA, 83% compliance with 10:1 regulation in VI, 87% compliance with 15:1 regulation in GA	
US	Phillipsen et al, 1997	Per state (non-profit programs / for-profit): California: 7 / 9 Colorado: 7 / 7 Connecticut: 6 / 7 North Carolina: 9 / 11	Per state: (non-profit programs / for-profit): California: 15 / 16 Colorado: 13 / 16 Connecticut: 13 / 13 North Carolina: 14 / 15
US	Pianta et al., 2005	7	
Denmark	Slot et al., 2017b	8 or less: 16% of children 9-10: 37% of children 11-12: 33% of children 13-14: 8% of children 15 or more: 6.5% of children	
Spain	Sandstrom, 2012	20	25
Europe and North America	Vermeer et al., 2016	8.6	15
Spain and Germany	Cryer et al., 1999		24 (Spain) 20 (Germany)
Germany	Kuger et al (2016)	13	
Netherlands	Vermeer et al (2010):	6	
Spain	Vermeer et al (2010):	15	
US	Dennis et al (2013)	7	
US	Howes et al (2008)	9	
US	Hatfield et al (2013)	7	
US	Howes et al, (2008)	9	18
US	Blau, 1999		6
US	Burchinal et al, 2011	16	
US	Coley et al., 2016	6	
US	Bowne et al., 2017	9	17

Table 2.1. Diversity in child-staff ratios and group sizes in reported studies for centres for children aged 3 to 5.

Note: Averages of ratios and group sizes in each study were rounded up to the unit level. In (Philips et al., $2000_{[100]}$) only the following cities participated in the study: Boston (Massachusetts, MA), Virginia and Atlanta (Georgia, GA). In (Philipsen et al., $1997_{[101]}$) only specific cities or areas were part of the study the four states (California, Colorado, Connecticut, and North Carolina). (Vermeer et al., $2016_{[50]}$) was a meta-analysis of 17 studies. (Bowne et al., $2017_{[102]}$) was a meta-analysis of 38 rigorous program evaluation studies.

In examining studies from individual countries, a smaller number of children per ECEC staff and a smaller number of children overall seem to be associated with more responsive, warm and positive staff-child relations in the United States (Burchinal et al., $2002_{[103]}$)., as well as higher overall process quality in the United States, China and Portugal (Burchinal et al., $2002_{[103]}$; Hu et al., $2016a_{[104]}$; Mashburn et al., $2008_{[44]}$; Philips et al., $2000_{[100]}$; Phillipsen et al., $1997_{[101]}$). Other studies have found no evidence of an association between child -staff ratio and process quality in countries such as Denmark, Spain and the US (Pianta et al., $2005_{[31]}$; Sandstrom, $2012_{[105]}$; Slot et al., $2017b_{[63]}$) or group size and process quality in Denmark (Sandstrom, $2012_{[105]}$).

A previous meta-analysis of 17 studies from Europe and North America showed similar results, with a prevalence of a positive association between child-staff ratio and process quality generally indicating that fewer children per caregiver was associated with higher quality. However, there was no significant relation between group size and process quality (as measured with the Environment Rating Scale, or ERS (Vermeer et al., $2016_{[50]}$). The same study also reported finding no significant differences in the mean group size and child-staff ratio across the group of countries. The mean group size across countries was around 15, with a range of 9.1 to 30.0, and the child-staff ratio was on average 8.60, with a range of 3.1 to 25.0.

A cross-country comparison study also examined the same associations and revealed inconsistent patterns across countries, with positive relations of small group sizes and a favourable ratio to process quality in some countries, but not in others (Cryer et al., 1999_[106]) The findings revealed that a smaller child-to-teacher ratio was related to higher process quality in Germany and the US, but not in Portugal and Spain. In addition, a negative relation was found between group size and overall process quality for Spain, but, remarkably, a positive relation was found for Germany. Note that the average group size in Spain was much larger and showed stronger variation than in Germany (with a mean group size of 23.64 and a standard deviation of 6.38 and a mean of 20.42 and standard deviation of 5.48 respectively), which may explain these contradictory results.

The meta-analysis conducted for this report demonstrated that the quality of staff-child interactions was significantly higher in groups with a lower number of children per ECEC staff (see Figure 2.2).

This was true for studies looking at an overall interactions index between the ECEC staff and the group, as well as an aggregated score of staff-child interactions, including staff emotional, instructional and organisation interactions with the children (see Box 2.1). It is also important to note that in the meta-analysis conducted for this report, the studies summarised referred only to the interactions between the lead teacher and the children, and not between children and all adults in the play- or classroom.





Panel A. Using a global score of staff-child interactions.

Panel B. Based on a combined score of staff emotional, instructional, and organisational staff-child interactions.



Note: Effect sizes are depicted as either blue squares for individual studies or grey diamonds for combined results, each with black lines spanning the lower limit and the upper limit of the 95% confidence interval for each estimated effect. Individual studies, labelled here with the information for country of study, author, and the year of study publication, refer to original studies that provided effect size measures entering into each meta-analysis. These measures are then combined into a summary effect size, which is the average association between two variables. See Box 2.1 for more details on how to interpret the charts. *Source:* (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$).

Box 2.1. Interpreting the meta-analysis charts

The meta-analysis charts report associations in the form of standardised effect sizes. For the current analysis, effect size is defined as the degree and direction of association, or correlation, between two variables (e.g. between indicators of structural and process quality, and between indicators of structural/process quality and child development and learning).

Effect sizes reported are standardised, such that a measure ranges between -1 to 1. An effect size measure closer to 0 means little association between the two variables represented in the chart, while an effect size closer to either -1 or 1 (i.e. larger absolute value) would indicate stronger association between the variables. An effect size of negative value would mean that an increase in the measure of one variable is associated with a decrease in the measure of the other variable, while an effect size of positive value would mean that both variables increase or decrease in same direction.

Depending on which statistical assumption underlies the process of averaging, a meta-analysis can produce either Combined Result (based on a "fixed-effect model") or Strict Combined Result (based on a "random-effects model"). The main difference between the two in the present meta-analysis is that the former gives larger weighting to the individual studies based on larger sample size.

Because of the diversity of measures used in research to assess process quality, meta-analysis results are examined in terms of three indicators:

- Global score of staff-child interactions: an overall index of the interactions between the ECEC staff and the group, irrespective of the type or subdomains of interaction, used when the studies only reported one single score to describe the quality of interactions;
- Combined score of staff-child interactions: an aggregate score of staffchild interactions, including the staff's positive emotional, instructional, and organisation interactions with children, generally based on a set of domain-specific scores reported in the studies.
- Developmental and educational activities: an aggregate score of the exposure and/or quality of developmental and educational activities provided by staff.

For child data, meta-analysis results are examined in terms of two indicators:

- Emerging academic skills: An aggregate score of early numeracy and literacy skills.
- Combined score of behavioural and social-emotional indicators: an aggregate score of social and behavioural skills, including behaviour regulation, executive function, behavioural problems, and social competence.

Child-staff ratios and group size do not appear to be consistently linked to child development and learning

Despite the largely consistent links between ratios and group sizes and process quality, these structural indicators do not seem to be consistently linked to child development and learning. A review of the literature indicates a mixed pattern of associations both across and within countries.

Based on a large-scale survey study conducted in the United States, Blau (1999_[107]) found that smaller group size in preschool was related to better vocabulary skills for children across preschool and elementary school, and higher reading skills across elementary school from age 5 years onwards. The average group size was six and pertained to different centre-based and home-based care arrangements. Another US study only reported a significant negative association between group size and literacy skills for groups larger than 20 children, but no associations were found for language and cognitive skills (Mashburn et al., $2008_{[44]}$). Similar patterns were found in in Germany and other US studies, demonstrating that smaller group size in preschool was related to better literacy or vocabulary skills (Ebert et al., $2013_{[108]}$; Mashburn et al., $2008_{[44]}$).

However, other US studies and a cross-national study have shown that either group size and/or child-staff ratio were not related to children's language and literacy skills (Howes et al., $2008_{[34]}$; Mashburn et al., $2008_{[44]}$; Mashburn et al., $2009_{[109]}$; Montie, Xiang and Schweinhart, $2006_{[110]}$). The two US studies reported an average child-staff ratio ranging from 7 to 8, and an average group size of 18. The cross-national study reported an average group size of 20 children, and a range from 4 to 49 children.

The meta-analysis conducted for this report indicated little to no relationship between child-staff ratios and emerging academic skills (i.e. early literacy and early numeracy; see Figure 2.3. However, since the findings are based on only two US studies, this association is yet to be confirmed by more research from different countries.

Figure 2.3. No consistent evidence of association between child-staff ratios and emerging academic skills



Findings based exclusively on studies from the United States

Note: Effect sizes are depicted as either blue squares for individual studies or grey diamonds for combined results, each with black lines spanning the lower limit and the upper limit of the 95% confidence interval for each estimated effect. Individual studies, labelled here with the information for country of study, author, and the year of study publication, refer to original studies that provided effect size measures entering into each meta-analysis. These measures are then combined into a summary effect size, which is the average association between two variables. See Box 2.1 for more details on how to interpret the charts. *Source:* (von Suchodoletz et al., 2017_[17]).

The meta-analysis also demonstrated that these associations did not vary according to the geographical location of the studies included, defined as from the United States as

compared to studies from outside the United States (i.e. combined across all other countries).

A recent meta-analysis looking at all US ECEC programme evaluation studies for centres for 3- to 6-year-olds, published between 1960 and 2007, presented a potential explanation for these mixed results; namely that rather than assuming a continuous increase or decrease of skills per additional child in the group or child-per-staff, the relations between group size and child -staff ratios with children's cognitive development and achievement are nonlinear (Bowne et al., $2017_{[102]}$). In summary, ECEC structural conditions for maximum child development and learning improved as ratios and group sizes approached an optimum of 7.5 children to 1 adult and a maximum group size of 15 children, and then decreased. The results were less clear for children's socio-emotional outcomes, due to the small sample size.

A possible reason for these inconsistent findings could be that structural characteristics within governance are *indirectly* related to child development and learning, influencing child development through process quality. A large-scale US study (NICHD Early Child Care Research Network, $2002_{[62]}$) found evidence of these indirect paths, namely that child-staff ratios affected staff-child interactions, which in turn affected children's cognitive development. These indirect effects were smaller than the direct effects of staff-child interactions, particularly when compared with aspects of emotionally supportive staff-child interactions on child development, well-being and learning reported in the same study, which were larger. More evidence is necessary from cross-national studies to confirm these patterns.

Smaller ratios and group sizes also matter for positive staff-child relationships for younger children in centres and family day care, but fewer studies have been conducted

Concerning evidence related to centres for children under the age of 3, most studies showed that a smaller group size and fewer children per staff member were related to higher-quality staff-child interactions, although there were a few studies showing null associations.

Smaller group size and child-staff ratios were related to better staff-child interactions in the Flemish Community in Belgium, the Netherlands, in Portugal and the US (Barros and Aguiar, $2010_{[111]}$; Barros et al., $2016_{[39]}$; Deynoot-Schaub and Riksen-Walraven, $2005_{[112]}$; Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$; Jamison et al., $2014_{[65]}$; Thomason and La Paro, $2009_{[38]}$; Phillipsen et al., $1997_{[101]}$). This particularly concerned emotionally supportive interactions with children.

However, two US studies and one Portuguese study found no associations between group size and child-staff ratios with observed classroom quality (Pessanha, Aguiar and Bairrão, $2007_{[113]}$; Vogel et al., $2015a_{[66]}$; Vogel et al., $2015b_{[67]}$). Both US studies concerned settings that were part of the targeted Early Head Start programme, with an average group size of 6 children (well within the maximum group size of 8 children) and an average child-staff ratio of 2.7 (which was also within the state regulation of 4 children).

One Dutch study found no associations between observed group size and staff-child interactions, whereas child-staff ratio was related to staff-child interactions (Slot et al., $2017b_{[63]}$). A smaller ratio was associated with higher *emotional* support and support for children's development and learning, with a slightly stronger effect for the latter (Slot

et al., $2017b_{[63]}$). In this study, the average group size was 10, ranging from 1 to 25, and the observed child-staff ratio was 5, ranging from 0 to 16.

Another Dutch study reported effects of both group size and child-staff ratio in staff-child interactions. In an experimental study in the Netherlands, two structured play situations were observed in which the number of children was manipulated (de Schipper, Riksen-Walraven and Geurts, $2006_{[114]}$). The quality of interactions was higher in the play situation with three children compared to the one with five children. Moreover, the effect of smaller ratios was stronger for younger children. In this study, children's age showed large variation and ranged from 10 months up to almost 4 years of age.

Together, the findings seem to more strongly support a smaller child-staff ratio, rather than just a smaller group size. However, it is important to note that the partially inconsistent findings of these two studies may be a function of different group sizes and ratios (see Table 2.2), but also methodology (i.e. the difference between an observational and experimental study).

	Study	Children-to-staff ratio	Group size
Portugal	Barros and Aguiar, 2010	7	13
Portugal	Barros et al., 2016	3	5
Netherlands	Deynoot-Schaub and Riksen-Walraven, 2005	4	9
Flemish Community in Belgium	Hulpia et al., 2016	Infants: 2-13 Toddlers: 1-14	Infants: 2-20 Toddlers: 1-23
US	Jamison et al., 2014	2.5	6
US	Thomason and La Paro, 2009	83% met recommendation 6:1 for toddler child care	90% met recommendation 12 for toddler child care
US	Phillipsen et al, 1997	Per state (non-profit programs / for-profit): California: 4 / 3 Colorado: 4 / 4 Connecticut: 3 / 3 North Carolina: 5 / 6	Per state (non-profit programs / for-profit): California: m / 9 Colorado: 6 / 7 Connecticut: 8 / 10 North Carolina: 7 / 9
Portugal	Pessanha, Aguiar and Bairrão, 2007	7	16
US	Vogel et al. 2015a, 2015b	3	6
Netherlands	Slot et al., 2017b	5	10
Netherlands	de Schipper, Riksen- Walraven and Geurts, 2006	3 and 5	3 and 5
Basque region in Spain and the Netherlands	Vermeer et al., 2010	Basque region: 15 Netherlands: 6	Basque region: 15 Netherlands: 12
US	NICHD Early Child Care Research Network, 2000	15 Months: 3 24 Months: 3 36 Months: 5	15 Months: 4 24 Months: 5 36 Months: 7

Table 2.2. Diversity in child-staff ratios and group sizes in reported studies for centres for
children aged 0 to 2.

Note: Averages of ratios and group sizes in each study were rounded up to the unit level. In (Phillipsen et al., 1997_[101]) only specific cities or areas were part of the study the four states (California, Colorado, Connecticut, and North Carolina). In (de Schipper, Riksen-Walraven and Geurts, 2006_[114]), authors manipulated child-staff ratios and group sizes experimentally.

A comparison between the Basque region in Spain and the Netherlands showed that group size was negatively related to staff-child interactions in the Basque region, but unrelated to interactions in the Netherlands (Vermeer et al., $2010_{[115]}$). The average group size in the Basque region was significantly higher, with 15 compared to 12 in the Netherlands, with comparatively larger child-staff ratios (15 and 6 respectively for the Basque region and the Netherlands), which could explain these differences.

The research examining the relations of child-staff ratio with staff-child interactions in family daycare settings is mixed and only pertains to one to three studies. A possible explanation could be that considering the overall small group size in family daycare, other mechanisms are more salient in providing high-quality care. However, it is important to note that there is considerable variation across studies and countries (see Table 2.3). A cross-national comparison of the family daycare settings (Boogaard, Bollen and Dikkers, 2014_[78]). demonstrated considerable variation in regulated group sizes in family daycare settings across the Flemish Community of Belgium (up to 8 children), the United Kingdom and the Netherlands (6), Denmark, Germany and Switzerland (5), and France (2 to 4 children). Studies from the United States reported an average group size of 6 children (Burchinal, Howes and Kontos, 2002_[76]).

 Table 2.3. Diversity in child-staff ratios and group sizes in reported studies for family daycare settings.

Country	Study	Child-staff ratio	Group size
US	Colwell et al., 2013	For 2-year- olds: 3 For 4-year- olds: 6	For 2-year-olds: 4 For 4-year-olds: 15
US	Burchinal, Howes and Kontos, 2002	-	6
Flemish Comm. (Belgium)	Hulpia et al., 2016	5	5

Note: Averages of ratios and group sizes in each study were rounded up to the unit level.

One study in the United States showed that group size for family daycare for children aged 2 and 4 was negatively related to staff-child interactions, with weak associations (Colwell et al., $2013_{[116]}$), but no relations were found for child-staff ratio. Also, another US study for family daycare for children aged 2 to 5 revealed no relations of child-staff ratio with process quality, concerning both overall environmental process quality and sensitive caregiving (Burchinal, Howes and Kontos, $2002_{[76]}$).

A study from the Flemish Community in Belgium also found negative relations between group size and the overall environmental quality of the provision with small-to-medium sized associations (Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$). This study reported no associations between group size and the quality of interactions for infants and toddlers based on staff-child interactions (as measured by the CLASS), but there were positive relations between child-staff ratio and quality of interactions for toddlers (Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$). The average group size in home-based care was 5, ranging from 1 to 10, while the statutory maximum group size is 8 (i.e. only two groups had 10 children; (Daems et al., $2016_{[117]}$). The mean child-staff ratio was 5, ranging from 1 to 10 children.

The quality of the relationships in centres seems to differ across private and public providers, in tandem with other structural characteristics

The literature review demonstrated that public centres for children between 3 and 6 seem to provide higher process quality (as measured with the ECERS) than private settings, in countries such as China, Portugal, and the US (Coley et al., $2016_{[77]}$; Hu et al., $2016a_{[104]}$; Slot, Lerkkanen and Leseman, $2015_{[99]}$). However, in Spain, no significant differences were found between public or private preschools (Sandstrom, $2012_{[105]}$).

In US centres for children under the age of 3, non-profit provision scored higher on a number of quality features, including health, safety and furnishings and aspects related to provisions for staff, when compared to for-profit centres (King et al., $2016_{[74]}$) However, in comparison to what was found for centres for children 3 to 6 years old, these structural differences had no implication for staff-child interactions in the United States or Portugal centres for under 3s (Barros and Aguiar, $2010_{[111]}$; King et al., $2016_{[74]}$).

A possible reason for these inconsistent findings could be the interrelatedness of these structural features with other features, such as staff education or monitoring provisions. For instance, in the United States, staff working in the public sector were on average more highly educated (Coley et al., $2016_{[77]}$; Fuligni et al., $2009_{[79]}$) and were also subject to less monitoring (Fuligni et al., $2009_{[79]}$) than staff in private settings. In China, staff in public settings tended to be more highly educated and earned higher salaries (Hu et al., $2016a_{[104]}$).¹ In Portugal, quality was higher in classrooms with higher, unfavourable child-staff ratios, and lower with more favourable ratios, but only in the public sector (Slot, Lerkkanen and Leseman, $2015_{[99]}$). For the private sector, no differences in process staff-child interactions were found related to the ratio. This seems to point to a compensating factor of working in the public sector. A possible explanation suggested by the authors was that the attractive working conditions in the public sector attracted more motivated staff.

The physical location of centres may influence staff practices

The physical location of a preschool might be related to better staff-child interactions. The literature review indicated that higher-quality staff-child interactions were observed in preschools located in schools than in preschools situated outside the school grounds or in independently functioning centres. Although the evidence for this mechanism is consistent and from multiple countries, the number of studies is limited.

This pattern was observed in the United States and Finland in centres for children 3 to 6, where higher-quality staff-child interactions were found for preschools located in schools (Pianta et al., $2005_{[31]}$; Slot, Lerkkanen and Leseman, $2015_{[99]}$). Staff working in classrooms situated within elementary schools are likely to be more exposed to the curriculum, methods and culture of elementary school, through contact and perhaps collaboration with elementary school staff. This might result in care and education practices with a stronger educational orientation, i.e. practices that more strongly resemble those of elementary schools, than independently operated ECEC centres. For example, research has shown that ECEC classrooms located in schools provide less free play and more whole group instruction (Pianta et al., $2005_{[31]}$) Staff working in ECEC centres that are part of a school may differ on other aspects as well. For instance, (Clifford et al., $2005_{[118]}$) showed that staff working in classrooms located in schools had higher education levels and were paid more compared to staff working in independently run centres.

Higher-quality staff-child interactions were also observed in centres located in urban settings (as opposed to rural settings) for children 3 to 6, but the pattern was the opposite for centres offering services for children under 3. For example, in Portugal, staff working in non-urban centres showed more positive and sensitive interactions with children than staff working in urban centres (Barros et al., $2016_{[39]}$). The authors hypothesised that staff working in rural or suburban areas might have higher life satisfaction and lower levels of stress, which might have resulted in better staff-child interactions. However, there is some evidence suggesting a lower quality of ECEC for children 3 to 6 in rural areas in China and the US (Hu et al., $2016a_{[104]}$; Maher, Frestedt and Grace, $2008_{[119]}$).

It is unclear whether the intensity of daily service matters for staff-child interactions

The meta-analysis conducted for this report demonstrated that the quality of staff-child interactions was inconsistently related to the intensity of daily service, and the association between whether the centre provided full-time or part-time service and staff-child interactions varied depending on how the interactions between staff and children were observed and documented. When a global score of staff-child interactions was used, full-day programmes were associated with lower average quality scores, when compared with half-day programmes. In contrast, when an aggregated score of staff emotional, instructional, and organisation interactions was used, full-day programmes were associated with higher-quality staff-child interactions than half-day programmes. This inconsistency is reflected in Figure 2.4. Further to the inconsistency of the patterns, studies from the same country included in this meta-analysis reflected opposite associations for two countries (Australia and the United States, see Figure 2.4).

With regard to centres for children under the age of 3, evidence from the Netherlands based on observations in 276 classrooms in 2011 indicated that there appeared to be no differences in the emotional support provided by staff between full-time daycare centres and half-time preschool provisions, but half-time preschools scored higher in supporting children's development and learning (Slot et al., $2017b_{[63]}$; $2017c_{[72]}$). These differences may be based on other existing regulations. For example, in the Netherlands, preschools are part of a targeted educational policy to combat early disparities in disadvantaged children, and therefore may be more likely to adopt a stronger educational orientation than day care centres. Moreover, full-day daycare settings offer services to children from birth in mixed age groups of infants and toddlers, whereas preschools enrol 2- and 3-year-old children in more homogeneous groups.



Figure 2.4. Mixed associations between intensity of daily service and staff-child interactions.

Panel A. Using a global score of staff-child interactions.

Panel B. Based on a combined score of staff emotional, instructional, and organisational staff-child interactions.



Note: Effect sizes are depicted as either blue squares for individual studies or grey diamonds for combined results, each with black lines spanning the lower limit and the upper limit of the 95% confidence interval for each estimated effect. Individual studies, labelled here with the information for country of study, author, and the year of study publication, refer to original studies that provided effect size measures entering into each meta-analysis. These measures are then combined into a summary effect size, which is the average association between two variables. See Box 2.1 for more details on how to interpret the charts. *Source:* (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$).

Children in class- or playrooms with a larger percentage of immigrant or bilingual children experience lower quality

Providing ECEC to children from disadvantaged backgrounds to allow them to catch up has been a key motivation for ECEC investments. And the quality of services is crucial for ensuring that ECEC benefits those who need it most. However, research finds lower quality staff-child interactions in groups with a larger percentage of immigrant or bilingual children in the ECEC group in centres for children 3 to 6. In Danish (Slot et al., $2017b_{[63]}$), German (Kuger et al., $2015_{[120]}$; Leu and Schelle, $2009_{[27]}$; Lehrl, Kuger and Anders, $2014_{[121]}$; Slot, Lerkkanen and Leseman, $2015_{[99]}$), and US classrooms (LoCassale-Crouch et al., $2007_{[122]}$; Tonyan and Howes, $2003_{[123]}$) staff-child interactions were of poorer quality in classrooms with higher proportions of ethnic minority or multilingual children. Only one study from the US showed that instructional process quality was not related to the number of children with limited English proficiency (Justice et al., $2008_{[124]}$).

The evidence from research examining class- or playgroup composition in centres for children under the age of 3 is more mixed. Emotional and educational support was lower in class- or playrooms in the Flemish Community of Belgium where a higher percentage of children spoke another home language (Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$). This association was found for toddler care centres, but not services for infants. However, in Dutch centres, higher educational support was observed in class or playrooms with a higher share of non-Dutch speaking children (Slot et al., $2017a_{[36]}$). This positive effect is likely to be a function of the targeted policy in place (Slot et al., $2017a_{[36]}$). In line with this targeted policy, disadvantaged children, including children speaking another home language, are more often enrolled in preschools, rather than day care settings, and provided with greater support for learning (Slot et al., $2015_{[40]}$).

In the family day care literature, lower environmental quality (in terms of the basic furnishings and equipment) and lower caregiver abilities to adapt objects, play and learning activities according to children's interests and needs was found in playgroups with more home language diversity (Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$).

Moreover, a number of studies have examined how the mean age in the classroom is related to staff-child interactions, and found mixed results (Early et al., $2010_{[125]}$; Lehrl, Kuger and Anders, $2014_{[121]}$; Leseman et al., $2017_{[126]}$; Wishard et al., $2003_{[127]}$). Mocan et al. (1995_[128]) found no relations between mean age in the classroom and staff-child interactions, but a recent study by Kuger et al. ($2015_{[120]}$) showed that staff-child interactions were better in classrooms with, on average, older children.

Children in class- or playrooms with a larger percentage of immigrant or bilingual children tend to demonstrate lower on development and learning skills

Classroom composition has also been shown to affect children's development. For instance, a German study demonstrated that preschoolers' vocabulary skills were lower and showed less growth over time in classrooms with a larger share of immigrant children, when compared to classrooms with a smaller percentage (Ebert et al., $2013_{[108]}$). Likewise, other studies from the Netherlands and the US have shown that children from disadvantaged backgrounds attending preschools with a larger percentage of other children with similarly disadvantaged backgrounds made less progress in their language skills (Schechter and Bye, $2007_{[129]}$) or literacy development (de Haan et al., $2013_{[130]}$) than their counterparts in more socio-economically mixed preschool classrooms.

Classroom composition may be indirectly related to child development and learning, influencing child development through staff-child interactions. A large-scale Danish study involving over 3 000 preschool children and 400 staff showed that process quality, specifically emotional support and classroom organisation, mediated the relationship between the proportion of non-Danish children in the classroom and children's language and pre-literacy skills (Slot et al., $2017b_{[63]}$).

There is some evidence suggesting linkages between licensing and quality interactions in family daycare settings

Issues of governance and standards in family daycare settings focus on regulations and licensing. Countries often establish minimum requirements for licensing as incentives for providers to invest in quality improvements, and signal to parents differences in quality within the system of provision. There is some empirical evidence from the US supporting

the added value of licensing and regulations to quality staff-child interactions in family daycare.

In the United States, higher quality has been observed in licensed providers in terms of overall process quality (Burchinal, Howes and Kontos, $2002_{[76]}$; Raikes et al., $2013_{[131]}$), and sensitive interactions in particular (Burchinal, Howes and Kontos, $2002_{[76]}$). Also, Doherty et al. ($2006_{[132]}$) showed that the staff's intention to meet the standards was one of the strongest predictors of higher observed quality of staff-child interactions, and the number of years as an unregulated home-care provider was negatively related to staff-child interactions.

In the Flemish Community in Belgium all home-care providers are licensed and some are also affiliated with a professional organisation that mediates between the parents and the home-care provider, handles administration and financial issues and provides support for ongoing professional development. Recent findings revealed no significant differences in process quality between affiliated and non-affiliated home-care providers (Vandenbroeck et al., 2018_[29]). There might be two possible explanations for the lack of differences. One possibility is that the actual support home-based care providers receive is limited to financial and administrative support. At the same time the government has recently invested in providing pedagogical support to home-care providers that are not affiliated with an organisation. Altogether, the differences between both types of providers appear to be minimal regarding process quality.

Note

1; Note that the Chinese study only revealed a significant difference between public and private settings when accounting for centre characteristics (e.g. physical location of the centre, government funding, staff salary and child tuition). After accounting for staff characteristics, such as pre-service qualifications, work experience and classroom features, including group size and child-staff ratio, the type of setting no longer predicted differences in quality (Hu et al., 2016a_[104]).

References

Barros, S. and C. Aguiar (2010), "Assessing the quality of Portuguese child care programs for toddlers", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 25/4, pp. 527-535, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2009.12.003</u> .	[25]
Barros, S. et al. (2016), "Infant child care in Portugal: Associations with structural characteristics", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 37/1, pp. 118-130, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2016.05.003</u> .	[26]
Blau, D. (1999), "The effect of child care characteristics on child development", <i>Journal of Human Resources</i> , Vol. 34/4, pp. 786-822, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/146417</u> .	[19]
Boogaard, M., I. Bollen and L. Dikkers (2014), <i>Gastouderopvang in West-Europese</i> landen- Een inventarisatie van best practices voor organisatie, toezicht, handhaving en kwaliteit in zes West-Europese landen (Host parent care in Western European countries-An inventory of best practices for organization), Kohnstamm Instituut, Amsterdam, <u>http://www.kohnstamminstituut.uva.nl/assets/ki922.pdf</u> (accessed on 24 september 2017).	[36]
Bowne, J. et al. (2017), "A meta-analysis of class size and ratios in early childhood programs: Are thresholds of quality associated with greater impacts on cognitive, achievement, and socioemotional outcomes?", <i>Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis</i> , advanced online publication, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3102/0162373716689489</u> .	[10]
Burchinal, M., C. Howes and S. Kontos (2002), "Structural predictors of child care quality in child care homes", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 17/1, pp. 87-105, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(02)00132-1</u> .	[37]
Burchinal, M. et al. (2002), "Caregiver training and classroom quality in child care centers", <i>Applied Developmental Science</i> , Vol. 6/1, pp. 2-11, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/S1532480XADS0601_01</u> .	[11]
Clifford, R. et al. (2005), "What is pre-kindergarten? Characteristics of public pre- kindergarten programs", <i>Applied Developmental Science</i> , Vol. 9/3, pp. 126-143, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/s1532480xads0903_1</u> .	[43]
Coley, R. et al. (2016), "Comparing public, private, and informal preschool programs in a national sample of low-income children", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 36, pp. 91-105, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2015.11.002</u> .	[40]

Colwell, N. et al. (2013), "New evidence on the validity of the Arnett Caregiver Interaction Scale: Results from the early childhood longitudinal study-birth cohort", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 28/2, pp. 218-233, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2012.12.004</u> .	[38]
Cryer, D. et al. (1999), "Predicting process quality from stuctural quality in preschool programs: A cross-country comparison", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 14/3, pp. 339-361, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(99)00017-4</u> .	[17]
Daems, M. et al. (2016), <i>MeMoQ Deelrapport 12: Nulmeting: contextvariabelen (MeMoQ subreport 12: Baseline measurement: Context variables)</i> , Kind en Gezin, KU Leuven, UGent, Brussel, Leuven, Gent.	[39]
de Haan, A. et al. (2013), "Targeted versus mixed preschools and kindergartens: Effects of class composition and teacher-managed activities on disadvanged children's emergent academic skills", <i>School Effectiveness and School Improvement: An International Journal of Research, Policy and Practice</i> , Vol. 24/2, pp. 177-194, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2012.749792</u> .	[59]
de Schipper, E., J. Riksen-Walraven and S. Geurts (2006), "Effects of child-caregiver ratio on the interactions between caregivers and children in child-care centers : An experimental study", <i>Child Development</i> , Vol. 77/4, pp. 861-874, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00907.x</u> .	[34]
Deynoot-Schaub, M. and J. Riksen-Walraven (2005), "Child care under pressure: The quality of Dutch centers in 1995 and in 2001", <i>The Journal of Genetic Psychology: Research and Theory on Human Development</i> , Vol. 166/3, pp. 280-296, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3200/GNTP.166.3.280-296</u> .	[27]
Doherty, G. et al. (2006), "Predictors of quality in family child care", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 21/3, pp. 296-312, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2006.07.006.	[61]
Early, D. et al. (2010), "How do pre-kindergarteners spend their time? Gender, ethnicity, and income as predictors of experiences in pre-kindergarten classrooms", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 25/2, pp. 177-193, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2009.10.003</u> .	[54]
Ebert, S. et al. (2013), "Internal and external influences on vocabulary development in preschool children", <i>School Effectiveness and School Improvement: An International Journal of Research, Policy and Practice</i> , Vol. 24/2, pp. 138-154, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2012.749791</u> .	[20]
Freitas, L., T. Shelton and J. Tudge (2008), "Conceptions of US and Brazilian early childhood care and education: A historical and comparative analysis", <i>International Journal of Behavioral Development</i> , Vol. 32/2, pp. 161-170, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0165025407087216</u> .	[5]

Fuligni, A. et al. (2009), "Diverse pathways in early childhood professional development: An exploration of early educators in public preschools, private preschools, and family child care homes", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 20/3, pp. 507-526, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409280902783483</u> .	[42]
Howes, C. et al. (2008), "Ready to learn? Children's pre-academic achievement in pre- Kindergarten programs", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 23/1, pp. 27-50, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2007.05.002</u> .	[21]
Hu, B. et al. (2016a), "Predictors of Chinese early childhood program quality: Implications for policies", <i>Children and Youth Services Review</i> , Vol. 70, pp. 152-162, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2016.09.013</u> .	[12]
Hulpia, H. et al. (2016), <i>MeMoQ Deelrapport 10. Emotionele en educatieve ondersteuning in de nulmeting</i> , Kind en Gezin, Ugent, KU Leuven.	[28]
Jamison, K. et al. (2014), "CLASS-Infant: An observational measure for assessing teacher-infant interactions in center-based child care", <i>Early Education and</i> <i>Development</i> , Vol. 25/4, pp. 553-572, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2013.822239</u> .	[29]
Justice, L. et al. (2008), "Quality of language and literacy instruction in preschool classrooms serving at-risk pupils", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 23/1, pp. 51-68, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2007.09.004</u> .	[51]
King, E. et al. (2016), "Classroom quality in infant and toddler classrooms: impact of age and programme type", <i>Early Child Development and Care</i> , Vol. 186/11, pp. 1821-1835, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2015.1134521</u> .	[41]
Kuger, S. et al. (2015), "Stability and patterns of classroom quality in German early childhood education and care", <i>An International Journal of Research, Policy, and Practice</i> , Vol. 27/3, pp. 418-440, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2015.1112815</u> .	[46]
Lehrl, S., S. Kuger and Y. Anders (2014), "Soziale disparitäten beim zugang zu kindergartenqualität und differenzielle konsequenzen für die vorschulische mathematische entwicklung (Social disparities in access to preschool quality and differential consequences on the development of early numeracy)", <i>Unterrichtswissenschaft</i> , Vol. 42, pp. 132-151.	[48]
Blossfeld, H. et al. (eds.) (2017), <i>Effectiveness of Dutch targeted preschool education policy for disadvantaged children</i> , Edward Elgar, Celtenham, UK, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4337/9781786432094.00019</u> .	[55]
Leu, H. and R. Schelle (2009), "Between education and care? Critical reflections on early childhood policies in Germany", <i>Early Years</i> , Vol. 29/1, pp. 5-18, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09575140802689034</u> .	[47]
LoCassale-Crouch, J. et al. (2007), "Observed classroom quality profiles in state-funded pre-kindergarten programs and associations with teacher, program, and classroom characteristics", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 22/1, pp. 3-17, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2006.05.001</u> .	[49]

Maher, E., B. Frestedt and C. Grace (2008), "Differences in child care quality in rural and non-rural areas", <i>Journal of Research in Rural Education</i> , Vol. 23/4, pp. 1-3.	[44]
Mashburn, A. et al. (2008), "Measures of classroom quality in prekindergarten and children's development of academic, language, and social skills", <i>Child Development</i> , Vol. 79/3, pp. 732-749, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2008.01154.x</u> .	[13]
Mashburn, A. et al. (2009), "Peer effects on children's language achievement during pre- kindergarten", <i>Child Development</i> , Vol. 80/3, pp. 686-702, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01291.x</u> .	[22]
Helburn, S. (ed.) (1995), <i>Models of quality in early childhood care and education</i> , Department of Economics, Denver, CO.	[57]
Montie, J., Z. Xiang and L. Schweinhart (2006), "Preschool experience in 10 countries: Cognitive and language performance at age 7", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 21/3, pp. 313-331, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2006.07.007</u> .	[23]
NICHD Early Child Care Research Network (2002), "Child-care structure → process → outcome: Direct and indirect effects of child-care quality on young children's development", <i>Psychological Science</i> , Vol. 13/3, pp. 199-206, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.00438</u> .	[24]
OECD (2017a), Starting Strong 2017: Key OECD Indicators on Early Childhood Education and Care, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264276116-3-en</u> .	[1]
OECD (2017d), <i>Education at a Glance 2017: OECD Indicators</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/eag-2017-en</u> .	[2]
Pessanha, M., C. Aguiar and J. Bairrão (2007), "Influence of structural features on Portuguese toddler child care quality", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 22, pp. 204-214, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2007.02.003</u> .	[31]
Philips, D. et al. (2000), "Within and beyond the classroom door: Assessing quality in child care centers", <i>Early Childhoof Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 15/4, pp. 475-496, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(01)00077-1</u> .	[7]
Phillipsen, L. et al. (1997), "The prediction of process quality from structural features of child care", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 12, pp. 281-303, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(97)90004-1</u> .	[8]
Pianta, R. et al. (2005), "Features of Pre-Kindergarten programs, classrooms, and teachers: Do they predict observed classroom quality and child-teacher interactions?", <i>Applied Developmental Science</i> , Vol. 9/3, pp. 144-159.	[14]
Raikes, H. et al. (2013), "Family child care in four Midwestern states: Multiple measures of quality and relations to outcomes by licensed status and subsidy program participation", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 28/4, pp. 879-892, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2013.06.001</u> .	[60]

- Sandstrom, H. (2012), "The characteristics and quality of pre-school education in Spain", *International Journal of Early Years Education*, Vol. 20/2, pp. 130-158, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09669760.2012.715012</u>.
- Schechter, C. and B. Bye (2007), "Preliminary evidence for the impact of mixed-income preschools on low-income children's language growth", *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, Vol. 22/1, pp. 137-146, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2006.11.005</u>.
- Slot, P. et al. (2015), "Associations between structural quality aspects and process quality in Dutch early childhood education and care settings", *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, Vol. 33, pp. 64-76, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2015.06.001.
- Slot, P., M. Lerkkanen and P. Leseman (2015), *The relations between structural quality* and process quality in European early childhood education and care provisions: Secondary data analyses of large scale studies in five countries, CARE, <u>http://ecec-care.org/fileadmin/careproject/Publications/reports/CARE_WP2_D2_2_Secondary_d</u>
 ata_analyses.pdf.
- Slot, P. et al. (2017a), "Measurement properties of the CLASS Toddler in ECEC in the Netherlands", *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, Vol. 48, pp. 79-91, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2016.11.008.
- Slot, P. et al. (2017b), *Structural and Process Quality of Danish Preschools: Direct and Indirect Associations with Children's Growth in Language and Pre-Literacy Skills*, Revision submitted for publication.
- Slot, P. et al. (2017c), Kwaliteit van de Nederlandse kinderdagopvang, peuteropvang,
 buitenschoolse opvang en gastouderopvang. Meting 2017 (Quality of the Dutch child day care, toddler care, after-school care and home-based care. Measurement 2017),
 Landelijke Kwaliteitsmonitor Kinderopvang (National Child Care Quality Monitor),
 http://www.monitorlkk.nl.
- Thomason, A. and K. La Paro (2009), "Measuring the quality of teacher–child ^[30] interactions in toddler child care", *Early Education and Development*, Vol. 20, pp. 285-304, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409280902773351</u>.
- Tonyan, H. and C. Howes (2003), "Exploring patterns in time children spend in a variety of child care activities: Associations with environmental quality, ethnicity, and gender", *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, Vol. 18/1, pp. 121-142, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(03)00006-1.
- Vandenbroeck, M. et al. (2018), *Quality in family child care providers: A study of variations in process quality of home-based childcare*, Submitted for publication in European Early Childhood Education Journal.
- Vermeer, H. et al. (2010), "Child care quality and children's cortisol in Basque Country and the Netherlands", *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, Vol. 31/4, pp. 339-347, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2010.05.001</u>.
- Vermeer, H. et al. (2016), "Quality of child care using the environmental rating scales: A meta-analysis of international studies", *International Journal of Early Childhood*, Vol. 48/1, pp. 33-60, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s13158-015-0154-9.

Vogel, C. et al. (2015a), <i>Toddlers in early Head Start: A portrait of 2-years-olds, their families, and the program serving them</i> , Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, DC.	[32]
Vogel, C. et al. (2015b), <i>Toddlers in early Head Start: A portrait of 3-years-olds, their families, and the program serving them</i> , Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, DC.	[33]
von Suchodoletz, A. et al. (2017), "Associations among quality indicators in early childhood education and care (ECEC) and relations with child development and learning: A meta-analysis", Internal document, OECD, Paris.	[18]
Young Children Vol., P. (ed.) (2003), "Full-day kindergarten: A story of successful adoption and initial implementation", <i>Young Children</i> , Vol. 58/6, pp. 54-58.	[3]
Wishard, A. et al. (2003), "Child care program and teacher practices: Associations with quality and children's experiences", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 18/1, pp. 65-103, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(03)00007-3</u> .	[56]
Zvoch, K. (2009), "Treatment fidelity in multisite evaluation: A multilevel longitudinal examination of provider adherence status and change", <i>American Journal of Evaluation</i> , Vol. 30/1, pp. 44-61, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1098214008329523</u> .	[4]

Chapter 3. Supporting quality early childhood education and care through workforce development and working conditions

Workforce training and working conditions matter for quality early childhood education and care (ECEC), across age groups and in both centre-based and family daycare settings. In turn, higher process quality is associated with higher levels of child development. This chapter provides an overview on associations between workforcerelated characteristics and quality. Research shows relations between staff pre-service and in-service qualifications and training programmes, staff-child interactions and the promotion of young children's development. Staff working conditions, such as staff salaries and well-being, as well as organisational climate, can play a key role in determining staff-child interactions. A few studies also find that in family daycare, staff networking is associated with higher-quality interactions. However, staff years of experience do not appear to predict quality levels. Staff-child interactions and implementation of developmental and educational activities are linked to higher levels of children's emerging literacy and numeracy skills, as well as better behavioural and social skills.

The statistical data for Israel are supplied by and under the responsibility of the relevant Israeli authorities. The use of such data by the OECD is without prejudice to the status of the Golan Heights, East Jerusalem and Israeli settlements in the West Bank under the terms of international law.

Introduction

Staff are at the centre of efforts to enhance pedagogical practice and to promote young children's development. Staff pre-service and in-service qualifications and training programmes are common mechanisms in workforce development. Pre-service qualifications refer to the training that staff have engaged in before they begin the job; in-service training refers to additional training they receive while working in the ECEC field.

Highly qualified ECEC staff are better placed to create enriched and stimulating environments and deliver the high-quality pedagogy associated with improved learning and well-being (Britto, Yoshikawa and Boller, $2011_{[33]}$; Early et al., $2007_{[64]}$; Litjens and Taguma, $2010_{[133]}$; Phillipsen et al., $1997_{[101]}$; Fontaine et al., $2006_{[134]}$). However, examining these mechanisms and their associations with process quality is a complex task. In-service training is part of the broader concept of professional development together with coaching, mentoring, (video) feedback or other activities, making professional development diverse in terms of not only content, but also implementation methods. Considerable new research and attention has been devoted recently to examining the effectiveness of these aspects (Slot, $2017_{[161]}$).

Staff working conditions include staff salaries, staff experience, organisational climate and networking, with clear linkages to staff well-being, as well as the sector's ability to attract and retain staff members. Salaries are one of the most relevant factors of working conditions, affecting job satisfaction and teachers' effectiveness in the school literature (Huntsman, $2008_{[135]}$; Moon and Burbank, $2004_{[136]}$; Murnane et al., $1990_{[137]}$) (Moon and Burbank, $2004_{[136]}$). However, in ECEC, staff salaries show great disparity across countries (see Figure 3.1) and there is evidence that low salaries influence staff behaviour towards children and increase turnover rates (Huntsman, $2008_{[135]}$). Furthermore, low salaries deter skilled professionals from choosing to work as ECEC staff (Manlove and Guzell, $1997_{[138]}$).

In addition, opportunities for team collaboration and networking affect the extent to which staff feel supported and feel part of the team, and the degree to which there is a joint vision and mission in the organisation, which in turn contribute to staff's practices and thus process quality.

Summary of findings

In analysing workforce development and working conditions, overall higher pre-service qualifications were found to be related to higher-quality staff-child interactions. This particularly applies to settings for children aged 0 to 2, although some studies showed mixed findings. However, higher teacher qualifications were not associated with emerging academic skills or behavioural and social skills. In fact, only staff-child interactions were predictive of children's development and learning. Specifically, children had higher levels of emerging literacy and numeracy skills, as well as better behavioural and social skills, in ECEC centres with more positive and fewer negative staff-child interactions. Associations between staff-child interactions and children's development and learning did not differ significantly for children from predominantly disadvantaged backgrounds, compared to a diverse group of children.

Figure 3.1. Annual statutory teachers' salaries in pre-primary education (2015).



Based on typical qualifications, in public settings, in equivalent USD converted using PPPs

Consistent positive associations for all settings examined were found between staff inservice training (or professional development) and staff-child interactions, especially if the training included ECEC content. The number of studies available for settings for children aged zero to 3 was more limited, but the pattern of results is largely consistent.

Regarding family daycare settings, both pre-service qualifications and in-service training appear to have a consistent association with staff-child interactions in family daycare, at least in US and Flemish family daycare settings. Pre-service training was found to be the most commonly researched structural feature in family daycare settings (i.e. in a total of seven studies reporting on the relations with staff-child interactions). It is important to note that two out of the five US studies showed that pre-service education for family daycare provisions was not significant when additional in-service training was added to the equation. Generally, family daycare providers appear to have lower educational qualifications than staff working in centre-based care, both in terms of the level of attainment and the specialisation of the training, as was evident in studies from Australia, Quebec, the Netherlands and the US (Bigras et al., 2010_[139]; Coley et al., 2016_[77]; Fuligni et al., 2009_[79]; Groeneveld et al., 2010_[140]; Ishimine and Tayler, 2012_[141]). However, the consistent finding that professional development can contribute to higher-quality staff-child interactions highlights the importance of investing in additional on-the-job training.

Note: Countries are ranked in descending order of starting salaries for pre-primary teachers. 1. Year of reference is 2014. Statutory salaries, based on pay scales, are only one component of teachers' total compensation. Education systems also offer additional payments to teachers, such as allowances, bonuses or other rewards. See Education at а Glance 2017 Annex 3 for further notes (www.oecd.org/education/education-at-a-glance-19991487.htm). *Source:* (OECD, 2017d_[95])

For staff's work experience, the findings appeared to be inconsistent. Almost half of the studies reviewed reported no associations between staff's work experience and staff-child interactions, and the remainder showed either positive or negative relations. A similar pattern was summarised for centres for children aged 0 to 2, although more studies reported positive relationships. Overall, work experience was unrelated to staff-child interactions in family daycare settings. Unfortunately, given the limited number of studies available, and the narrow international scope of these studies, it is unclear whether these associations should be expected in other countries or jurisdictions.

Positive associations were found between salaries, the centre's organisational climate, and staff-child interactions, but the number of studies that have included these aspects is somewhat limited. Preliminary evidence suggests that provisions for higher-paid staff and more team collaboration in centres with children from 3 to 6, and for children under the age of 3, provided higher-quality staff-child interactions.

It is important to keep in mind the possible confusion between these characteristics. For instance, a study from China showed that urban centres received full government funding, which provided them with more resources (Hu et al., $2016a_{[104]}$). It is likely that the working conditions are better in these centres, because urban centres attracted better qualified staff who received higher salaries and because the child-staff ratio was more favourable.

This chapter provides an overview of the evidence linking structural mechanisms in staff workforce development and working conditions to staff-child interactions, as well as to child development, learning and well-being. With the aim of building a solid knowledge base on this subject, it draws on a literature review and a meta-analysis that update the conceptual knowledge, as well as on and an empirical evidence base for the strength of these associations, while keeping a cross-national focus. The chapter first summarises these two pieces of research, to discuss the importance of these mechanisms for process quality in ECEC. Each mechanism is examined in turn, integrating the evidence for centres for children aged 3 to 6, centres for children under the age of 3, and finally family daycare settings. Finally, the chapter examines the evidence for the links between quality mechanisms and child development, learning and well-being.

What does the research tell us about the importance of workforce development and working conditions for staff-child interactions in early childhood education and care?

Positive staff-child interactions predict emerging academic skills, while negative staff-child interactions predict behavioural/social skills.

The meta-analysis conducted for this report indicated a consistent positive association between the quality of staff-child interactions and children's literacy and numeracy learning (Figure 3.2, (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$)). This association was true when considering an overall staff-child interactions index (Panel A), and also a combined score of staff emotional, instructional and organisation interactions with the children (Panel B).

Conversely, no associations were found between staff-child interactions and children's behavioural/social skills using the overall staff-child interactions index (Figure 3.3, Panel A, (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$). The association between the combined score of staff emotional, instructional, and organisation interactions with the children and children's behavioural/social skills was slightly negative, but not significant (Panel B).



Figure 3.2. More positive staff-child interactions are associated with higher levels of child emerging academic skills.

Panel B. Based on a combined score of staff emotional, instructional, and organisational staff-child interactions.



Note: Effect sizes are depicted as either blue squares for individual studies or grey diamonds for combined results, each with black lines spanning the lower limit and the upper limit of the 95% confidence interval for each estimated effect. Individual studies, labelled here with the information for country of study, author, and the year of study publication, refer to original studies that provided effect size measures entering into each meta-analysis. These measures are then combined into a summary effect size, which is the average association between two variables. See Box 3.1 for more details on how to interpret the charts. *Source:* (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$).

Box 3.1. Interpreting the meta-analysis charts

The meta-analysis charts report associations in the form of standardised effect sizes. For the current analysis, effect size is defined as the degree and direction of association, or correlation, between two variables (e.g. between indicators of structural and process quality, and between indicators of structural/process quality and child development and learning).

Effect sizes reported are standardised, such that a measure ranges between -1 to 1. An effect size measure closer to 0 means little association between the two variables represented in the chart, while an effect size closer to either -1 or 1 (i.e. larger absolute value) would indicate stronger association between the variables. An effect size of negative value would mean that an increase in the measure of one variable is associated with a decrease in the measure of the other variable, while an effect size of positive value would mean that both variables increase or decrease in same direction.

Depending on which statistical assumption underlies the process of averaging, a meta-analysis can produce either Combined Result (based on a "fixed-effect model") or Strict Combined Result (based on a "random-effects model"). The main difference between the two in the present meta-analysis is that the former gives larger weighting to the individual studies based on larger sample size.

Because of the diversity of measures used in research to assess process quality, meta-analysis results are examined in terms of three indicators:

- Global score of staff-child interactions: an overall index of the interactions between the ECEC staff and the group, irrespective of the type or subdomains of interaction, used when the studies only reported one single score to describe the quality of interactions;
- Combined score of staff-child interactions: an aggregate score of staffchild interactions, including the staff's positive emotional, instructional, and organisation interactions with children, generally based on a set of domain-specific scores reported in the studies.
- Developmental and educational activities: an aggregate score of the exposure and/or quality of developmental and educational activities provided by staff.

For child data, meta-analysis results are examined in terms of two indicators:

- Emerging academic skills: An aggregate score of early numeracy and literacy skills.
- Combined score of behavioural and social-emotional indicators: an aggregate score of social and behavioural skills, including behaviour regulation, executive function, behavioural problems, and social competence.




Panel B. Based on a combined score of staff emotional, instructional, and organisational staff-child interactions.



Note: Effect sizes are depicted as either blue squares for individual studies or grey diamonds for combined results, each with black lines spanning the lower limit and the upper limit of the 95% confidence interval for each estimated effect. Individual studies, labelled here with the information for country of study, author, and the year of study publication, refer to original studies that provided effect size measures entering into each meta-analysis. These measures are then combined into a summary effect size, which is the average association between two variables. See Box 3.1 for more details on how to interpret the charts. Belgium study took place in the Flemish Community.

Source: (von Suchodoletz et al., 2017[17]).

The meta-analysis conducted for this report also clearly indicated that negative staff-child interactions are associated with less positive behavioural/social skills of children (see Figure 3.4, (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$)).





Note: Effect sizes are depicted as either blue squares for individual studies or grey diamonds for combined results, each with black lines spanning the lower limit and the upper limit of the 95% confidence interval for each estimated effect. Individual studies, labelled here with the information for country of study, author, and the year of study publication, refer to original studies that provided effect size measures entering into each meta-analysis. These measures are then combined into a summary effect size, which is the average association between two variables. See Box 3.1 for more details on how to interpret the charts. Belgium study took place in the Flemish Community.

Source: (von Suchodoletz et al., 2017[17]).

The meta-analysis also indicated that associations between staff-child interactions and children's development and learning did not significantly differ for children from predominantly disadvantaged backgrounds and for a diverse population of children (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$).

The mixed pattern of associations between staff-child interactions and children's behavioural/social skills seemed to be determined by geographical differences. Specifically, the meta-analysis conducted for this report indicated that associations between staff-child interactions and children's behavioural/social skills were overall negative in studies conducted in the United States, but overall positive in studies conducted outside the United States. This geographical difference was significant for both the overall staff-child interactions index and the combined score of staff emotional. instructional, and organisation interactions with the children (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$). Differences in the direction of associations between the quality of staff-child interactions and children's behavioural/social skills may be due to differences in cultural belief systems (von Suchodoletz et al., 2017_[17]). Different cultural traditions, values, and beliefs around child development and learning may influence the way ECEC staff perceive and interpret children's behaviour in the class- or playroom which, in turn, affects how they respond to and engage with children. Moreover, children's behavioural and social skills are an important aspect of child attributes and have been suggested to influence interactions between teachers and children. Staff-child interactions are understood as dyadic in nature; in other words, staff-child interactions are shaped by

reciprocal processes between teacher and child. No other geographical differences were found.

Children in class or playrooms with staff providing higher quality or more exposure to developmental and educational activities demonstrate higher levels of emergent skills

The meta-analysis conducted for this report also analysed the association between staff implementation of developmental and educational activities, a process quality indicator of workforce, and children's emerging academic skills (Abreu-Lima et al., $2013_{[142]}$; Anders, $2015_{[41]}$; Coley et al., $2016_{[77]}$; Howes et al., $2008_{[34]}$; McGinty et al., $2012_{[143]}$; Strasser and Lissi, $2009_{[144]}$), as well as children's behavioural and social skills (Abreu-Lima et al., $2013_{[142]}$; Anders, $2013_{[142]}$; Anders, $2015_{[41]}$; Coley et al., $2016_{[77]}$) (see Figure 3.5, (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$)). The results show that children have slightly higher levels of emerging literacy and numeracy skills, as well as better behavioural and social skills, in ECEC centres where staff provide higher quality or more exposure to developmental and educational activities.

Figure 3.5. Higher quality or exposure to developmental and educational activities is associated with higher levels of children's skills.

-1	-0.75	-0.5	-0.25	0	0.25	0.5	0.75	1
Germany - Anders et al. (2012)	1			н				
US - McGinty et al (2012)					-			
US - Howes et al. (2008)				H				
US - Coley et al (2016)								
Portugal - Abreu-Lima (2013)			H	<u> </u>	4			
Chile - Strasser et al. (2009)				-0	-		Individual Stud	v
Strict Combined Result						-	Combined Res	ult
Combined Result				i kon				

Panel A. Using an indicator of child emerging academic skills.

Panel B. Based on a combined score of child behaviour and social skills.

-1	-0.7	5 -0	0.5 -0	.25 (0 0	.25 0	.5 0.	75 1
Germany - Anders et al. (2012)					H			
Portugal - Abreu-Lima (2013)				F	-0-4			
US - Coley et al (2016)				1			Combine Combin	ual Study ned Result
Strict Combined Result					ĸ		¢ combi	icu nesure

Note: Effect sizes are depicted as either blue squares for individual studies or grey diamonds for combined results, each with black lines spanning the lower limit and the upper limit of the 95% confidence interval for each estimated effect. Individual studies, labelled here with the information for country of study, author, and the year of study publication, refer to original studies that provided effect size measures entering into each meta-analysis. These measures are then combined into a summary effect size, which is the average association between two variables. See Box 3.1 for more details on how to interpret the charts. *Source:* (von Suchodoletz et al., 2017_[17]).

Higher pre-service qualifications contribute to better staff-child relationships

Single country studies show that for centres for children 3 to 6 years old, higher levels of pre-service training, i.e. a bachelor's degree, are associated with better staff-child interactions in Denmark, Portugal, as well as in the United States (Barros and Leal, $2011_{[145]}$; Guo et al., $2010_{[146]}$; Pianta et al., $2005_{[31]}$; Slot et al., $2017b_{[63]}$). In a comprehensive review, Tout, Zaslow and Berry ($2006_{[147]}$) revealed that pre-service qualifications showed stronger relations with staff-child interactions if the training included ECE content, such as child development.

This positive association was partially confirmed by the meta-analysis conducted for this report (see Figure 3.6). Specifically, higher levels of pre-service qualifications were associated with a higher-quality of staff-child interactions. Although there was some variation across studies in the direction of the association (i.e. some were positive, some were negative), this variation was not directly linked to the level of qualification being studied. Both (Guo et al., $2010_{[146]}$) and (Philips, Gormley and Lowenstein, $2009_{[148]}$) looked at differences between having and not having a bachelors' (4-year) degree in ECEC, but only (Guo et al., $2010_{[146]}$) found positive associations. Remaining studies measured pre-service qualifications as the highest level of completed formal pre-service education attained by teachers with higher values reflecting higher levels, in a variety of scales.

Figure 3.6. Higher levels of pre-service qualifications are associated with higher quality of staff-child interactions.



Findings based almost exclusively on studies from the United States.

Note: Effect sizes are depicted as either blue squares for individual studies or grey diamonds for combined results, each with black lines spanning the lower limit and the upper limit of the 95% confidence interval for each estimated effect. Individual studies, labelled here with the information for country of study, author, and the year of study publication, refer to original studies that provided effect size measures entering into each meta-analysis. These measures are then combined into a summary effect size, which is the average association between two variables. See Box 3.1 for more details on how to interpret the charts. *Source:* (von Suchodoletz et al., 2017_[17]).

The meta-analysis also demonstrated that providing higher quality or more exposure to developmental and educational activities (as a process indicator) did not depend on staff education (Figure 3.7, (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$)). There was no immediate

association between how pre-service education was described in the studies, and the pattern of results. For example, although (Justice et al., $2008_{[124]}$) reported the highest of qualification in the participating teachers, with all of the teachers in the study holding a bachelor's degree and 36% holding an additional advanced degree, the quality of language/literacy activities provided in the classroom was very low. However, it is also important to note that this study looked exclusively to publicly funded preschool classrooms serving specifically at-risk pupils, whereas the two other studies looked at state-wide funded pre-Kindergarten classrooms (Howes et al., $2008_{[34]}$) (Philips, Gormley and Lowenstein, $2009_{[148]}$).

Figure 3.7. No association between pre-service qualifications and provision of development and educational activities.



Findings based exclusively on studies from the United States.

Note: Effect sizes are depicted as either blue squares for individual studies or grey diamonds for combined results, each with black lines spanning the lower limit and the upper limit of the 95% confidence interval for each estimated effect. Individual studies, labelled here with the information for country of study, author, and the year of study publication, refer to original studies that provided effect size measures entering into each meta-analysis. These measures are then combined into a summary effect size, which is the average association between two variables. See Box 3.1 for more details on how to interpret the charts. *Source:* (von Suchodoletz et al., 2017_[17]).

In larger scale, cross-state or cross-country studies, results have been mixed. In a multisite, multi-state study in the United States, Early et al. $(2006_{[149]})$ found that having a degree above the bachelor level was related to higher-quality staff-child interactions, but there were no differences below a bachelor degree. Other studies have reported contradictory or no association between qualifications and staff-child interactions, be it comparing different levels of qualification (i.e. below an associate degree, an associate degree, a bachelor's or above a bachelor's) on a large-scale comparative review in the United States (Early et al., $2007_{[64]}$), or qualifications and field of education (i.e. holding a BA in ECE, versus holding a BA in another field, or holding an MA) in a large-scale US study (Philips, Gormley and Lowenstein, $2009_{[148]}$). No clear patterns have been found in other cross-country comparison studies (Cryer et al., $1999_{[106]}$; Slot, Lerkkanen and Leseman, $2015_{[99]}$).

Pre-service qualifications per se may not guarantee better child learning and development

The evidence on the importance of staff pre-service qualifications for child development, learning and well-being is mixed. In some European studies and a cross-national study, staff with higher qualifications, i.e. Bachelor degrees, were associated with children with higher levels of language (Bauchmüller, Grøtz and Rasmussen, $2014_{[150]}$; Montie, Xiang and Schweinhart, $2006_{[110]}$) and literacy (Sylva et al., $2004_{[13]}$) than staff with lower preservice qualifications, i.e. lower than a bachelor's degree.

However, studies from the United States. showed mixed findings. One US study revealed positive associations between having a bachelor's degree (rather than having a lower qualification) and social-emotional skills (Howes et al., $2008_{[34]}$). However, two studies showed no associations between pre-service qualifications and children's language and literacy skills (Early et al., $2006_{[149]}$; Mashburn et al., $2008_{[44]}$). In (Early et al., $2006_{[149]}$) children with teachers with more than a bachelor's degree scored slightly higher in language and literacy than children with teachers with only an associate degree (i.e. 2-year degree), but this difference was only marginal; in (Mashburn et al., $2008_{[44]}$) no differences were observed between teachers with or without a bachelor's. Another US study (in which qualification levels were measured as years of education) showed mostly no relations between staff' qualifications and children's language and literacy skills, except for decoding skills (such as the ability to read unfamiliar words) for which the association was actually negative (Connor et al., $2005_{[61]}$).

A recently published meta-analysis revealed null associations between staff's educational qualifications and children's language and math outcomes (Falenchuk et al., $2017_{[151]}$). However, there was considerable heterogeneity in how staff education was defined across studies, which could at least in part explain the lack of significant findings. For example, it can be defined as total number of years of education, or by categorising teachers according to the level attained, or simply by separating teachers with a bachelor's or without one.

The lack of a consistent association between pre-service qualifications and children's development and learning was confirmed by the meta-analysis conducted for this report (see Figure 3.8, (von Suchodoletz et al., 2017_[17])). In particular, higher teachers' qualifications were not associated with emerging academic skills (i.e. literacy and numeracy, Panel A), or behavioural/social skills (Panel B).

In one US study, higher teacher education only influenced children's vocabulary skills indirectly through staff's warmth and responsivity, although with a small (Connor et al., $2005_{[61]}$).

Figure 3.8. No evidence of consistent association between pre-service qualifications and children's development and learning.

Findings based on a limited number of studies, and exclusively from the United States.



Panel A. Using an indicator of child emerging academic skills.

Panel B. Based on a combined score of child behaviour and social skills.



Note: Effect sizes are depicted as either blue squares for individual studies or grey diamonds for combined results, each with black lines spanning the lower limit and the upper limit of the 95% confidence interval for each estimated effect. Individual studies, labelled here with the information for country of study, author, and the year of study publication, refer to original studies that provided effect size measures entering into each meta-analysis. These measures are then combined into a summary effect size, which is the average association between two variables. See Box 3.1 for more details on how to interpret the charts. *Source:* (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$).

Pre-service qualifications also matter for staff-child interactions in centre and family daycare settings for younger children

For centres for children under the age of 3, a recent international meta-analysis of 48 studies showed positive correlations between staff pre-service qualifications, comparing teachers with bachelor's with teachers without, but also more fine-grained distinctions, and aspects of the programme structure, the provision of activities and supportive language and reasoning interactions (Manning et al., $2017_{[152]}$).

Individual country studies have also documented the importance of staff's qualifications for staff-child interactions in Quebec, the Flemish Community of Belgium, the Netherlands, Portugal and the US (Barros et al., $2016_{[39]}$; Bigras et al., $2010_{[139]}$; Castle et al., $2016_{[153]}$; Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$; King et al., $2016_{[74]}$; Slot et al., $2015_{[40]}$; Thomason and La Paro, $2009_{[38]}$; Vogel et al., $2015a_{[66]}$; Vogel et al., $2015b_{[67]}$). Four studies showed positive associations by looking at the fine-grained associations between

an additional year of pre-service qualifications and process quality (Barros an Leal, 2011; NICHD, 2000; Slot et al., 2015; Thomason and La Paro, 2009), whereas others showed positive relations only from a certain level: either a two-year degree (King et al., 2016; Vogel 2015a) or a bachelor's degree (Barros et al. 2016; Vogel et al., 2015a).

Pre-service qualifications seem to matter for broad, comprehensive aspects of quality, including different aspects of staff-child interactions (Barros et al., $2016_{[39]}$), as well as for more fine-grained distinctions between emotionally supportive interactions, and more educational and developmentally supportive interactions (Castle et al., $2016_{[153]}$; Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$; Slot et al., $2015_{[40]}$; Thomason and La Paro, $2009_{[38]}$; Vogel et al., $2015a_{[66]}$; Vogel et al., $2015b_{[67]}$). One US study showed that teachers with two- or four-year degrees had higher levels of quality of interactions, particularly language and reasoning (measured with the Infant/Toddler Environment Rating Scale, or ITERS) than teachers without degrees (King et al., $2016_{[74]}$).

Other studies have found stronger evidence for the impact of pre-service qualifications on emotional support. For example, in infant care in the Netherlands and the Flemish Community of Belgium staff qualifications, i.e. further years of teacher education, were associated with emotional support, but showed little or no relation to staff support for children's development and learning (Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$; Slot et al., $2015_{[40]}$). It is important to note that these findings were found for infant care, but not toddler class- or playrooms, although the same levels of teacher education were compared. Finally, one US study in Early Head Start reported only positive associations for staff qualifications with emotional support and no relations with support for development and learning (a Child Development Associates credential; (Vogel et al., $2015a_{[66]}$)) whereas another US study in Early Head Start reported the opposite pattern (a bachelor's level; (Vogel et al., $2015b_{[67]}$).¹

Similarly to centres for children between 3 and 6 years old, having specialised training in early childhood education, such as a specialised diploma or degree in this area (as opposed to degrees in other areas of content), is related to higher-quality staff-child interactions, as observed in a study of infant class- or playrooms in Quebec (Bigras et al., $2010_{[139]}$). In US centres for children under the age of 3, teachers with a degree in ECE demonstrated higher staff emotional support, but also support for development and learning (Castle et al., $2016_{[153]}$).

Finally, two studies also reported no relationship between acquiring a two-year ECEC qualification or lower and process quality in infant class- or playrooms in the United States, measured by the Infant CLASS (Jamison et al., $2014_{[65]}$) and South Africa measured by the ITERS (Biersteker et al., $2016_{[154]}$).

In family daycare settings, higher pre-service qualifications were also generally associated with higher-quality staff-child interactions, but the majority of the literature was limited to the US (Colwell et al., $2013_{[116]}$; Doherty et al., $2006_{[132]}$; Raikes, Raikes and Wilcox, $2005_{[155]}$; Schaack, Le and Setodji, $2017_{[156]}$) and Flemish Community of Belgium (Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$; Vandenbroeck et al., $2018_{[29]}$). Some studies looked into fine-grained distinctions across additional years of training and education (Colwell et al., $2013_{[116]}$; Raikes, Raikes and Wilcox, $2005_{[155]}$); whereas others examined differences between having a higher level of education or not (Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$; Vandenbroeck et al., $2016_{[73]}$; Vandenbroeck et al., $2018_{[29]}$).

For example, Flemish family daycare providers with higher pre-service qualifications provided more diverse learning experiences and activities, and also demonstrated more

active involvement and guidance in these activities, when compared to lower-educated family daycare providers (Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$). This pattern was true for licensed providers, but not registered providers, and for infant but not for toddler provisions (Vandenbroeck et al., $2018_{[29]}$).

Evidence from the US also demonstrated that pre-service educational qualifications may be able to compensate for lack of other support or regulations. In the United States, providers with teachers with more years of education were able to provide higher-quality care even in the absence of strong state regulations, whereas teachers with fewer years of education provided higher quality only in strongly regulated settings (Raikes, Raikes and Wilcox, 2005_[155]).

It is important to note that staff educational qualifications tend to be lower for family daycare providers than staff working in centres. In Australia, Quebec, the Netherlands, and the US, this difference is observed for level of attainment and specialisation of the training (Bigras et al., $2010_{[139]}$; Coley et al., $2016_{[77]}$; Fuligni et al., $2009_{[79]}$; Groeneveld et al., $2010_{[140]}$; Ishimine and Tayler, $2012_{[141]}$). A European cross-country comparison showed that only Flemish Community of Belgium and the Netherlands require a minimum level of educational training for family daycare care providers, albeit of a low level, whereas in Denmark, France, Germany, Switzerland and the United Kingdom, the formal requirements were limited to a basic course ranging from 18 to 160 hours (Boogaard, Bollen and Dikkers, $2014_{[78]}$).

Participation in in-service training (or professional development) is the most consistent predictor of a quality staff-child interactions, and also has direct links to child development and learning

In-service training has been shown to be beneficial for staff-child interactions in diverse geographic locations, including Denmark, Portugal, China and the US (Fukkink and Lont, $2007_{[157]}$; Hamre et al., $2012_{[158]}$; Justice et al., $2008_{[124]}$; LoCassale-Crouch et al., $2011_{[159]}$; Slot et al., $2017b_{[63]}$; Slot, Lerkkanen and Leseman, $2015_{[99]}$; Zaslow et al., $2010_{[160]}$), even over and above formal pre-service qualifications (Philips et al., $2000_{[100]}$).

Effects of in-service training on process quality seem to be restricted to some subdomains, but the evidence is thus far inconclusive. For example, staff participating in in-service training have consistently been found to score higher on language and literacy-specific quality (as measured by the ELLCO), whereas the links to overall quality in ECEC (as measured by the ERS) or staff-child interactions (as measured by the CLASS) are mixed (Egert, $2015_{[161]}$) A more recent meta-analysis confirmed this pattern. The review showed that in-service training had larger effects on how the class- or playroom environment was designed by staff to promote language and literacy development than on general process quality, although the effects were consistently positive (Markussen-Brown et al., $2017_{[162]}$). Also, a study has shown that staff participating in in-service training who had pre-service qualifications below a bachelor's degree were still linked to lower quality interactions than staff with bachelor's degrees who had not attended in-service training. (Burchinal et al., $2002_{[103]}$).

Participation in in-service training was positively linked to staff-child interactions when the training included early childhood education content (Siraj-Blatchford et al., $2005_{[163]}$; Zaslow et al., $2004_{[164]}$), offered on-site support (such as mentoring, coaching or consultation), or was of an appropriate length (Egert, $2015_{[161]}$). For example, a meta-analysis demonstrated that specialised training focusing on staff-child interactions improved staff interaction competence (Fukkink and Lont, $2007_{[157]}$). Another meta-

analysis demonstrated that interventions where in-service training included coaching were up to three times more effective than interventions with in-service training but no coaching (Egert, $2015_{[161]}$). A mapping of 66 European studies (Eurofound, $2015_{[165]}$) also demonstrated that short-term in-service training interventions where shown to be more effective when a feedback component was present in the training. Long-term in-service training interventions proved successful when they were integrated into the centre's practice and participants were actively involved in the centre's improvement processes related to educational practice (Eurofound, $2015_{[165]}$). Also, a study found that in-service training resulted in higher-quality interactions regardless of staff's pre-service training (Burchinal et al., $2002_{[103]}$). Moreover, training of 45 to 60 hours was more effective than other periods of training (Egert, $2015_{[161]}$)

In these studies, it is important to note that some aspects of in-service training are often confused with other structural features, such as implementation of new curriculum and changes in working conditions, which may account for some of the differences in quality (Slot et al., 2017a_[36]). For example, in China, staff who attended in-service training demonstrated higher-quality staff-child interactions; however, they were also entitled to higher governmental salaries and benefits, and were perceived as having attained higher social status (Hu et al., 2016a). In a study using five European datasets (England [United Kingdom]: Finland, Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal, (Slot, Lerkkanen and Leseman, $2015_{[99]}$), the results showed that associations varied according to countryspecific policies and context. For example, in England (United Kingdom), the type of provision (more care or more educationally oriented) appeared to moderate the relation between staff qualifications and process quality (as measured with the Early Childhood Environment Rating Scale (ECERS-R and ECERS-E). Staff working in educationally oriented settings provided higher quality, compared to their counterparts working in caretype settings, but this difference was larger for less qualified staff. In addition, the working conditions, such as higher salary and more professional development opportunities, tended to be better in educationally oriented settings. Thus, it seems that better working conditions in the settings combining education and care might have compensated for the lower staff qualifications.

The evidence base for in-service training and professional development is also consistent with a positive relationship with children's development and learning. Several recent review studies and meta-analyses showed small-to-medium effects of professional development interventions on children's language and literacy skills (e.g. (Egert, $2015_{[161]}$; Jensen and Rasmussen, $2015_{[166]}$; Markussen-Brown et al., $2017_{[162]}$).

In-service training (or professional development) is an equally effective measure for services for younger children

For centres for children under the age of 3, staff receiving in-service training have also demonstrated higher-quality staff-child interactions in the United States and the Netherlands (Burchinal et al., $2002_{[103]}$; Slot et al., $2015_{[40]}$), and the same is true for family daycare settings. Several US studies have shown that in-service training was related to better staff-child interactions, e.g. (Raikes, Raikes and Wilcox, $2005_{[155]}$; Schaack, Le and Setodji, $2017_{[156]}$), and in fact to be a stronger predictor of staff-child interactions than staff pre-service qualifications (Burchinal, Howes and Kontos, $2002_{[76]}$; Hallam, Bargreen and Ridgley, $2013_{[167]}$).

In the Flemish Community in Belgium, staff receiving pedagogical support in the workplace demonstrated higher levels of emotional and educational process quality in family daycare settings than staff not receiving pedagogical support; these associations were true for infants, but not for toddlers (Hulpia et al., 2016_[73]).

Certain features of in-service training for family daycare settings seem to be positively linked to staff-child interactions, namely whether the staff received individualised support through home visits by a professional (Bromer and Korfmacher, 2017[168]), or through video feedback (Groeneveld et al., 2011[169]). In a Dutch study, family daycare providers were randomised to receive a video-feedback intervention, or to be part of the control group (i.e. no feedback). The study demonstrated that family daycare providers who received feedback through video demonstrated higher levels of process quality (as measured with a global environmental quality measure), even though there were no differences in their sensitivity during interactions with children, when compared to the control group (Groeneveld et al., 2011[169]). Further to the importance of considering different features of training, one US study showed that participation in ongoing training was unrelated to process quality; however, the study did not distinguish between duration, length or topic of the training (Doherty et al., 2006[132]). Bromer and Korfmacher (2017_{1168}) have also stressed that in-service training for family daycare settings often lacks a strong conceptual model, which may be key to further success in promoting higher-quality staff-child interactions through in-service training.

It is important to note that overall family daycare providers tend to have fewer opportunities for professional development than centre-based providers [e.g. (Boogaard, Bollen and Dikkers, $2014_{[78]}$; Fuligni et al., $2009_{[79]}$)]. In most countries, further professional development is not mandatory, although some exceptions exist in the Flemish Community of Belgium, Switzerland and some German federal states and Danish municipalities, where the number of mandated professional development hours varies greatly, e.g. (Boogaard, Bollen and Dikkers, $2014_{[78]}$).

Years of work experience do not predict quality of staff-child interactions

Evidence for the links between staff work experience and process quality has been largely inconsistent for centres for children 3 to 6 years old. Staff with more work experience, when compared to staff with less work experience, have demonstrated higher-quality staff-child interactions in Germany and the US (LoCasale-Crouch et al., $2007_{[170]}$; Kuger, Pflieger and Rossbach, $2005_{[171]}$; Kuger et al., $2015_{[120]}$); but also lower quality staff-child interactions in the United States (Connor et al., $2005_{[61]}$; Wilcox-Herzog, $2004_{[172]}$); or no relationship at all between work experience and staff-child interactions in China and the US (Hu et al., $2016a_{[104]}$; Justice et al., $2008_{[124]}$; Philips, Gormley and Lowenstein, $2009_{[148]}$; Pianta et al., $2005_{[31]}$). Cross-country comparison studies have shown similar patterns of mixed findings across countries (Cryer et al., $1999_{[106]}$; Slot, Lerkkanen and Leseman, $2015_{[99]}$).

These mixed results were confirmed by the meta-analysis conducted for this report (see Figure 3.9, (von Suchodoletz et al., 2017_[17])). Specifically, more work experience was not associated with the overall staff-child interactions index (Panel A), but was associated with the combined score of staff emotional, instructional and organisation interactions with the children (Panel B). Because the evidence summarised in this meta-analysis differed in size and direction, within and across countries, there is a possibility that the association between years of experience and staff-child interactions reflect both within-country variation and differences according to countries. However, these results should be considered with caution, given the small number of studies included in the meta-analyses.

Figure 3.9. Inconsistent associations between work experience and staff-child interactions.



Panel A. Using a global score of staff-child interactions.

Panel B. Based on a combined score of staff emotional, instructional, and organisational staff-child interactions.



Note: Effect sizes are depicted as either blue squares for individual studies or grey diamonds for combined results, each with black lines spanning the lower limit and the upper limit of the 95% confidence interval for each estimated effect. Individual studies, labelled here with the information for country of study, author, and the year of study publication, refer to original studies that provided effect size measures entering into each meta-analysis. These measures are then combined into a summary effect size, which is the average association between two variables. See Box 3.1 for more details on how to interpret the charts. *Source:* (von Suchodoletz et al., 2017_[17]).

Moreover, the meta-analysis also demonstrated that higher quality or more exposure to developmental and educational activities for children (as a process indicator) did not depend on staff work experience (Figure 3.10). The meta-analysis also demonstrated that these associations did not vary between studies from the United States and studies conducted outside the United States (i.e. combined across all other countries covered).



Figure 3.10. No evidence of association between staff work experience and provision of development and educational activities.

Note: Effect sizes are depicted as either blue squares for individual studies or grey diamonds for combined results, each with black lines spanning the lower limit and the upper limit of the 95% confidence interval for each estimated effect. Individual studies, labelled here with the information for country of study, author, and the year of study publication, refer to original studies that provided effect size measures entering into each meta-analysis. These measures are then combined into a summary effect size, which is the average association between two variables. See Box 3.1 for more details on how to interpret the charts. *Source:* (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$).

Because working conditions tend to vary, depending on the amount of work experience, these inconsistent findings may mask the role of other relevant structural indicators. For instance, more experienced staff may be faced with a larger child-to-staff ratio (Pianta et al., $2005_{[31]}$) or group of children (Connor et al., $2005_{[61]}$). In centre-based ECEC settings for 2- and 3-year-olds in the Netherlands, having more work experience or more opportunities for professional development appeared to compensate for working with higher child-staff ratios in the classroom (Slot, Lerkkanen and Leseman, 2015). For work experience, the reverse also appeared the case: less experienced staff provided higher curriculum quality in classrooms with a more favourable ratio. Finally, more opportunities for professional development were related to higher quality, but only for more experienced staff, and the opposite was true for less experienced staff. This might reflect the need for more experienced staff, this might reflect that they are less susceptible to professional development activities, as they rely more heavily on the recent training they received.

Another study from the US used a person-centred approach of staff characteristics and staff-child interactions by conducting a latent profile analysis (Jeon, Buettner, & Hur, 2016). Three examined three distinct staff profiles as a combination of work experience, attitudes towards the work and staff-child interactions (Jeon, Buettnet and Hur, $2016_{[173]}$). The first profile showed the highest process quality (as measured with the CLASS) and concerned teachers with more work experience and mixed job attitudes (i.e. strong job commitment, but also slightly higher work stress). The other two profiles concerned staff with less work experience and either more positive work attitudes or less positive attitudes, but both profiles showed lower quality than the first profile. The profile with the highest quality showed higher QRIS ratings and more favourable child-staff ratios; staff

pay was also higher and the director was more likely to have a specialised ECE background.

For centres for children under the age of 3, the evidence for the relationship between working experience and staff-child interactions tended to be more consistent, and no negative associations were reported. Staff with more work experience in class- or playrooms for children under 3 demonstrated higher-quality staff-child interactions in the United States and the Netherlands (Jamison et al., $2014_{[65]}$; King et al., $2016_{[74]}$; Phillipsen et al., $1997_{[101]}$; Slot et al., $2017a_{[36]}$; Vogel et al., $2015a_{[66]}$).

Effects of work experience on process quality may be restricted to some subdomains of process quality and to some age groups, but the evidence is thus far inconclusive. For example, in the Netherlands and in the United States, work experience was only related to staff support for children's development (King et al., $2016_{[74]}$; Slot et al., $2017a_{[36]}$). In the Flemish Community of Belgium and in other US evidence, associations between staff work experience and process quality were documented only for emotional support, and in Flanders only for infant groups (Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$; Vogel et al., $2015a_{[66]}$). At the same time, two Portuguese and other US studies revealed no significant associations between staff work experience and staff-child interactions (Barros et al., $2016_{[39]}$; Castle et al., $2016_{[153]}$; Pessanha, Aguiar and Bairrão, $2007_{[113]}$; Vogel et al., $2015b_{[67]}$).

The evidence for the effect of work experience in family daycare settings is inconclusive

Just as with the evidence for centres for children between 3 and 6, the evidence concerning staff work experience in family daycare settings and relations with process quality is mixed. Several studies reported no associations between work experience and staff-child interactions in the United States (Burchinal, Howes and Kontos, $2002_{[76]}$; Colwell et al., $2013_{[116]}$), and specifically for infant groups in the Flemish Community of Belgium (Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$). However, for toddler groups in Flemish Belgium, staff work experience showed negative relations with process quality, but only for providers affiliated with a professional organisation that mediates between the parents and the home-care provider, handles administration and financial issues and provides support for ongoing professional development. More specifically, affiliated providers with more work experience demonstrated lower levels of emotional support for infants and support for children's development and learning for toddlers than affiliated providers with less work experience (Vandenbroeck et al., $2018_{[29]}$).

Preliminary evidence suggests that staff well-being is related to higher-quality staff-child interactions

For centres for children 3 to 6 years old, one US study looked into various dimensions of staff-reported well-being, and found that staff who reported depression and burnout demonstrated lower process quality. It also found that staff with higher positive affect, an indicator of well-being, demonstrated higher-quality staff-child interactions (Jennings, $2015_{[174]}$). However, in a Finnish study, there were no associations between staff stress and observed staff-child interactions (Pakarinen et al., $2010_{[92]}$).

For centres for children under the age of 3, in the United States, staff with higher levels of well-being² demonstrated higher emotional support in the class- or playroom (Cassidy et al., $2017_{[175]}$); and staff with higher reported job satisfaction and a lack of depressive symptoms demonstrated higher-quality staff-child interactions (Vogel et al., $2015a_{[66]}$).

Higher salaries are associated with higher quality in a few cases

While working conditions for ECEC staff have not been studied, there is some evidence that staff earning higher salaries provided higher-quality staff-child interactions in China (Hu et al., $2016a_{[104]}$) and the US (Cryer et al., $1999_{[106]}$; Pianta et al., $2005_{[31]}$), but not in Germany or Spain (Cryer et al., $1999_{[106]}$).

The strength of this association varied greatly, and probably depended on other associated factors. In China, staff earning higher salaries were much more likely to demonstrate higher process quality (Hu et al., $2016a_{[104]}$) than in the United States (Pianta et al., $2005_{[31]}$) However, it is important to note that in China, the staff whose salaries were higher had higher levels of qualification and more often worked in public settings (with better resources), and in classrooms with more favourable child-staff ratios. In the United States, staff earning higher salaries also had higher levels of qualification, but there was no association with child-staff ratios.

Salaries may also work differently across the staff ECEC categories. In Portugal, higher ECEC leader salaries, but not staff salaries, were related to staff-child interactions whereas in the United States, higher staff salaries, but not leader salaries, were related to staff-child interactions (Cryer et al., 1999_[106]).

For centres for children under the age of 3 years, preliminary evidence from Portugal indicates that staff earning higher salaries offer higher process quality (as measured by the ITERS; (Pessanha, Aguiar and Bairrão, 2007_[113]).

No studies were reported for family daycare settings.

Organisational climate seems to be associated with the quality of staff-child interactions

To date, only a few studies have examined the association between organisational characteristics of ECEC centres and process quality. Preliminary evidence shows that centres for children aged 3 to 5 with a better organisational climate, i.e. more team collaboration and cohesion, demonstrate higher quality of staff-child interactions in general (Bloom and Bella, $2005_{[176]}$; Bloom and Sheerer, $1992_{[177]}$; Sylva et al., $2004_{[13]}$), and higher language support in particular, as measured by the ECERS-R, (Lower and Cassidy, $2007_{[178]}$), than centres with a less optimal organisational climate.

In a couple of studies, the relationship between organisational climate and quality has been found to be even stronger than other classroom characteristics, such as child-staff ratio (Biersteker et al., $2016_{[154]}$; Dennis and O'Connor, $2013_{[179]}$); Dennis and O'Connor, 2013), as well as staff characteristics, including qualifications and work experience (Biersteker et al., $2016_{[154]}$).

Organisational climate is also associated with other centre characteristics. For instance, in smaller organisations, rather than large organisations, staff perceived more autonomy and support to show leadership, exchanged their visions with colleagues more often, and reported more opportunities for participating in decision-making in curriculum-related issues (Ho, Lee and Teng, $2016_{[180]}$).

For centres for children under the age of 3, a study from South Africa showed that organisational quality was the strongest predictor of overall process quality (as measured by the ITERS), above and beyond staff characteristics and classroom features, as was the case with the centres for children aged 3 to 5 (Biersteker et al., $2016_{[154]}$).

Other aspects of centre organisational characteristics examined for under-3s include affiliations with a professional organisation. In the United States, centres that were affiliated with a professional organisation provided higher-quality staff-child interactions than centres with no affiliation (Thomason and La Paro, $2009_{[38]}$).

Some research suggests that networking may play an important role in the quality of staff-child interactions in family daycare settings

Opportunities for networking or collaborating with other family daycare providers seem to be associated with higher-quality staff-child interactions. In Canada, informal networking was a predictor of better staff-child interactions, although organised networking with other providers was not related to quality (Doherty et al., $2006_{[132]}$). The benefits associated with these mechanisms of quality, particularly opportunities for collaboration and networking, may be specific to family daycare settings, given the small number of staff and children in each provision (see Box 3.2).

Box 3.2. Organisation of networking in family daycare settings

In most countries, family-care providers work independently from their own home, with limited opportunities for collaboration or networking with other providers. In some European countries, providers jointly take care of children at the same location. For instance, in France, some federal states in Germany and in the United Kingdom, family-care providers are allowed to collaborate and jointly take care of larger groups of children (Boogaard, Bollen and Dikkers, 2014_[78]). In Denmark, family-care providers living in the same neighbourhood organise themselves in so-called "playroom groups", and have regular meetings where children can play together and also organise activities, such as music, movement or dance, as well as outings for the whole group of children.

Notes

1. One potential explanation for this mixed pattern of results is that while one study investigated whether staff had a Child Development Associates credential in ECEC (Vogel et al., $2015a_{[66]}$), the other study included staff with a BA degree as well, which appeared to predict educational process quality (Vogel et al., $2015b_{[67]}$).

2. In this study, well-being was operationalised as the perception of wage fairness in comparison to others in their organisation and other staff in the profession, and staff perceived autonomy in hiring (Cassidy et al., $2017_{[175]}$).

References

Abreu-Lima, I. et al. (2013), "Predicting child outcomes from preschool quality in Portugal", <i>European Journal of Psychology of Education</i> , Vol. 28/2, pp. 399-420, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10212-012-0120-y</u> .	[19]
Anders, Y. (2015), <i>Literature review on pedagogy in OECD countries</i> , OECD, Paris, <u>http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=EDU/EDPC/E</u> <u>CEC%282015%297&docLanguage=En</u> .	[20]
Barros, S. and T. Leal (2011), "Dimensões da qualidade das salas de creche do distrito do Porto (Quality dimensions of day care classrooms in the district of Porto)", <i>Revista</i> <i>Galego-Portuguesa de Psicoloxía e Educación</i> , Vol. 9/2, pp. 117-132.	[24]
Barros, S. et al. (2016), "Infant child care in Portugal: Associations with structural characteristics", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 37/1, pp. 118-130, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2016.05.003</u> .	[41]
Bauchmüller, R., M. Grøtz and A. Rasmussen (2014), "Long-run benefits from universal high-quality preschooling", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 29/4, pp. 457-470, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2014.05.009</u> .	[34]
Biersteker, L. et al. (2016), "Center-based early childhood care and education program quality: A South- African study", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 36, pp. 334-344, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2016.01.004</u> .	[50]
Bigras, N. et al. (2010), "A comparative study of structural and process quality in center- based and family-based child care services", <i>Child Youth Care Forum</i> , Vol. 39/3, pp. 129-150, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10566-009-9088-4</u> .	[12]
Bloom, P. and M. Sheerer (1992), "The effect of leadership training on child care program quality", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 7/4, pp. 579-594, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0885-2006(92)90112-C</u> .	[84]
Bloom, P. and J. Bella (2005), "Investment in leadership training: The payoff for early childhood education", <i>YC Young Children</i> , Vol. 60/1, <u>http://newhorizonsbooks.net/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Investment-in-Leadership-Training-The-Payoff-for-ECE.pdf</u> ,	[83]

pp. 32-40.

Boogaard, M., I. Bollen and L. Dikkers (2014), <i>Gastouderopvang in West-Europese</i> landen- Een inventarisatie van best practices voor organisatie, toezicht, handhaving en kwaliteit in zes West-Europese landen (Host parent care in Western European countries-An inventory of best practices for organization), Kohnstamm Instituut, Amsterdam, <u>http://www.kohnstamminstituut.uva.nl/assets/ki922.pdf</u> (accessed on 24 september 2017).	[56]
Britto, P., H. Yoshikawa and K. Boller (2011), "Quality of early childhood development programs and policies in global contexts: Rationale for investment, conceptual framework and implications for equity", <i>Social Policy Report</i> , Vol. 25/2, pp. 1-31.	[1]
Bromer, J. and J. Korfmacher (2017), "Providing high-quality support services to home- based child care: A conceptual model and literature review", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 28/6, pp. 745-772, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2016.1256720</u> .	[72]
Burchinal, M., C. Howes and S. Kontos (2002), "Structural predictors of child care quality in child care homes", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 17/1, pp. 87-105, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(02)00132-1</u> .	[70]
Burchinal, M. et al. (2002), "Caregiver training and classroom quality in child care centers", <i>Applied Developmental Science</i> , Vol. 6/1, pp. 2-11, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/S1532480XADS0601_01</u> .	[64]
Cassidy, D. et al. (2017), "Teacher work environments are toddler learning environments: Teacher professional well-being, classroom emotional support, and toddlers' emotional expressions and behaviors", <i>Early Child Development and Care</i> , Vol. 187/11, pp. 1666- 1678, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2016.1180516</u> .	[82]
Castle, S. et al. (2016), "Teacher-child interactions in early Head Start classrooms: Associations with teacher characteristics", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 27/2, pp. 259-274, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2016.1102017</u> .	[42]
Coley, R. et al. (2016), "Comparing public, private, and informal preschool programs in a national sample of low-income children", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 36, pp. 91-105, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2015.11.002</u> .	[13]
Colwell, N. et al. (2013), "New evidence on the validity of the Arnett Caregiver Interaction Scale: Results from the early childhood longitudinal study-birth cohort", <i>Early</i> <i>Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 28/2, pp. 218-233, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2012.12.004</u> .	[51]
Connor, C. et al. (2005), "Teacher qualifications, classroom practices, family characteristics, and preschool experience: Complex effects on first graders' vocabulary and early reading outcomes", <i>Journal of School Psychology</i> , Vol. 43/4, pp. 343-375, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2005.06.001.</u>	[38]
Cryer, D. et al. (1999), "Predicting process quality from stuctural quality in preschool programs: A cross-country comparison", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 14/3, pp. 339-361, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(99)00017-4</u> .	[32]

Dennis, S. and E. O'Connor (2013), "Reexamining quality in early childhood education: Exploring the relationship between the organizational climate and the classroom process quality", <i>Journal of Research in Childhood Education</i> , Vol. 27/1, pp. 74-92, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2012.739589</u> .	[86]
Doherty, G. et al. (2006), "Predictors of quality in family child care", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 21/3, pp. 296-312, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2006.07.006</u> .	[52]
Early, D. et al. (2006), "Are teachers' education, major, and credentials related to classroom quality and children's academic gains in pre-kindergarten?", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 21/2, pp. 174-195, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01014.x</u> .	[31]
Early, D. et al. (2007), "Teachers' education, classroom quality, and young children's academic skills: Results from seven studies of preschool programs", <i>Child Development</i> , Vol. 78/2, pp. 558-580, <u>http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01014.x</u> .	[2]
Egert, F. (2015), <i>Meta-analysis on the impact of in-service professionals development programs for preschool teachers on quality ratings and child outcomes</i> , doctoral dissertation, Bamberg, Germany.	[62]
Eurofound (ed.) (2015), <i>Early childhood care: working conditions, training and quality of</i> <i>services – A systematic review</i> , Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2806/69399</u> .	[67]
Falenchuk, O. et al. (2017), "Education of staff in preschool aged classrooms in child care centers and child outcomes: A meta-analysis and systematic review", <i>PLoS ONE</i> , Vol. 12/8, pp. 1-33, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183673</u> .	[39]
Fontaine, N. et al. (2006), "Increasing quality in early care and learning environments", <i>Early Child Development and Care</i> , Vol. 176/2, pp. 157-169, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/0300443042000302690</u> .	[5]
Fukkink, R. and A. Lont (2007), "Does training matter? A meta-analysis and review of caregiver training studies", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 22, pp. 294-311, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2007.04.005</u> .	[57]
Fuligni, A. et al. (2009), "Diverse pathways in early childhood professional development: An exploration of early educators in public preschools, private preschools, and family child care homes", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 20/3, pp. 507-526, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409280902783483</u> .	[14]
Groeneveld, M. et al. (2010), "Children's wellbeing and cortisol levels in home-based and center-based childcare", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 25/4, pp. 502-514, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2009.12.004</u> .	[15]
Groeneveld, M. et al. (2011), "Enhancing home-based child care quality through video- feedback intervention: A randomized controlled trial", <i>Journal of Family Psychology</i> , Vol. 25/1, pp. 86-96.	[73]

- Guo, Y. et al. (2010), "Relations among preschool teachers' self-efficacy, classroom [25] quality, and children's language and literacy gains", *Teacher and Teacher Education*, Vol. 26/4, pp. 1094-1103, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2009.11.005</u>.
- Hallam, R., K. Bargreen and R. Ridgley (2013), "Quality in family child care settings: The relationship between provider educational experiences and global quality scores in a statewide quality rating and improvement system", *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, Vol. 27/4, pp. 393-406, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2013.822950.
- Hamre, B. et al. (2012), "A course on effective teacher-child interactions: Effects on teacher beliefs, knowledge, and observed practice", *American Educational Research Journal*, Vol. 49/1, pp. 88-123, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3102/0002831211434596</u>.
- Ho, D., M. Lee and Y. Teng (2016), "Size matters: The link between staff size and perceived organizational support in early childhood education", *International Journal of Educational Management*, Vol. 30/6, pp. 1104-1122, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-09-2015-0125</u>.
- Howes, C. et al. (2008), "Ready to learn? Children's pre-academic achievement in pre-Kindergarten programs", *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, Vol. 23/1, pp. 27-50, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresg.2007.05.002.
- Hu, B. et al. (2016a), "Predictors of Chinese early childhood program quality: Implications ^[17] for policies", *Children and Youth Services Review*, Vol. 70, pp. 152-162, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2016.09.013</u>.
- Hulpia, H. et al. (2016), *MeMoQ Deelrapport 10. Emotionele en educatieve ondersteuning* ^[43] *in de nulmeting*, Kind en Gezin, Ugent, KU Leuven.
- Huntsman, L., Determinants of quality in child care: A review of the research evidence,
 Centre for Parenting and Research, Ashfield, NSW,
 http://www.community.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/321617/research_qualit
 ychildcare.pdf
- Ishimine, K. and C. Tayler (2012), "Family day care and the national quality framework: Issues in improving quality of service", *International Journal of Child Care and Education Policy*, Vol. 6/1, pp. 45-61, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/2288-6729-6-1-45.
- Jamison, K. et al. (2014), "CLASS-Infant: An observational measure for assessing teacherinfant interactions in center-based child care", *Early Education and Development*, Vol. 25/4, pp. 553-572, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2013.822239</u>.
- Jennings, P. (2015), "Early childhood teachers' well-being, mindfulness, and selfcompassion in relation to classroom quality and attitudes towards challenging students", *Mindfulness*, Vol. 6/4, pp. 732-743, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12671-014-0312-4</u>.
- Jensen, P. and A. Rasmussen (2015), *Does Professional Development of Preschool* ^[69] *Teachers Improve Child Socio-Emotional Outcomes?*, IZA Discussion Paper No. 8957.

Jeon, L., E. Buettnet and E. Hur (2016), "Preschool Teachers' Professional Background, Process Quality, and Job Attitudes: A Person-Centered Approach", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 27/4, pp. 551-571, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2016.1099354</u> .	[78]
Justice, L. et al. (2008), "Quality of language and literacy instruction in preschool classrooms serving at-risk pupils", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 23/1, pp. 51-68, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2007.09.004</u> .	[30]
King, E. et al. (2016), "Classroom quality in infant and toddler classrooms: impact of age and programme type", <i>Early Child Development and Care</i> , Vol. 186/11, pp. 1821-1835, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2015.1134521</u> .	[44]
Kuger, S., K. Pflieger and H. Rossbach (2005), <i>Familieneinschätzskala Forschungsversion [Family rating scale, research version]</i> , University of Bamberg, Bamberg, Germany.	[75]
Kuger, S. et al. (2015), "Stability and patterns of classroom quality in German early childhood education and care", <i>An International Journal of Research, Policy, and Practice</i> , Vol. 27/3, pp. 418-440, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2015.1112815</u> .	[76]
Litjens, I. and M. Taguma (2010), <i>Literature overview for the 7th meeting of the OECD</i> <i>network on early childhood education and care</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=EDU/EDPC/E</u> <u>CEC(2010)3/REV1&doclanguage=en</u> .	[3]
LoCasale-Crouch, J. et al. (2007), "Observed classroom quality profiles in state-funded pre-kindergarten programs and associations with teacher, program, and classroom characteristics", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 22/1, pp. 3-17, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2006.05.001</u> .	[74]
LoCassale-Crouch, J. et al. (2011), "Implementing an early childhood professional development course across 10 sites and 15 sections: Lessons learned", <i>NHSA Dialog: A Research-to-Practice Journal for the Early Childhood Field</i> , Vol. 14/4, pp. 275-292, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15240754.2011.617527</u> .	[59]
Lower, J. and D. Cassidy (2007), "Child care work environments: The Relationship with learning environments", <i>Journal of Research in Childhood Education</i> , Vol. 22/2, pp. 189-204, <u>http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.1080/02568540709594621</u> .	[85]
Manlove, E. and J. Guzell (1997), "Intention to Leave, Anticipated Reasons for Leaving, and I2-Month Turnover of Child Care Center Staff", <i>Early Childhood Research</i> <i>Quarterly</i> , Vol. 12, <u>http://10.1016/S0885-2006(97)90010-7</u> (accessed on 02 February 2018), pp. 145-167.	[10]
Manning, M. et al. (2017), "The relationship between teacher qualification and the quality of the early childhood education and care environment", <i>Campbell Systematic Reviews</i> , Vol. 1, pp. 1-82, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4073/csr.2017.1</u> .	[40]
Markussen-Brown, J. et al. (2017), "The effects of language- and literacy focused professional development on early educators and children: A best-evidence meta- analysis", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 38, pp. 97-115, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresg.2016.07.002.	[63]

Mashburn, A. et al. (2008), "Measures of classroom quality in prekindergarten and children's development of academic, language, and social skills", <i>Child Development</i> , Vol. 79/3, pp. 732-749, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2008.01154.x</u> .	[37]
McGinty, A. et al. (2012), "Does context matter? Explicit print instruction during reading varies in its influence by child and classroom factors", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 27/1, pp. 77-89, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2011.05.002</u> .	[22]
Montie, J., Z. Xiang and L. Schweinhart (2006), "Preschool experience in 10 countries: Cognitive and language performance at age 7", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 21/3, pp. 313-331, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2006.07.007</u> .	[35]
Moon, J. and J. Burbank (2004), "The Early Childhood Education Career and Wage Ladder: A Model for Improving Quality in Early Learning and Care Programs", <u>http://www.eoionline.org</u> (accessed on 02 February 2018).	[8]
Murnane, R. et al. (1990), "The effects of salaries and opportunity costs on length of stay in teaching: Evidence from North Carolina", <i>Journal of Human Resources</i> , Vol. 25/1, <u>https://econpapers.repec.org/article/uwpjhriss/v_3a25_3ay_3a1990_3ai_3a1_3ap_3a106</u> <u>-124.htm</u> (accessed on 02 February 2018), pp. 106-124.	[9]
OECD (2017d), <i>Education at a Glance 2017: OECD Indicators</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/eag-2017-en</u> .	[11]
Pakarinen, E. et al. (2010), "Classroom organization and teacher stress predict learning motivation in kindergarten children", <i>European Journal of Psychology of Education</i> , Vol. 25/3, pp. 281-300, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10212-010-0025-6</u> .	[81]
Pessanha, M., C. Aguiar and J. Bairrão (2007), "Influence of structural features on Portuguese toddler child care quality", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 22, pp. 204-214, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2007.02.003</u> .	[79]
Philips, D. et al. (2000), "Within and beyond the classroom door: Assessing quality in child care centers", <i>Early Childhoof Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 15/4, pp. 475-496, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(01)00077-1</u> .	[61]
Philips, D., W. Gormley and A. Lowenstein (2009), "Inside the pre-kindergarten door: Classroom climate and instructional time allocation in Tulsa's pre-K programs", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 24, pp. 213-228, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2009.05.002</u> .	[29]
Phillipsen, L. et al. (1997), "The prediction of process quality from structural features of child care", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 12, pp. 281-303, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(97)90004-1</u> .	[4]
Pianta, R. et al. (2005), "Features of Pre-Kindergarten programs, classrooms, and teachers: Do they predict observed classroom quality and child-teacher interactions?", <i>Applied Developmental Science</i> , Vol. 9/3, pp. 144-159.	[26]
Raikes, H., H. Raikes and B. Wilcox (2005), "Regulation, subsidy receipt and provide characteristics: What predicts quality in child care homes?", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 20/2, pp. 164-184, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2005.04.006</u> .	[53]

Schaack, D., V. Le and C. Setodji (2017), "Home-based child care provider education and specialized training: Associations with caregiving quality and toddler social-emotional and cognitive outcomes", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 28/6, pp. 655-668, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2017.1321927</u> .	[54]
Siraj-Blatchford, I. et al. (2005), "Technical Paper 10 "Intensive Case Studies of Practice Across Foundation Stage"", <u>http://www.leeds.ac.uk/educol/documents/00003934.htm</u> (accessed on 19 February 2018).	[65]
Slot, P. et al. (2015), "Associations between structural quality aspects and process quality in Dutch early childhood education and care settings", <i>Early Childhood Research</i> <i>Quarterly</i> , Vol. 33, pp. 64-76, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2015.06.001</u> .	[45]
Slot, P., M. Lerkkanen and P. Leseman (2015), <i>The relations between structural quality</i> <i>and process quality in European early childhood education and care provisions:</i> <i>Secondary data analyses of large scale studies in five countries</i> , CARE, <u>http://ecec- care.org/fileadmin/careproject/Publications/reports/CARE_WP2_D2_2_Secondary_dat</u> <u>a_analyses.pdf</u> .	[33]
Slot, P. (2017), Literature review on Early Childhood Education and Care quality: Relations between structural characteristics at different levels and process quality, Internal document, OECD, Paris.	[6]
Slot, P. et al. (2017a), "Measurement properties of the CLASS Toddler in ECEC in the Netherlands", <i>Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology</i> , Vol. 48, pp. 79-91, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2016.11.008</u> .	[68]
Slot, P. et al. (2017b), <i>Structural and Process Quality of Danish Preschools: Direct and Indirect Associations with Children's Growth in Language and Pre-Literacy Skills</i> , Revision submitted for publication.	[27]
Strasser, K. and M. Lissi (2009), "Home and instruction effects on emergent literacy in a sample of Chilean kindergarten children", <i>Scientific Studies of Reading</i> , Vol. 13/2, pp. 175-204, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10888430902769525</u> .	[23]
Sylva, K. et al. (2004), The Effective Provision of Pre-school Education (EPPE) project: Final Report - A longitudinal study funded by the DfES 1997-2004, Institute of Education, University of London/ Department for Education and Skills/ Sure Start, London.	[36]
Thomason, A. and K. La Paro (2009), "Measuring the quality of teacher–child interactions in toddler child care", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 20, pp. 285-304, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409280902773351</u> .	[46]
Vandenbroeck, M. et al. (2018), <i>Quality in family child care providers: A study of variations in process quality of home-based childcare</i> , Submitted for publication in European Early Childhood Education Journal.	[55]
Vogel, C. et al. (2015a), <i>Toddlers in early Head Start: A portrait of 2-years-olds, their families, and the program serving them</i> , Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, DC.	[47]

Vogel, C. et al. (2015b), <i>Toddlers in early Head Start: A portrait of 3-years-olds, their families, and the program serving them</i> , Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, DC.	[48]
von Suchodoletz, A. et al. (2017), "Associations among quality indicators in early childhood education and care (ECEC) and relations with child development and learning: A meta-analysis", Internal document, OECD, Paris.	[18]
Wilcox-Herzog, A. (2004), "Action speak louder than words: How experience and education relate to teachers' behaviour", <i>Journal of Early Childhood Teacher</i> <i>Education</i> , Vol. 25, pp. 11-18, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1090102040250104</u> .	[77]
Zaslow, M. et al. (2004), "The role of professional development in creating high quality preschool education", <i>Welfare Reform & Beyond Working Paper</i> , <u>https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/200411Zaslow.pdf</u> (accessed on 19 February 2018).	[66]
Zaslow, M. and I. Martinex-Beck (eds.) (2006), <i>Quality and qualifications: Links between professional development and quality in early care and education settings</i> , Brookes Publishing, Baltimore, MD.	[28]
Zaslow, M. et al. (2010), <i>Quality, dosage, thresholds, and features in early childhood settings: A review of the literature</i> , Mathematica Policy Research, Washington, DC.	[60]

Chapter 4. Data and monitoring to improve quality in early childhood education and care

Data and monitoring can be a powerful lever to encourage quality in early childhood education and care (ECEC) by establishing facts, trends and evidence about whether children have equitable access to high-quality ECEC, as well as to inform of measures to achieve improvements. This chapter provides a review of findings on one single feature of data and monitoring systems, i.e. Quality Rating Improvement Systems or QRIS, and its relationship with to process quality and child outcomes. Overall, the implementation of quality monitoring and rating improvement systems was associated with better staff-child interactions, in particular for centres for children aged 3 to 5 and for children aged 0 to 2. The associations and applicability of the QRIS for family daycare settings are more uncertain. There are also mixed findings on whether the use of QRIS is associated with higher levels of children's development and learning.

Introduction

Data and monitoring can be a powerful lever for encouraging quality in early childhood education and care (ECEC), by establishing facts, trends and evidence about whether children have equitable access to high-quality ECEC, as shown in the *Starting Strong IV* report (OECD, 2015_[5]). Monitoring is understood as the process of systematically tracking aspects of ECEC services, staff, child development and curriculum implementation, with a view to data collection, accountability, enhancing effectiveness or quality (OECD, $2015_{[5]}$). For example, research suggests that monitoring can help inform planning, contribute to more efficient resource allocation and increase cost-effectiveness (Bennett, $2002_{[181]}$).

In ECEC, the expansion of evidence has played a key role in explaining the success or failure of ECEC programmes, prioritising important areas for ECEC investment and informing ECEC practices through evidence. Gaining an understanding of the performance of ECEC systems through monitoring is important not only for purposes of accountability, but also for policy design and implementation, as well as for informing parents about the level of quality being offered (Levitt, Janta and Wegrich, $2008_{[182]}$). Most importantly, monitoring quality can play a key role in determining whether and how provision of ECEC is supporting children's development and well-being – and what can be done to improve it.

Several studies have found that the collection and monitoring of quality data can lead to increased programme quality, as reflected in the adoption of higher standards, improved classroom environment ratings and teachers with a higher level of credentials (Office of Child Development and Early Learning, 2010_[183]; Zellman et al., 2008_[184]). For example, in New Jersey (United States) the introduction of a quality rating score for ECEC centres allowed practitioners and management to improve their practices, and positive differences were also observed in children's literacy skills (Frede et al., 2007_[185]; 2009_[186]).

Monitoring curriculum implementation may offer insights into what can be improved in curriculum and pedagogical practices, or training for curriculum, which can then enhance quality and child outcomes. Furthermore, family satisfaction is often monitored in surveys. Monitoring such aspects of ECEC helps create a greater understanding of what constitutes quality ECEC (OECD, 2015_[5]).

A careful selection of indicators can help improve programmes and the workforce, increase access (especially in underserved communities), and improve practice and child outcomes (Early Childhood Data Collaborative, 2011). Information on structure and process indicators contributes to increased knowledge about the level of quality provision; while information on the demographic and background characteristics of children served can be included in data systems to determine programme effects on target groups and the current state of play of ECEC.

Monitoring quality and measuring effectiveness can be a daunting challenge (OECD, $2015_{[5]}$). Data collection requires the capability to co-ordinate a strategic collection of data and maintain high standards of reliability over time across multiple data collectors and geographical regions (Zaslow et al., $2010_{[160]}$). In turn, unco-ordinated efforts of documentation make it difficult to manage trade-offs in policy development, and understand how workforce policies or professional development investments are related to children's learning and development. For example, a United States review of ECEC data systems reveals that, while states are collecting a lot of early education-related data, their efforts are often uncoordinated. US states also struggle to determine which children

are simultaneously enrolled in multiple ECEC programmes. This can lead to duplication of services and present obstacles for the co-ordination of the efforts of ECEC programmes working with the same children (Early Childhood Data Collaborative, 2011).

Many countries monitor the service quality of ECEC settings using external evaluation practices and tools (e.g. inspections using rating scales, or surveys and questionnaires with checklists) or internal evaluation practices and tools (e.g. self-assessments with evaluation reports or portfolios) (OECD, $2015_{[5]}$). Studies have been conducted, mainly in the United Kingdom and the United States, on the impact certain monitoring tools have had on the quality of ECEC services; but it is often challenging to separate and identify the impact of a single tool or method. In addition, there is very little research on whether one monitoring instrument for ECEC used in a given country or context would result in similar findings or effects in other countries. In general, further research is necessary to create a better understanding of the impact of certain tools or instruments, and whether they are valid and effective.

An analysis of the areas monitored in process quality in different jurisdictions (OECD, $2015_{[5]}$) shows that they assess relationships and interactions between staff and children; collaboration between staff and parents; collaboration between colleagues (ECEC staff); sensitivity (refers to child-responsive actions and practices); responsiveness to children's individual needs; age-appropriateness of practices; pedagogy (the ECEC staff's methods of teaching and care of the ECEC staff) and the implementation of curriculum.

Summary of findings

The only feature of data and monitoring systems examined in the literature is the use of Quality Rating Improvement Systems, or QRIS (see Box 4.1). No other associations between indicators of monitoring and assessing and staff-child interactions were reported in the literature review.

Box 4.1. Quality rating and improvement systems in the United States

Quality rating and improvement systems (QRIS) are used in many countries. The majority focus on basic standards concerning structural characteristics, such as staff qualifications, group size or ratio; and other examine aspects of curriculum, process quality or child outcomes. In the United States, the stated goals of a QRIS are generally to improve ECEC quality to enhance children's development, well-being and learning. QRIS are defined at the state level, and participation is on a voluntary basis. Most QRIS in the United States include the following elements: *i*) quality standards; *ii*) accountability measures (monitoring or assigning ratings); *iii*) support for providers in quality improvement; *iv*) financial incentives; and *v*) dissemination of ratings to inform parents or other stakeholders, e.g. (Boller et al., $2015_{[187]}$; Zellman and Perlman, $2008_{[188]}$).

Overall, the implementation of quality monitoring and rating improvement systems was associated with higher-quality staff-child interactions across all settings. It is important to note that for family daycare, QRIS seem to be particularly important in supporting staff with lower pre-service qualifications to achieve higher quality, as illustrated in one of the studies reported below.

However, the literature review also noted that monitoring and rating systems provided only rough indicators of quality; i.e. the QRIS seemed to be most accurate in distinguishing between low levels and high levels of quality, rather than useful for making more fine-grained quality assessments (Slot, 2017_[16]). One exception is when QRIS systems are designed based on other valid observation measures of quality, such as the Environment Rating Scale (ERS), and applied to scale for monitoring purposes. In these cases, there is stronger alignment between the QRIS and process quality measures.

Links between QRIS and children's development and learning are mixed, with some studies finding significant associations between QRIS ratings and children's developmental outcomes, and others not finding linkages.

Finally, and although many countries now have quality monitoring systems in place (see (OECD, $2015_{[5]}$) for a comprehensive overview), the majority of the research is from the US, and restricted to state-level QRIS systems that are voluntary. There may be thus considerable self-selection of relatively higher-quality centres into these studies that are not representative of the average quality prevalent in the state or country.

This chapter provides an overview of the evidence linking structural mechanisms in data and monitoring to staff-child interactions as well as child development, learning and wellbeing. To build a solid knowledge base on this theme, it draws on a literature review and meta-analysis that update conceptual knowledge and empirical evidence base for the strength of these associations, while keeping a cross-national focus. The chapter first summarises these two pieces of research, and examines the importance of these mechanisms for process quality in ECEC. Each mechanism is considered in turn, integrating the evidence for centres for children aged 3 to 5, centres for children under the age of 3, and finally family daycare settings. Finally, the chapter examines the evidence for the links between quality mechanisms and child development, learning and wellbeing.

What does research tell us about the importance of data and monitoring for staffchild interactions in early childhood education and care?

Quality rating and improvement systems (QRIS) are associated with higherquality staff-child interactions in centres for 3- to 6-year-olds

In US centres for children aged 3 to 5, staff participating in QRIS demonstrated higher emotional and instructional support, as well as better language and literacy environment and curriculum, than centres not participating in QRIS (Jeon, Buettner and Hur, $2014_{[189]}$). A recent review of studies that investigated the use of QRIS in the United States showed that overall, there appear to be associations between higher QRIS ratings and alternative measures of quality that were usually based on the environmental rating scale and sometimes the CLASS (Karoly et al., $2016_{[190]}$). Some correlations were reported for all eight studies, but the magnitude of the associations appeared weak. In another recent overview (Tout et al., $2017_{[191]}$) analysing findings from 10 validation studies examining quality ratings of ECE programmes participating in state QRIS, the results were the same, i.e. QRIS ratings appear to be a helpful tool for state early childhood systems to differentiate programmes at lower and higher levels of quality. Overall, QRIS ratings reflect differences in environments, interactions, and activities between ECE programmes at higher and lower rating levels. Although statistically significant, the differences in observed quality scores between QRIS rating levels were generally small. Findings for family daycare programmes had mixed results.

Evidence of the association between participation in a QRIS and process quality has also been demonstrated by intervention studies. In a US randomised controlled trial in which the intervention group was provided with grants and funding for quality improvement and professional development, as well as on-site coaching, the intervention group showed improvements in the quality of staff-child interactions, when compared to the control group (Boller et al., 2015_[187]).

Other US studies have examined specifically the importance of star ratings or quality levels in determining process quality. In these studies, the existing state-level QRIS implementation was related to process guality, as observed with commonly used measures, such as the ECERS, CLASS Pre-K or Caregiver Interaction Scale (CIS), although it mainly distinguished the lowest quality centres from the highest quality centres; i.e. there were no differences across other star or quality levels (Hestenes et al., 2015_[192]; Lahti et al., 2015_[70]; Lipscomb et al., 2017_[193]). In studying which staff profiles were more conducive to higher process quality, there is some indication that the director's qualifications, rather than the qualifications of classroom staff, were related to higher process quality (Lipscomb et al., 2017[193]). In Australia and China, similar relations between the use of ORIS and process guality were observed. In Australian centres, ratings on the Ouality Improvement and Accreditation System were moderately associated with process quality, as measured by the Infant/Toddler Environment Rating Scale (ITERS) or Early Childhood Environment Rating Scale (ECERS) (Fenech, Sweller and Harrison, $2010_{[68]}$), particularly for centres providing the lowest quality. In China, quality levels as determined by the QRIS were related with observed process quality (using the ECERS), but these did not distinguish between centres at the lowest levels of quality in one study (Hu, Vong and Mak, 2015[194]) and at the highest levels of process quality in another (Pan, Liu and Lau, 2010[195]).

A study conducted by the Rand Corporation (Zellman and Perlman, 2008[188]) assesses the validity of a QRTIS as a tool for improving child care quality. The QRIS assessed was implemented in 1999, was one of the first of its kind and was created by Qualistar Early Learning, a Colorado (United States) based non-profit organisation. The rating system includes components generally agreed to contribute to high-quality care: classroom environment, child-staff ratios, staff and director training and education, parent involvement and accreditation. The study found that among providers using the QRIS, service quality did improve over time. However, it is not possible to unequivocally attribute improvements to the ORIS: improvements could have been a response to being monitored, for example. Difficulties in measuring the effect of this particular intervention include participant self-selection, the lack of a comparison group and limited data on the implementation of the intervention. The study notes the importance of validating a tool such as the QRIS, particularly as it is sometimes linked to rewarding higher-quality services with, for example, higher per-child subsidies. Tout et al. (2009[196]) find that while QRIS potentially serve as a hub for quality improvement, attaining this goal requires extensive co-ordination across agencies, services and data systems.

QRIS also seem to support staff-child interactions in centres for the youngest children

Regarding centres for children under the age of 3, the QRIS seems to be able to differentiate between the lowest and the highest quality centres in terms of their support for children's development, well-being and learning (Lipscomb et al., $2017_{[193]}$). Moreover, in a randomised controlled trial of US centres offering services to children under the age of 3 in infant and toddler classrooms, intervention centres that used a QRIS received grants and funding for quality improvement and professional development, as well as on-site coaching, and demonstrated improvements in the quality of staff-child interactions by comparison with the control group (Boller et al., $2015_{[187]}$). The observed changes occurred largely in overall environmental quality and the quality of the curriculum and learning environment, and smaller changes were also observed in the quality of interactions. Interestingly, intervention centres also presented lower child-to-staff ratios, than the control group of centres.

It is less clear whether the star systems implemented as part of the QRIS also differentiate across other levels of quality. In a state-wide study in the United States (Lipscomb et al., $2017_{[193]}$), the levels of the five-star system did not differentiate centres of different quality, namely in terms of the classical measures of observation (e.g. CLASS scores). However, in another US study conducted in two states, observed quality (measured by the ERS and CIS) seemed to be a good indicator of the rated quality level across all four levels of the star system implemented (Lahti et al., $2015_{[70]}$). In a small-scale study specifically examining the different aspects of process quality (using the CLASS Toddler), the QRIS star ratings for four out of six quality dimensions seem to be related to observed process quality; however, aspects of the negative climate in the classroom and staff's behaviour guidance were unrelated to the star rating (Thomason and La Paro, $2009_{[38]}$).

Linkages between QRIS and staff-child interactions in family daycare settings are less clear

The United States' family daycare settings with the highest star rating seem to also present the highest levels of process quality (as observed with the CLASS), concerning the organisation of the environment, the support of children's development, behaviour, well-being and learning and the provision of (learning) activities (Lipscomb et al., 2017_[193]).

However, this association between QRIS and process quality for family daycare seems sometimes to be limited to the content areas covered in the professional development programme embedded in the QRIS: for example, health and safety, or practices in teaching (Hallam, Bargreen and Ridgley, $2013_{[167]}$). Moreover, when inspired by a particular measure of quality, the association between QRIS quality levels and process quality also seems to be limited to the measure the QRIS is largely based on, and does not generalise beyond that measure. For example, a QRIS system inspired in the ERS scales demonstrated an association between the star system and process quality as measured by the ERS, but not as measured by the CIS (Lahti et al., $2015_{[70]}$).

QRIS systems need to be used with caution when comparing centre-based and homebased types of settings, since this system places strong emphasis on requirements that are harder to meet by home-based providers, such as formal policies, written procedures, specific furnishings and materials. These requirements are considered beyond the scope of measures such as the CLASS that focus exclusively on the quality of the interactions. In the United States, home-based providers reported lower QRIS ratings than centrebased care providers, although there were no significant differences in the observed quality (i.e. staff-child interactions as measured with the CLASS) (Lipscomb et al., $2017_{[193]}$).

Links between QRIS and children's development and learning are mixed.

The outcomes of the use of the QRIS are mixed, with some studies finding significant linkages between QRIS ratings and children's developmental outcomes and others not finding linkages. In Missouri (United States), children who participated in programmes with higher-quality ratings and especially low-income children showed significantly higher gains on measures of social-emotional development than children in programmes with lower ratings (Thornburg et al., $2009_{[197]}$) In contrast, in an evaluation of Colorado's Qualistar programme, linkages between the ratings and children's outcomes were not found (Zellman et al., $2008_{[184]}$)

A recent review of findings from 10 validation studies (Tout et al., 2017_[191]) examining quality ratings of ECE programmes participating in state QRIS yielded inconsistent evidence of small positive associations between ratings and patterns of children's development. Some selective positive associations were found in some states, but not across all developmental domains examined, nor across all measures within a domain. Three out of six studies found evidence that QRIS ratings were associated with some measures of executive function, and four found selective associations between ratings and measures of social-emotional development.

References

Bennett, J. (2002), "Economics as a tool of environmental management", <i>Ecological Management and Restoration</i> , Vol. 3/2, pp. 79-80, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1442-8903.2002.00097.x</u> .	[2]
Boller, K. et al. (2015), "Impacts of a child care rating and improvement system on child care quality", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 30, pp. 306-315, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2014.10.001</u> .	[10]
Fenech, M., N. Sweller and L. Harrison (2010), "Identifying high-quality centre-based childcare using quantitative data-sets: What the numbers do and don't tell us", <i>International Journal of Early Years Education</i> , Vol. 18/4, pp. 283-296, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09669760.2010.531615</u> .	[18]
Frede, E. et al. (2007), <i>The Abbbott Preschool Program Longitudinal Effects Study</i> (APPLES) Interim Report, <u>http://nieer.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/APPLES.pdf</u> (accessed on 02 February 2018).	[6]
Frede, E. et al. (2009), "The APPLES Blossom: Abbott Preschool Program Longitudinal Effects Study (APPLES) Preliminary Results through 2nd Grade Interim Report", <u>http://www.state.nj.us/education/ece/research/apples2.pdf</u> (accessed on 2 February 2018).	[7]
Hallam, R., K. Bargreen and R. Ridgley (2013), "Quality in family child care settings: The relationship between provider educational experiences and global quality scores in a statewide quality rating and improvement system", <i>Journal of Research in Childhood</i> <i>Education</i> , Vol. 27/4, pp. 393-406, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2013.822950</u> .	[23]
 Hestenes, L. et al. (2015), "Comparisons among quality in child care settings: Understanding the use of multiple measures in North Carolina's QRIS and their links to social-emotional development in preschool children", <i>Early Childhood Research</i> <i>Quarterly</i>, Vol. 30/Part B, pp. 199-214, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2014.06.003</u>. 	[15]
Hu, B., K. Vong and M. Mak (2015), "An evaluation of China's kindergarten quality rating system through the Chinese early childhood environment rating scale - The Zhejiang case", <i>Early Years</i> , Vol. 35/1, pp. 50-66, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09575146.2014.978266</u> .	[19]
Jeon, L., C. Buettner and E. Hur (2014), "Examining pre-school classroom quality in a statewide quality rating and improvement system", <i>Child & Youth Care Forum</i> , Vol. 43/4, pp. 469-487, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10566-014-9248-z</u> .	[12]
Karoly, L. et al. (2016), <i>Evaluation of Delaware Stars for Early Success: Final Report</i> , Rand Corporation, Santa Monica, CA.	[13]
Lahti, M. et al. (2015), "Approaches to validating child care quality rating and improvement systems (QRIS): Results from two states with similar QRIS type", <i>Early</i> <i>Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 30, pp. 280-290, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2014.04.005</u> .	[16]

Levitt, R., B. Janta and K. Wegrich (2008), "Accountability of Teachers Literature Review", <u>http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/14020/1/1009_Accountability_of_teachers_Literature_r</u> <u>eview.pdf</u> (accessed on 02 February 2018).	[3]
Lipscomb, S. et al. (2017), Oregon's quality rating improvement system (QRIS) validation study one: Associations with observed program quality, Portland State University and Oregon State University.	[17]
OECD (2015), <i>Starting Strong IV: Monitoring Quality in Early Childhood Education and Care</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264233515-en</u> .	[1]
Office of Child Development and Early Learning (2010), "Keystone Stars: Reaching Higher for Quality Early Education".	[4]
Pan, Y., Y. Liu and E. Lau (2010), "Evaluation of the kindergarten quality rating system in Beijing", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 21, pp. 186-204, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409281003631134</u> .	[20]
Slot, P. (2017), Literature review on Early Childhood Education and Care quality: Relations between structural characteristics at different levels and process quality, Internal document, OECD, Paris.	[9]
Thomason, A. and K. La Paro (2009), "Measuring the quality of teacher–child interactions in toddler child care", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 20, pp. 285-304, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409280902773351</u> .	[22]
Thornburg, K. et al. (2009), "The Missouri Quality Rating System School Readiness Study", <u>http://www.elcmdm.org/Knowledge%20Center/reports/MOQRSreport.pdf</u> (accessed on 16 February 2018).	[24]
Tout, K. et al. (2017), "Validation of the Quality Ratings Used in Quality Rating and Improvement Systems (QRIS): A Synthesis of State Studies", <u>https://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/opre/cceepra_qris_validation_report_b508.p</u> <u>df</u> (accessed on 14 February 2018).	[14]
Tout, M. et al. (2009), "Issues for the Next Decade of Quality rating and Improvement systems", Vol. 3, <u>https://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/opre/next_decade.pdf</u> (accessed on 16 February 2018).	[21]
Zaslow, M. et al. (2010), <i>Quality, dosage, thresholds, and features in early childhood settings: A review of the literature</i> , Mathematica Policy Research, Washington, DC.	[8]
Zellman, G. et al. (2008), "Assessing Child-Care Quality: How Well Does Colorado's Qualistar Quality Rating and Improvement System Work?", Rand Corporation, CA, <u>https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/research_briefs/2008/RAND_RB9343.pd</u> <u>f</u> (accessed on 16 February 2018).	[5]
Zellman, G. and M. Perlman (2008), <i>Child-care Quality Rating and Improvement Systems</i> <i>in Five Pioneer States: Implementation Issues and Lessons Learned</i> , Rand Corporation, CA,	[11]
nune://w/w/w/ rand ord/content/dam/rand/nune/monogranne//Julx/R/ANULL/MUS/ndf	

https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/monographs/2008/RAND_MG795.pdf.

Chapter 5. Key insights and avenues for further research

Process quality, such as the quality of staff-child interactions, is the primary driver of children's development and learning through early childhood education and care (ECEC). However, it can be challenging to target the quality of such interactions with regulation. Research suggests that, apart from in-service training, changes in structural levers are not directly linked to child development and learning. It also suggests that staff should be well-trained, and enjoy good working conditions, such as favourable child-staff ratios, to be able to promote rich learning and well-being environments for children. Monitoring systems can also inform quality improvements. The report also shows that domains of process quality, such as child-to-child interactions, and domains of child development and learning, are overlooked in research. More and more fine-grained evidence on curriculum and monitoring would provide important insights. Contextual factors also merit further consideration, to examine the mechanisms at play between structure, process and child development. Finally, further studies of ECEC quality for the youngest are necessary to inform research and policy.

Introduction

Changing structural quality standards, and staff-child ratios and qualification requirements in particular, has been commonly used as a way of enhancing the quality of ECEC provision. Decisions of this kind are often made based on political debates rather than on evidence.

Recent research has suggested, furthermore, that process quality (e.g. staff-child interactions) matters more for better child development and learning than structural quality itself (e.g. staff-child ratios). Under the circumstances, policymakers are increasingly interested in gathering more evidence and unpacking the relationships between structural interventions and process quality that lead to better child development and learning. It is important to better understand the scope of process quality, identify the types of process quality that are amenable to policy interventions, and suggest options for affecting process quality through structural quality regulations.

This report is prepared as part of initial desk-based research for the new OECD ECEC project "Policy Review: on Quality beyond Regulations in ECEC", and in particular, "process quality". It reviews the existing evidence, which sets up some key insights based on available (but limited and narrowly defined) studies and highlights the most significant avenues for future research.

The evidence reported in previous chapters for the relationship between common structural quality indicators, and staff-child interactions¹ as well children's development and learning is summarised in Table 5.1 and 5.2.

Table 5.1 summarises the findings from the literature review between structural traits and staff-child interactions in centres for children aged 3 to 5, 0 to 2, and family daycare settings, respectively.

Table 5.2 summarises the findings from the meta-analysis for centres for children aged 3 to 5, but not covering children aged 0 to 2. The table presents: i) associations between structural traits and staff-child interactions, ii) associations between structural traits and child development and learning, and iii) associations between staff-child interactions and child development and learning.

Both tables note the direction (i.e. negative, neutral, positive) of the associations found in the literature, as well as the scope of cited research, the strength of the evidence for this association, based on the number of studies that reported results for this element, and additional comments that can help interpret the association.

The scope and methods of the literature review and meta-analysis is limited (e.g. age coverage, coverage of ECEC provision types, coverage of countries, scope of process quality, scope of child development) and that additional research and a policy survey is thus needed to generate refined policy orientations. The research reviewed in this report draws heavily on observational, programme-based or national studies, while there are fewer experimental studies, studies at scale or of cross-national nature. The literature review and meta-analysis examined the association of variables, not a causal mechanism, and thus need to be interpreted with caution. With these caveat in mind, ten key insights are suggested by the summarised knowledge base.
In summary, the key insights include the following:

- 1. Lower child-staff ratios themselves alone will not guarantee better child development. But they are associated with more positive staff-child relations across all age groups.
- 2. Group sizes matter for staff-child interactions, but linkages are stronger for interactions with the youngest children than with children aged 3 to 5.
- 3. Relationships between quality indicators can be indirect, such as between ratios, group size, organisational climate, quality of staff-child interactions, and child development and learning.
- 4. Pre-service training, when focusing on ECEC content, is associated with better staff emotional, educational and developmental support for children, with a stronger relationship found in the case of the youngest children. However, the evidence on its association with child development and learning is in inconclusive.
- 5. Licensing for family day care, when regulated with pre-service qualifications, can be a tool to ensure better interactions for children.
- 6. In-service training that includes ECEC-specific content relates to better staff-child interactions and child development and learning outcomes for all groups of children, especially in literacy skills.
- 7. Children's skills can develop more effectively when staff engage in quality developmental activities with children. Staff practices and engagement with children may depend on team collaboration, and benefit from improved working conditions and well-being.
- 8. Separate class- or playrooms for disadvantaged, immigrant or bilingual children are associated with risks for equity and quality in ECEC.
- 9. Monitoring systems, if they are used to inform quality improvements, are linked to greater support to children's development and learning in all ECEC settings.
- 10. The location of ECEC centres within schools is associated with differences in staff's relationships with children.

To complement the limitations of the existing research, the following eight areas are suggested for further research to address the "needs for improved or more research" and "needs for new research":

- 1. Consider relationship of other structural features, such as funding and intensity of ECEC, to staff-child interactions and to child development.
- 2. Examine combined effects of different structural policy levers.
- 3. Explore "optimal" minimum quality standards and possible trade-offs.
- 4. Broaden the scope of child development and learning assessment to well-being as well as skills critical for future success, such as creative thinking.
- 5. Research other features of process quality such as children's experiences with their peers and the environment, as well as staff-staff interactions, the staff-parents interactions, and interactions with the community.
- 6. Better understand specific features and effects of the curriculum.
- 7. Investigate linkages between monitoring practices, staff-child relationships and child development further.
- 8. Expand evidence on process quality for infants and toddlers.

To build up the knowledge base in this area, the findings from this report will be used to frame questions for additional research and for a policy questionnaire, planned as the next steps of the OECD ECEC project "Policy Review: Quality beyond Regulations in ECEC".

Lower child-staff ratios themselves alone will not guarantee better child development. But they are associated with more positive staff-child relations across all age groups.

Low child-staff ratios were found to enhance positive staff-child relationships across all types of settings and ECEC age groups. Multiple studies of individual countries including China, the US and Portugal, and a meta-analysis of 17 studies from Europe and North America suggest that a smaller number of children per ECEC staff tends to be associated with higher levels of process quality for centres catering to children aged 3 to 5 (Burchinal et al., 2002_[103]; Hu et al., 2016a_[104]; Mashburn et al., 2008_[44]; Philips et al., $2000_{[100]}$; Phillipsen et al., $1997_{[101]}$; Vermeer et al., $2016_{[50]}$). While the association was not found everywhere, there is no evidence of any negative effects (Howes et al., 2008[34]; Mashburn et al., 2008_[44]; Mashburn et al., 2009_[109]; Montie, Xiang and Schweinhart, $2006_{[110]}$). Lower child-staff ratios were also associated with more positive interactions for children aged zero to 3 in the Flemish Community in Belgium, the Netherlands, in Portugal and the US (Barros and Aguiar, 2010[111]; Barros et al., 2016[39]; Deynoot-Schaub and Riksen-Walraven, 2005[112]; Hulpia et al., 2016[73]; Jamison et al., 2014[65]; Thomason and La Paro, 2009[38]; Phillipsen et al., 1997[101]). These findings were more conclusive for centre-based settings than for family daycare, where group sizes are usually much smaller.

Group sizes matter for staff-child interactions, but linkages are stronger for interactions with the youngest children than with children aged 3 to 5.

Some supporting evidence suggests that smaller group sizes improve staff-child interactions in settings for younger children (Barros and Aguiar, $2010_{[111]}$; Barros et al., $2016_{[39]}$; Deynoot-Schaub and Riksen-Walraven, $2005_{[112]}$; Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$; Jamison et al., $2014_{[65]}$; Thomason and La Paro, $2009_{[38]}$; Phillipsen et al., $1997_{[101]}$). In looking at services for children aged 0 to 2, both group sizes and staff-child ratios were found to matter for the quality of staff-child interactions, even though a few studies did not find associations (Pessanha, Aguiar and Bairrão, $2007_{[113]}$; Vogel et al., $2015a_{[66]}$; Vogel et al., $2015b_{[67]}$). These findings were more conclusive for centre-based settings than for family daycare, where group sizes are usually much smaller. For the older age group, evidence can be found in both directions, which does not indicate that having smaller groups presents a clear benefit. No research on potential direct associations of group sizes with child development was available for this report.

Relationships between quality indicators can be indirect, such as between ratios, group size, organisational climate, quality of staff-child interactions, and child development and learning.

Despite some evidence from the United States showing an association between child-staff ratios and children's pre-reading scores in preschool (Bigras, Lemay and Tremblay, $2012_{[198]}$; Cardon et al., $2008_{[199]}$; Howes, $1997_{[200]}$), there is no solid evidence of direct links to child development and learning across age groups. Tentative results suggest that those structure for processing relationships could be non- linear, i.e. that decreasing the

size of a small group may have effects that are different from reducing the size of a large group (Bowne et al., $2017_{[102]}$).

The review of the literature indicated a mixed pattern of associations across age groups and there was no relationship between low child-staff ratios and emerging academic skills, i.e. early literacy and early numeracy. There is, however, some preliminary evidence of indirect paths from ratios through staff-child interactions to children's development, but the associations are weak and need further confirmation (NICHD Early Child Care Research Network, $2002_{[62]}$).

In a couple of studies, the relationship between organisational climate and quality has been found to be even stronger than other classroom characteristics, such as the child-staff ratio (Biersteker et al., $2016_{[50]}$; Dennis and O'Connor, $2013_{[83]}$), as well as staff characteristics, including qualifications and work experience (Biersteker et al., $2016_{[50]}$). However, organisational climate itself is also associated with other centre characteristics (Ho, Lee and Teng, $2016_{[180]}$).

Pre-service training, when focusing on ECEC content, is associated with better staff emotional, educational and developmental support for children, with a stronger relationship found in the case of the youngest children. However, the evidence on its association with child development and learning is in inconclusive.

Overall, higher pre-service qualifications were found to be related to better staff-child interactions in Germany, Denmark, Portugal, as well as in the United States (Barros and Leal, $2011_{[145]}$; Cryer et al., $1999_{[106]}$; Guo et al., $2010_{[146]}$; Pianta et al., $2005_{[31]}$; Slot et al., $2017b_{[63]}$).. Across the entire ECEC age group, in home- and in centre-based settings, higher levels of pre-service training are associated with higher levels of staff's emotional, instructional and organisational interactions for staff, especially if the training includes content on ECEC (Burchinal et al., $2002_{[103]}$; Tout, Zaslow and Berry, $2006_{[147]}$). Pre-service training specifically enhances emotionally supportive interactions, and more educational and developmentally supportive interactions (Bauchmüller, Grøtz and Rasmussen, $2014_{[150]}$; Howes et al., $2008_{[34]}$; Montie, Xiang and Schweinhart, $2006_{[110]}$; Sylva et al., $2004_{[13]}$).

the evidence has also shown a strong association between pre-service qualifications and staff-child interactions for children aged 0 to 2 in Quebec, the Flemish Community of Belgium, the Netherlands, Portugal and the US (Barros et al., $2016_{[39]}$; Bigras et al., $2010_{[139]}$; Castle et al., $2016_{[153]}$; Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$; King et al., $2016_{[74]}$; Slot et al., $2015_{[40]}$; Thomason and La Paro, $2009_{[38]}$; Vogel et al., $2015a_{[66]}$; Vogel et al., $2015b_{[67]}$).

However, according to evidence on 3-5 year-old children the direct link between preservice qualifications and child learning and development is weak or unclear (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$). Higher staff qualifications were not associated with emerging academic skills, or behavioural/social skills (Early et al., $2006_{[149]}$; Mashburn et al., $2008_{[44]}$).

Licensing for family day care, when regulated with pre-service qualifications, can be a tool to ensure diverse learning experiences for children.

The limited available evidence on family daycare suggests that licensed providers for the youngest children with higher pre-service qualifications provide more diverse learning experiences and activities, and also demonstrate more active involvement and guidance in

these activities than less educated family daycare providers in the United States (Colwell et al., $2013_{[116]}$; Doherty et al., $2006_{[132]}$; Raikes, Raikes and Wilcox, $2005_{[155]}$; Schaack, Le and Setodji, $2017_{[156]}$) and Flemish Belgium (Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$; Vandenbroeck et al., $2018_{[29]}$).

However, there is no evidence for direct links between pre-service training of family daycare providers and child development.

In-service training that includes ECEC-specific content relates to better staffchild interactions and child development and learning outcomes for all groups of children, especially in literacy skills.

Consistent positive associations for all settings and age groups examined were found between staff in-service training (or professional development) and the interactions staff have with children in diverse geographic locations, including Denmark, Portugal, China and the US (Fukkink and Lont, $2007_{[157]}$; Hamre et al., $2012_{[158]}$; Justice et al., $2008_{[124]}$; LoCassale-Crouch et al., $2011_{[159]}$; Slot et al., $2017b_{[63]}$; Slot, Lerkkanen and Leseman, $2015_{[99]}$; Zaslow et al., $2010_{[160]}$), especially if the training included ECEC content for instance related to staff-child interactions (Siraj-Blatchford et al., $2005_{[163]}$; Zaslow et al., $2004_{[164]}$). Staff participating in in-service training have consistently been found to score higher on language and literacy-specific quality (Egert, $2015_{[161]}$), whereas evidence on the links to overall quality in ECEC or staff-child interactions is mixed.

There is also a consistent evidence base across all age groups for a positive link between in-service training and children's development and learning, with the evidence particularly strong for children's language and literacy skills (Egert, $2015_{[161]}$; Jensen and Rasmussen, $2015_{[166]}$; Markussen-Brown et al., $2017_{[162]}$). The number of studies available for settings for children aged zero to 3 was more limited, but the pattern of results is largely consistent (Burchinal, Howes and Kontos, $2002_{[76]}$; Hallam, Bargreen and Ridgley, $2013_{[167]}$).

Children's skills can develop more effectively when staff engage in quality developmental activities with children. Staff practices and engagement with children may depend on team collaboration, and benefit from improved working conditions and well-being.

Children in ECEC centres with better staff-child interactions, or staff who provide higher quality or more exposure to developmental and educational activities, were found to have higher levels of emerging literacy and numeracy skills, as well as better behavioural and social skills (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$).

Positive associations were found between staff-child interactions, including higherquality educational and developmental activities, with staff well-being (Jennings, $2015_{[174]}$), salaries (Cryer et al., $1999_{[106]}$; Hu et al., $2016a_{[104]}$; Pianta et al., $2005_{[31]}$) and with centre organisational climate (Ho, Lee and Teng, $2016_{[180]}$). Higher-quality organisational climate includes those where staff believed that they enjoyed more autonomy and support for showing leadership, exchanged their visions with colleagues more often, and reported more opportunities for participating in decision-making in aspects of the curriculum (Ho, Lee and Teng, $2016_{[180]}$).

While the number of studies that have included these structural aspects is somewhat limited and research does not find evidence for effects of staff work experience (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$), emerging evidence indicates that centres where staff reported

higher well-being (including job satisfaction and lack of depressive symptoms), higher salaries and more team collaboration show better staff-child interactions across all age groups (Biersteker et al., $2016_{[154]}$; Bloom and Bella, $2005_{[176]}$; Bloom and Sheerer, $1992_{[177]}$; Cassidy et al., $2017_{[175]}$; Hu et al., $2016a_{[104]}$; Jennings, $2015_{[174]}$; Pessanha, Aguiar and Bairrão, $2007_{[113]}$; Sylva et al., $2004_{[13]}$; Vogel et al., $2015a_{[66]}$).

The ECEC sector, especially for the youngest children, suffers from staff shortages, high rates of turnover and low status in many countries (Moon and Burbank, $2004_{[136]}$). When staff members regularly change within a group of children, staff and children are less able to develop stable relationships and the frequency of nurturing, stimulating interactions is reduced (CCL, $2006_{[201]}$). Political concerns about the quality of interactions thus support the case for raising working conditions – in the best interests of the children's experience and the staff's job satisfaction.

The research conducted for this report did not examine links between working conditions and child development because research on those associations is neither very extensive nor conclusive. There is a complex interrelationship between child-staff ratios, staff qualifications, quality and types of settings. For instance, ratios relate to working conditions for staff and to learning and well-being environments for children. This makes it difficult to single out the effect of a particular characteristic of working conditions on process quality (Sammons, 2010_[202]).

Separate class- or playrooms for disadvantaged, immigrant or bilingual children are associated with risks for equity and quality in ECEC.

Targeting ECEC provision for disadvantaged groups may seem a cost-effective way to ensure that services reach those who need them most, but concerns about quality need to be considered. The present study finds that in play or classrooms in Denmark (Slot et al., $2017b_{[63]}$), Germany (Kuger et al., $2015_{[120]}$; Leu and Schelle, $2009_{[27]}$; Lehrl, Kuger and Anders, $2014_{[121]}$; Slot, Lerkkanen and Leseman, $2015_{[99]}$), and the United States (LoCassale-Crouch et al., $2007_{[122]}$; Tonyan and Howes, $2003_{[123]}$), the quality of staff-child interactions was lower in those that had a high percentage of immigrant or bilingual children than in play- or classrooms with a more balanced or mixed group composition.

Classrooms with a high percentage of immigrant or bilingual children are also associated with lower scores in children's language and literacy skills (Ebert et al., $2013_{[108]}$; de Haan et al., $2013_{[130]}$; Schnechter and Bye, $2007_{[203]}$). The evidence is more consistent for children aged 3 to 5 than for centres with younger children (Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$; Slot et al., $2017a_{[36]}$), which may be related to the targeted high-quality provision for the youngest children in some countries. Negative relations between the percentage of immigrant or bilingual children and the quality of staff-child interactions were also observed in family daycare (Hulpia et al., $2016_{[73]}$).

Some preliminary evidence demonstrates that observed lower levels of staff emotional support and classroom organisation may be the key to this relationship (Slot et al., $2017b_{[63]}$). The associations between staff-child interactions and children's development and learning, however, do not seem to differ significantly for children from predominantly disadvantaged backgrounds compared to a mixed group of children.

Monitoring systems, if they are used to inform quality improvements, are linked to greater support to children's development and learning in all ECEC settings.

Quality rating and improvement systems (QRIS) are found to be associated with higher levels of staff-child interactions in centres for all age groups in the United States (Jeon, Buettner and Hur, $2014_{[189]}$)., while the linkage between QRIS and staff-child interactions in family daycare is less clear (Lahti et al., $2015_{[70]}$; Lipscomb et al., $2017_{[193]}$). Where evidence exists, there is an indication that positive feedback loops between monitoring systems and staff practices may be associated with gains in children's language development (OECD, $2015_{[5]}$). A key target of policy efforts might thus be to ensure that information on staff-child interactions in centres is collected not simply for purposes of accountability, but used to inform quality improvements.

The location of ECEC centres within schools is associated with differences in staff's relationships with children.

The physical location of a preschool may also be related to process quality in Finland, the US and Portugal. Higher quality staff-children relationships were observed in preschools located in schools, by comparison with preschools situated outside the school grounds or in independently functioning centres (Pianta et al., $2005_{[31]}$; Slot, $2017_{[16]}$; Slot, Lerkkanen and Leseman, $2015_{[99]}$). There is also evidence that staff working in classrooms located in schools had higher education levels, were paid more, and showed a stronger educational orientation than staff working in independent centres (Clifford et al., $2005_{[118]}$; Pianta et al., $2005_{[31]}$).

Although the number of studies is limited, the evidence for this mechanism appears consistent and from multiple countries. However, no direct linkages to children's development were identified.

Avenues for further research 1: clarifying inconclusive evidence

To improve the existing knowledge base, the following areas are identified where the evidence is lacking or inconclusive or new methodologies are needed to enhance the quality of research.

Consider relationship of other structural features, such as funding and intensity of ECEC, to staff-child interactions and to child development

Effects of ECEC funding and intensity of ECEC services have attracted considerable political attention across OECD countries. Both topics were included in the study, but possibly also due to the very few studies available, the literature review and meta-analysis led to less consistent results. Funding of ECEC provisions was associated with the quality of the relationships in centres in many cases, but associations varied across countries and were less clear for centres for children aged 0 to 2.

The intensity of daily service was not consistently related to the quality of staff-child interactions. The association varied within and across countries, and depended on how the interactions between staff and children were observed and documented in the full-day and half-day class- or playroom (e.g. a global score of staff-child interactions rather than a combined score of staff emotional, instructional, and organisational interactions).

Political debate is often particularly heated as to whether to increase ECEC funding or extend free hours of ECEC provision from half-day to full-day. Such considerations often

aim to support children's development and learning, especially for children of disadvantaged backgrounds, but sound evidence is required to make informed decisions. Investigating the relationships of funding and of the intensity of ECEC services to children is a high priority for the evidence base.

More research is needed to unpack the relationship between structural mechanisms and child outcomes, namely examining how structural characteristics may be *indirectly* related to child development and learning, and may influence child development through process quality. The evidence from this new approach has so far only scrutinised child-staff ratios, staff qualifications and group, class- or playroom composition, but in such cases, it has proven useful. For example, in one US study, teacher education at higher level was found to influence children's vocabulary skills only indirectly and through the staff's warmth and responsivity, but not directly (Connor et al., 2005_[61]). In this case, emotional support but not instructional support (both domains of staff-child relationships), was the facilitator of development. It is thus worth further exploration whether investing in pre-service training that focus on promoting emotional support (or matching it with professional development in this area) is the most promising strategy for influencing development.

Examine combined effects of different structural policy levers

To understand how different structural features may jointly influence process quality, it is important to examine more studies of individual levers (e.g. ratios) and to look at models of policy implementation. In designing policy, decisions are seldom taken in isolation, or made regardless of other structural conditions. Policy decisions are commonly made in tandem for several indicators, for instance through a broader reform, or in relationship with a previous policy that has already been established or implemented.

This approach has been applied to only a limited number of structural indicators. For example, the evidence on the associations between type of funding and process quality appears largely inconclusive. In countries such as China, Portugal and the US, the literature demonstrates that public centres for children between 3 and 5 seem to provide higher process quality than private settings, whereas for example, in Spain, no significant differences were found between public or private preschools. Moreover, for children aged 0 to 2, there was no clear pattern in the limited evidence available.

However, when funding features were examined in tandem with other structural features in the same countries, such as staff education or monitoring provisions, a pattern of compensating factors emerged. For instance, in the United States, staff working in the public sector were on average better educated than staff in private settings (Coley et al., 2016_[77]; Fuligni et al., 2009_[79]). In China, staff in public settings tended to be more highly educated and earned higher salaries (Hu et al., 2016a_[104]). In Portugal, quality was higher in classrooms with higher, unfavourable child-staff ratios, and lower with more favourable ratios, but only in the public sector (Slot, Lerkkanen and Leseman, 2015_[99]). For the private sector, no differences in process quality were found to be related to ratios.

The available evidence looking at these approaches has so far been limited to a small number of levers and studies.

Explore "optimal" minimum quality standards and possible trade-offs

To maximise investment, the research should endeavour to identify optimal levels and examine trade-offs in structural quality. Preliminary evidence suggests that some of the most commonly used structural levers, such as ratios and group size, may not act in a one-to-one relationship with process quality. A recent meta-analysis examining a large number of US ECEC programme evaluation studies for centres for 3- to 6-year-olds demonstrated that ECEC structural conditions for maximum child development and learning improved as ratios and groups sizes approached an optimum of 7.5 children to 1 adult and a maximum group size of 15 children, and then decreased (Bowne et al., 2017_[102]). Further investment in reducing ratios and group sizes would be wasteful, if not counterproductive. Other indicators may work in similar ways.

In other cases, the central concern is more of a trade-off, such as in the case of the intensity of ECEC service. Affordable, full-time ECEC is a key facilitating factor for young parents' participation in the labour force, but it is important to consider its potential risks and benefits for children. The research reviewed for this report does not provide a conclusive picture of whether or not longer hours in ECEC, i.e. greater intensity, are associated with interactions of higher quality. Sustaining high levels of quality for longer hours can also involve considerable cost.

Avenues for further research 2: create new evidence where gaps exist or where research hypotheses are not applicable

In comparison to the Starting Strong III Quality Toolbox, two policy levers – curriculum and pedagogy, and parent and community engagement – were not included in this report. Curriculum and pedagogy were found to be rarely and inconsistently addressed in the empirical literature. Parent and guardian engagement was considered beyond the scope of the literature review and meta-analysis due to the lack of research.

Broaden the scope of child development and learning assessment to well-being as well as skills critical for future success, such as creative thinking

Examination of child development and learning outcomes in connection with structural and process investments in quality is often limited to areas of content-specific learning, such as emergent literacy or mathematics. A disproportionate amount of evidence is available on pre-academic skills, which reduces the possibility of obtaining a global understanding of the potential effects of policies for ECEC quality on child development.

There is a trend towards more examination of social and behavioural skills, but the skills are also defined in the scope of group, class or playroom processes or "school-related" activities (Howes et al., $2008_{[34]}$). Behavioural skills, for example, may be observed only as an ability to behave in the context of a classroom, overlooking the children's capacity to collaborate within peer-to-peer relationships.

Children's well-being is seldom examined, and other critical skills are often overlooked, such as the ability to reason logically, think creatively, inquire and explore based on inherent curiosity. In these domains, the challenge lies in developing valid and reliable tools so information can be collected systematically to inform policy.

Research other features of process quality such as children's experiences with their peers and the environment, as well as staff-staff interactions, the staffparents interactions, and interactions with the community

Process quality is narrowly understood in the literature, and this report thus focuses only on the quality of staff-child interactions and activities. Of all 44 studies coded in the meta-analysis, all but 7 operationalised process quality as staff-child interactions (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$). There is some growing evidence in the literature that more specific measures of quality are better predictors of child outcomes (Burchinal, $2016_{[7]}$). However, often process quality subdomains were aggregated into a single indicator to increase scientific rigour, which in turn limits more fine-grained analysis and potential relationships with subdomains of child development and learning.

Facilitation of peer interactions was considered a priority for coding in the meta-analysis, but studies of peer interactions as an indicator of process quality were scarce, and often limited to studies conducted in the United States (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$). Even within classroom interactions, the majority of observational measures largely ignore peer relationships (Slot et al., $2016_{[204]}$). A closer look at peer interactions could for instance contribute to a better understanding of the mixed findings on the associations between group size and process quality for children aged 3 to 5, indicating that "smaller" may not always be "better".

Other important areas such as staff-to-staff interactions, and staff (or child)-to-parents and -community interactions could not be considered, even though they may have crucial links with child development and learning. Aspects of the interactions between staff and the family or community are of paramount importance, particularly for examining the quality of ECEC provided to children and families of diverse backgrounds (e.g. multicultural, economically disadvantaged and religious), or dual/second-language learners. However, these aspects were considered beyond the scope of the research examined in this report.

This is in line with the fact that this report lacks an area of investigation in 'engaging families and communities, one of the key policy levers for enhancing quality in ECEC from *Starting Strong III* (OECD, $2011_{[4]}$).

Better understand specific features and effects of the curriculum

Although a literature review on curriculum and pedagogy was considered a priority for this report, the research summarised was found to be too limited and imprecise to merit inclusion in the report. Overall, only very few studies had investigated the relation between curriculum and pedagogy and process quality. The terms curriculum and pedagogy were used interchangeably in much of the research reviewed (Slot, $2016_{[205]}$), blurring the distinction between the two and their respective association with process quality. For example, studies may refer to the effects of content-specific activities without specifying whether they are in fact prescribed by the curriculum.

Research tend to create artificial separations between holistic, play-based and skills-based curricula, even though play and supporting the development of specific skills are not mutually exclusive, as shown in the *Starting Strong III* report (OECD, 2011_[4]). Such false dichotomies are reflected in the fact that there is little and only mixed evidence indicating to what extent approaches explicitly framed as "play-based" or "holistic" contribute to children's development across various domains. An emerging body of research has started to explore the effects of differentiated pedagogies, whether "play-based", "free play", "structured play", etc.

At the same time, is more evidence is available on the effects of so-called skill-specific curricula and activities on skills targeted by the specific curricula. This is partly due to a strong focus on observation of pre-academic activities. In the meta-analysis, despite the variety of measures used to examine process quality, all the studies focused on

educational activities, i.e. early literacy or early numeracy. Fewer measures are available to observe interactions in unstructured environments, or focus on the quality of group play or play in the context of a class or playroom.

A more nuanced approach to curriculum is needed to better understand the effects of differences in content, pedagogy and measures that help support implementation (e.g. inservice training and monitoring). Results may, for instance, be distorted by the availability – or lack thereof – of professional development to empower staff in their work with the curriculum. More research is also needed on what constitutes an effective curriculum and how to implement it, which is part of the planned next step of the OECD ECEC Policy Review for *Starting Strong VI*.

Investigate linkages between monitoring practices, staff-child relationships and child development further.

Despite the diversity of monitoring tools implemented by countries, the only feature of data and monitoring systems examined in the literature is the use of Quality Rating Improvement Systems or QRIS. This evidence was limited to a small number of countries (i.e. US, Australia and China). In fact, no other associations between indicators of monitoring and process quality were reported in the literature review.

Moreover, the literature review also noted that monitoring and rating systems provided only rough indicators of quality; i.e. the QRIS seemed to be most accurate in distinguishing between low levels and high levels of quality, rather than being useful for making fine-grained quality assessments (Slot, $2017_{[16]}$). Further examination is needed to develop monitoring systems, in close alignment with other more valid and reliable indicators of process quality.

Finally, it is important to consider that much of the research summarised on quality monitoring systems relies on (US) state-level QRIS systems that are voluntary. The self-selection of relatively higher-quality centres in these studies may make the conclusions less informative for other states or countries hoping to implement universal QRIS systems. More cross-national research of different policy options is needed to inform countries how to implement monitoring practices linked to staff-child relationships, and facilitate child development.

Expand evidence on process quality for infants and toddlers

Overall, studies on process quality features of early education and care for infants and toddlers are less numerous than on education and care for children aged 3 to 5, or are limited to only a few countries for each mechanism. For instance, aspects of the physical location of schools and links to staff-child interactions have mostly been explored in studies from Portugal, and issues of intensity of daily service mostly in the Netherlands for this age group. The limited availability of relevant studies for some levers prevented a systematic comparison of mechanisms across different types of ECEC provision.

In family daycare settings, large gaps are observed. For example, aspects of governance and standards seem to be under-researched for family daycare and are thus far limited to licensing and regulations.

Table 5.1. A summary of findings from the literature review of the relationship between structural characteristics and staff-child interactions

				3 to 5 years o	ld				0 to 2 years o	old				Family dayca	re
Quality aspects	Ass wi	ociati ith sta child eractio	ons ff- ons	Scope of research	Comments	Ass w int	social ith st child eract	tions aff- I ions	Scope of research	Comments	As: w int	sociat ith sta child eracti	ions aff- ons	Scope of research	Comments
	-	0	+			-	0	+			•	0	+		
	-				-	Stand	lards	and g	overnance (Chap	oter 2)			-	-	
Child-staff ratio	X	X		12 studies across the world, including 2 cross- national comparison studies and 1 meta-analysis	Mostly consistent evidence towards smaller ratios (also based on the meta- analysis); only 3 studies showed null associations	X	X		13 studies across the world (5 US)	The majority of studies (10 out of 12) showed a significant negative relationship between ratio and process quality (3 studies in the Netherlands; 2 studies in Portugal, Canada and Flemish Comm. [Belgium])	x	x		2 US studies, 1 Canada-Quebec and 1 Flemish study	Canadian and Flemish showed a negative relationship, whereas the US studies reported null associations

Results are presented by policy lever, age range and type of provision

118 5. KEY INSIGHTS AND AVENUES FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

				3 to 5 years o	ld				0 to 2 years o	old				Family daycar	e
Quality aspects	Ass w int	sociati ith sta child eractio	ons ff- ons	Scope of research	Comments	As: w int	sociat vith sta child teracti	ions aff- ons	Scope of research	Comments	As w int	sociat vith sta child teracti	ions aff- ons	Scope of research	Comments
	-	0	+			-	0	+			-	0	+		
Group size	X	X	x	12 studies across the world, including 1 cross- national comparison study and 1 meta-analysis	Mostly consistent evidence in the case of smaller groups; 2 studies showed null associations (including the meta- analysis) and only 1 study indicated negative associations	X	X		13 studies across the world, including 1 cross-country comparison study (5 US)	The majority of studies (8 out of 13) showed a negative association between group size and process quality (3 studies in the Netherlands and 2x in Portugal and Flemish Comm. [Belgium])	x	x		1 US study, 1 Flemish study	The Flemish study showed a negative relationship with overall environmental quality, but no associations with quality of interactions
Type is public or non-profit		Х	Х	4 studies	Positive relations in China, Portugal and the US, but no differences between public and private in Spain		x	X	1 US study and 1 Portuguese study	The US study showed higher quality in not-for- profit settings, but the Portuguese study showed no differences					
Rural	X			1 US study and 1 study from China	Less availability of ECEC in rural areas and lower quality in China		X		1 Portuguese study						
Located in school			x	1 study from the US and 1 study from Finland											

5. KEY INSIGHTS AND AVENUES FOR FURTHER RESEARCH | 119

				3 to 5 years o	ld				0 to 2 years o	old				Family daycar	e
Quality aspects	Ass w int	sociat ith sta child eracti	ions aff- ons	Scope of research	Comments	Ass w int	sociati ith sta child eractio	ons ff- ons	Scope of research	Comments	Ass w int	sociat ith sta child eracti	ions aff- ons	Scope of research	Comments
	-	0	+			-	0	+			-	0	+		
Licensing or affiliation to professional organisation								x	1 US study			x	x	1 US, 1 Canadian, and 1 Flemish study	A positive association between (intention to apply for) licensing and staff-child interactions, but no difference between affiliated and non- affiliated providers in Flemish Comm. (Belgium)
Networking											X			1 Canadian study	Positive relation of informal networking and staff-child interactions
Mean age of children		Х	X	1 US study and 1 study from Germany	No relations in US and positive relations in Germany										
% immigrant or multilingual children	X	X		4 studies from Germany, 2 US studies and 1 study from Denmark	Mostly consistent evidence that a higher share of immigrant children is related to lower quality, except for null associations in 1 US study	X		X	2 studies	1 Dutch study and 1 Flemish study showing opposite results	X			1 Flemish study	Negative relationship with overall environmental quality

120 5. KEY INSIGHTS AND AVENUES FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

				3 to 5 years o	ld				0 to 2 years o	old				Family daycar	e
Quality aspects	As: w int	sociati rith sta child reractio	ions Iff- ons	Scope of research	Comments	As: w int	sociati vith sta child cractio	ions aff- ons	Scope of research	Comments	Ass w int	sociat ith sta child eracti	ions aff- I ons	Scope of research	Comments
	-	0	+			-	0	+			-	0	+		
					Workforce	deve	lopme	ent and	d working condit	ions (Chapter 3)					
Pre-service qualifications		x	X	12 studies across Europe and the US	The majority of studies indicated positive effects (9 out of 12)		x	X	12 studies across the world (6 US), including 1 meta-analysis across countries	The majority of studies (10 out of 11) including the meta-analysis showed positive relations between staff qualifications and process quality (Canada-Quebec, Flemish Comm. [Belgium], Portugal, the Netherlands)		x	X	5 US studies, 1 Canada-Quebec and 1 Flemish Comm. [Belgium]study	The Flemish study showed a positive relation with overall environmental quality, but not with the quality of interactions; 2 US studies showed null associations with pre-service education, but rather with additional in- service training
In-service training (professional development)			X	11 studies across Europe, China and the US, including 3 meta-analyses	Overall, positive relations between in- service training and quality, but inconsistencies within studies, depending on type and amount of in-service training			X	3 studies (1 US), including 1 meta- analysis				X	4 US studies, 1 Flemish Comm. [Belgium]study, 1 Dutch study and 1 international meta-analysis	In-service training positively related to staff-child interactions. However, in the Flemish study, the positive relationship obtained only for infant care and not for toddler care

5. KEY INSIGHTS AND AVENUES FOR FURTHER RESEARCH | 121

				3 to 5 years o	ld				0 to 2 years o	old				Family daycar	e
Quality aspects	Ass w int	sociat ith sta child eracti	ions aff- ons	Scope of research	Comments	Ass w int	sociati ith sta child eractio	ons ff- ons	Scope of research	Comments	As: w int	sociat ith sta child eracti	ions aff- ons	Scope of research	Comments
	-	0	+			-	0	+			-	0	+		
Well-being		x	x	1 US study and 1 study from Finland					2 US studies	Positive associations between broad measures of staff well-being and process quality were shown in 2 studies					
Years of experience	X	X	X	10 studies across the world, including cross-national comparisons	A positive relationship was shown in 2 studies (1 US, 1 Germany); 4 studies (3 US, 1 China) reported null associations, and 2 US revealed negative relations; 2 cross- national studies showed mixed findings		x	X	10 studies across the world (6 US)	A positive relationship was shown in 6 studies (5 US, 1 Netherlands) and 4 studies reported null associations (2x in Portugal and 2x in US)	X	x		2 US studies, 1 Flemish Comm. [Belgium]study	US studies showed no relationship and Flemish study showed a negative relationship for infant care and null associations for toddler care
Working conditions, e.g. salaries		x	x	1 US study and 1 study from China	Positive effects of salary in China, but not in the US		X		1 Portuguese study						
Leadership or management quality			x	1 study from South Africa				x	1 study from South Africa						

122 5. KEY INSIGHTS AND AVENUES FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

				3 to 5 years o	old				0 to 2 years o	old				Family daycar	e
Quality aspects	Ass wi	ith sta child child eractio	ons ff- ons	Scope of research	Comments	Ass w	sociati ith sta child eractio	ions Iff- ons	Scope of research	Comments	Ass w int	sociat ith sta child eracti	ions Iff- ons	Scope of research	Comments
	-	0	+			-	0	+			-	0	+		
Organisational climate	X 3 US studies and 1 study from England (United Kingdom)														
						Da	ata an	d Mor	nitoring (Chapter	4)					
Quality rating improvement systems (QRIS)			X	6 US studies, 2 studies from China and 1 study from Australia	Despite consistent positive relations, QRIS mainly distinguish rough indicators of low as opposed to high quality and show less consistent evidence in more fine-grained comparisons		x	x	3 US small- scale studies	Moderate associations were shown in 2 studies between QRIS rating and process quality; 1 study failed to show correlations, but distinguished between lower and higher quality			X	3 US studies	Participation and star rating related to better staff-child interactions

Note: (-) indicates a negative association, (0) indicates null associations and (+) indicates positive associations. A capital (X) indicates stronger evidence and a small (x) indicates weaker evidence.

Source: (Slot, 2017[16])

Table 5.2. A summary of findings from the meta-analysis of the relationship between structural characteristics, staff-child interactions, and child development and learning for centres for children aged 3 to 5

	As	soci	ation	s of structural quali interactions	ty with staff-child		Asso	ociat	ions of structu development a	ral quality with child nd learning		Asso	ciat	ions	of staff-child interactions learning	with child development and
Quality aspects	Di ai o'	recti nd siz f effe	on ze ct	Scope of research	Comments	Di ar of	recti nd si feffe	on ze ect	Scope of research	Comments	á	Dire and s eff	ctio ize ect	n of	Scope of research	Comments
	-	0	+			-	0	+				. ()	+		
	_			-		Qu	ality	star	ndards and gov	ernance (Chapter 2)		_				
Child- (lead) staff ratio		x	X	7 studies across the world	Mostly consistent and significantly negative associations between ratios and process quality; meta- analysis indicated no geographical differences (US vs. non-US)		X		3 US studies	Null association between child-staff ratio and emerging academic skills (i.e. early literacy and early numeracy) was not significant and close to zero.						

Results are presented by policy theme

124 5. KEY INSIGHTS AND AVENUES FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

	As	SOC	ation	s of structural quali interactions	ty with staff-child		Asso	ociat	ions of structu development a	ral quality with child nd learning	As	soci	ations	of staff-child interactions learning	s with child development and
Quality aspects	Di a o	irect nd si f effe	on ze ect	Scope of research	Comments	Di ai o'	recti nd si f effe	on ze ect	Scope of research	Comments	D an	irecti d siz effec	on e of t	Scope of research	Comments
	-	0	+			-	0	+			•	0	+		
Length of daily service is full day (rather than half- day)	x		x	2 US studies and 2 studies from Australia	Results were inconsistent across countries and across measures of process quality (overall score or staff-child interaction composite).										
					Work	forc	e dev	/elop	oment and worl	king conditions (Chapte	er 3)				
Pre-service qualifications		x	X	6 studies (1 Netherlands, 5 US) for staff-child interactions, and 3 US studies for developmental and educational activities	A positive and significant association with staff-child interactions, and no association with provision of activities.		X		3 US studies for each association tested	Null association between staff pre- service qualifications and emerging academic skills; null staff education between pre-service qualifications and behavioural/social skills.					
Developmental and educational activities (process indicator)													X	6 studies for children's emerging academic skills and 3 studies for children's behavioural/social skills	Positive (weak) associations between quality of / exposure to developmental and educational activities and children's emerging academic skills, as well as behavioural/social skills.

Associations of structural quality with staff-child Associations of structural quality with child Associations of staff-child interactions with child development and interactions development and learning learning Quality aspects Direction Scope of Comments Direction Scope of Comments Direction Scope of research Comments and size research and size research and size of of effect of effect effect - 0 + - 0 + - 0 + Consistent positive 10 studies (2 from х Х Germany, 1 from association between positive interactions Portugal, 7 from US) staff-child interactions and (e.g. global staffusing global staff-child children's literacy and child interaction interaction scores; 8 numeracy learning. No studies (1 from differences were noted for combined staffstudies with children from Australia, 7 from US) child interaction using combined staffdisadvantaged backgrounds scores) (process child interaction scores compared to studies with a diverse sample. 9 studies (1 from Null associations between x x x Finland, 2 from positive staff-child interactions Portugal, 1 from interactions and children's (e.g. global staff-Germany, 5 from US) behavioural/ social skills. No child interaction using global staff-child differences were noted for interaction scores: 8 studies with children from combined staffstudies (1 from Flemish disadvantaged backgrounds child interaction Comm. [Belgium], 1 compared to studies with a from Portugal, 1 from scores) (process diverse sample. Tanzania. 5 from the Geographical differences in US) using combined these results: US studies

125 5. KEY INSIGHTS AND AVENUES FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

staff-child interaction

scores

showed a negative association between staff-

child interactions and children's behavioural skills; but an overall positive was found in studies conducted outside the United States

Staff-child

scores;

indicator) Staff-child

scores:

indicator)

126 5. KEY INSIGHTS AND AVENUES FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

	Α	SSOC	iatio	ns of structural qual interactions	ty with staff-child	ļ	Associ	atio d	ons of structu levelopment a	iral d and l	quality with child learning	As	SOC	iati	ons	s of staff-child interaction learning	s with child development and
Quality aspects	C a o)irect and s of effe	ion ize ect	Scope of research	Comments	Dir an of	ectior d size effect	Ì	Scope of research		Comments	D an	irect d siz effe	ior ze c ct) of	Scope of research	Comments
	of effect - 0 +					-	0 ·	ł				-	0		+		
Negative staff- child interactions (process indicator)												X				4 studies (1 from Flemish Comm. [Belgium], 1 from Tanzania, and 2 from the US)	Significant negative association, suggesting that negative staff-child interactions are associated with less positive behavioural/ social skills of children

Source: (von Suchodoletz et al., 2017_[17]).

Note

1. Staff-child interactions will include "staff emotional, instructional, and organisation interactions with the children", and "implementation of developmental and educational activities".

References

Barros, S. and C. Aguiar (2010), "Assessing the quality of Portuguese child care programs for toddlers", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 25/4, pp. 527-535, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2009.12.003</u> .	[10]
Barros, S. and T. Leal (2011), "Dimensões da qualidade das salas de creche do distrito do Porto (Quality dimensions of day care classrooms in the district of Porto)", <i>Revista</i> <i>Galego-Portuguesa de Psicoloxía e Educación</i> , Vol. 9/2, pp. 117-132.	[25]
Barros, S. et al. (2016), "Infant child care in Portugal: Associations with structural characteristics", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 37/1, pp. 118-130, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2016.05.003</u> .	[11]
Bauchmüller, R., M. Grøtz and A. Rasmussen (2014), "Long-run benefits from universal high-quality preschooling", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 29/4, pp. 457-470, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2014.05.009</u> .	[31]
Biersteker, L. et al. (2016), "Center-based early childhood care and education program quality: A South-African study", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 36, pp. 334-344, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2016.01.004</u> .	[58]
Bigras, N. et al. (2010), "A comparative study of structural and process quality in center- based and family-based child care services", <i>Child Youth Care Forum</i> , Vol. 39/3, pp. 129-150, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10566-009-9088-4</u> .	[33]
Bigras, N., L. Lemay and M. Tremblay (2012), <i>Petite enfance, services de garde éducatifs et développement des enfants : état des connaissances.</i> , Presses de l'Université du Québec, Montréal.	[19]
Bloom, P. and M. Sheerer (1992), "The effect of leadership training on child care program quality", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 7/4, pp. 579-594, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0885-2006(92)90112-C</u> .	[60]
Bloom, P. and J. Bella (2005), "Investment in leadership training: The payoff for early childhood education", <i>YC Young Children</i> , Vol. 60/1, <u>http://newhorizonsbooks.net/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Investment-in-Leadership-Training-The-Payoff-for-ECE.pdf</u> , pp. 32-40.	[59]

Bowne, J. et al. (2017), "A meta-analysis of class size and ratios in early childhood programs: Are thresholds of quality associated with greater impacts on cognitive, achievement, and socioemotional outcomes?", <i>Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis</i> , advanced online publication, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3102/0162373716689489</u> .	[22]
Burchinal, E. (2016), "Quality, thresholds, features and dosage in early care and education: Secondary data analyses of child outcomes", <i>Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development</i> , Vol. 81/2, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/mono.12248</u> .	[83]
Burchinal, M. et al. (2002), "Caregiver training and classroom quality in child care centers", <i>Applied Developmental Science</i> , Vol. 6/1, pp. 2-11, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/S1532480XADS0601_01</u> .	[1]
Burchinal, M., C. Howes and S. Kontos (2002), "Structural predictors of child care quality in child care homes", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 17/1, pp. 87-105, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(02)00132-1</u> .	[55]
Cardon, G. et al. (2008), "The contribution of preschool playground factors in explaining children's physical activity during recess", <i>International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity</i> , Vol. 5/1, p. 11, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-5-11</u> .	[20]
Cassidy, D. et al. (2017), "Teacher work environments are toddler learning environments: Teacher professional well-being, classroom emotional support, and toddlers' emotional expressions and behaviors", <i>Early Child Development and Care</i> , Vol. 187/11, pp. 1666-1678, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2016.1180516</u> .	[61]
Castle, S. et al. (2016), "Teacher-child interactions in early Head Start classrooms: Associations with teacher characteristics", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 27/2, pp. 259-274, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2016.1102017</u> .	[34]
Canadian Council on Learning (CCL) (ed.) (2006), <i>Why is High-Quality Child Care</i> <i>Essential? The Link between Quality Child Care and Early Learning</i> , Lessons in Learning, CCL, Ottawa.	[63]
Clifford, R. et al. (2005), "What is pre-kindergarten? Characteristics of public pre- kindergarten programs", <i>Applied Developmental Science</i> , Vol. 9/3, pp. 126-143, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/s1532480xads0903_1</u> .	[79]
Coley, R. et al. (2016), "Comparing public, private, and informal preschool programs in a national sample of low-income children", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 36, pp. 91-105, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2015.11.002</u> .	[81]
Colwell, N. et al. (2013), "New evidence on the validity of the Arnett Caregiver Interaction Scale: Results from the early childhood longitudinal study-birth cohort", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 28/2, pp. 218-233, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2012.12.004</u> .	[39]
Connor, C. et al. (2005), "Teacher qualifications, classroom practices, family characteristics, and preschool experience: Complex effects on first graders' vocabulary and early reading outcomes", <i>Journal of School Psychology</i> , Vol. 43/4, pp. 343-375, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2005.06.001.	[80]

Cryer, D. et al. (1999), "Predicting process quality from stuctural quality in preschool programs: A cross-country comparison", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 14/3, pp. 339-361, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(99)00017-4</u> .	[26]
de Haan, A. et al. (2013), "Targeted versus mixed preschools and kindergartens: Effects of class composition and teacher-managed activities on disadvanged children's emergent academic skills", <i>School Effectiveness and School Improvement: An International Journal of Research, Policy and Practice</i> , Vol. 24/2, pp. 177-194, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2012.749792</u> .	[71]
Deynoot-Schaub, M. and J. Riksen-Walraven (2005), "Child care under pressure: The quality of Dutch centers in 1995 and in 2001", <i>The Journal of Genetic Psychology: Research and Theory on Human Development</i> , Vol. 166/3, pp. 280-296, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3200/GNTP.166.3.280-296</u> .	[12]
Doherty, G. et al. (2006), "Predictors of quality in family child care", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 21/3, pp. 296-312, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2006.07.006</u> .	[40]
Early, D. et al. (2006), "Are teachers' education, major, and credentials related to classroom quality and children's academic gains in pre-kindergarten?", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 21/2, pp. 174-195, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01014.x</u> .	[38]
Ebert, S. et al. (2013), "Internal and external influences on vocabulary development in preschool children", <i>School Effectiveness and School Improvement: An International Journal of Research, Policy and Practice</i> , Vol. 24/2, pp. 138-154, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2012.749791</u> .	[70]
Egert, F. (2015), <i>Meta-analysis on the impact of in-service professionals development programs for preschool teachers on quality ratings and child outcomes</i> , doctoral dissertation, Bamberg, Germany.	[52]
Fukkink, R. and A. Lont (2007), "Does training matter? A meta-analysis and review of caregiver training studies", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 22, pp. 294- 311, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2007.04.005</u> .	[44]
Fuligni, A. et al. (2009), "Diverse pathways in early childhood professional development: An exploration of early educators in public preschools, private preschools, and family child care homes", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 20/3, pp. 507-526, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409280902783483</u> .	[82]
Guo, Y. et al. (2010), "Relations among preschool teachers' self-efficacy, classroom quality, and children's language and literacy gains", <i>Teacher and Teacher Education</i> , Vol. 26/4, pp. 1094-1103, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2009.11.005</u> .	[27]

 Hallam, R., K. Bargreen and R. Ridgley (2013), "Quality in family child care settings: The relationship between provider educational experiences and global quality scores in a statewide quality rating and improvement system", <i>Journal of Research in</i> <i>Childhood Education</i>, Vol. 27/4, pp. 393-406, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2013.822950</u>. 	[56]
Hamre, B. et al. (2012), "A course on effective teacher-child interactions: Effects on teacher beliefs, knowledge, and observed practice", <i>American Educational Research</i> <i>Journal</i> , Vol. 49/1, pp. 88-123, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3102/0002831211434596</u> .	[45]
Ho, D., M. Lee and Y. Teng (2016), "Size matters: The link between staff size and perceived organizational support in early childhood education", <i>International Journal</i> of Educational Management, Vol. 30/6, pp. 1104-1122, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-09-2015-0125</u> .	[24]
Howes, C. (1997), "Children's experiences in center-based child care as a function of teacher background and adult:child ratio.", <i>Merrill-Palmer Quarterly</i> , Vol. 43, pp. 404-425.	[21]
Howes, C. et al. (2008), "Ready to learn? Children's pre-academic achievement in pre- Kindergarten programs", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 23/1, pp. 27-50, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2007.05.002</u> .	[7]
Hu, B. et al. (2016a), "Predictors of Chinese early childhood program quality: Implications for policies", <i>Children and Youth Services Review</i> , Vol. 70, pp. 152-162, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2016.09.013</u> .	[2]
Hulpia, H. et al. (2016), <i>MeMoQ Deelrapport 10. Emotionele en educatieve ondersteuning in de nulmeting</i> , Kind en Gezin, Ugent, KU Leuven.	[13]
Jamison, K. et al. (2014), "CLASS-Infant: An observational measure for assessing teacher-infant interactions in center-based child care", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 25/4, pp. 553-572, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2013.822239.	[14]
Jennings, P. (2015), "Early childhood teachers' well-being, mindfulness, and self- compassion in relation to classroom quality and attitudes towards challenging students", <i>Mindfulness</i> , Vol. 6/4, pp. 732-743, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12671-014-</u> 0312-4.	[57]
Jensen, P. and A. Rasmussen (2015), Does Professional Development of Preschool Teachers Improve Child Socio-Emotional Outcomes?, IZA Discussion Paper No. 8957.	[53]
Jeon, L., C. Buettner and E. Hur (2014), "Examining pre-school classroom quality in a statewide quality rating and improvement system", <i>Child & Youth Care Forum</i> , Vol. 43/4, pp. 469-487, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10566-014-9248-z</u> .	[74]
Justice, L. et al. (2008), "Quality of language and literacy instruction in preschool classrooms serving at-risk pupils", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 23/1, pp. 51-68, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2007.09.004</u> .	[46]

King, E. et al. (2016), "Classroom quality in infant and toddler classrooms: impact of age and programme type", <i>Early Child Development and Care</i> , Vol. 186/11, pp. 1821-1835, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2015.1134521</u> .	[35]
Kuger, S. et al. (2015), "Stability and patterns of classroom quality in German early childhood education and care", <i>An International Journal of Research, Policy, and Practice</i> , Vol. 27/3, pp. 418-440, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2015.1112815</u> .	[65]
Lahti, M. et al. (2015), "Approaches to validating child care quality rating and improvement systems (QRIS): Results from two states with similar QRIS type", <i>Early</i> <i>Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 30, pp. 280-290, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2014.04.005</u> .	[75]
Lehrl, S., S. Kuger and Y. Anders (2014), "Soziale disparitäten beim zugang zu kindergartenqualität und differenzielle konsequenzen für die vorschulische mathematische entwicklung (Social disparities in access to preschool quality and differential consequences on the development of early numeracy)", <i>Unterrichtswissenschaft</i> , Vol. 42, pp. 132-151.	[67]
Leu, H. and R. Schelle (2009), "Between education and care? Critical reflections on early childhood policies in Germany", <i>Early Years</i> , Vol. 29/1, pp. 5-18, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09575140802689034</u> .	[66]
Lipscomb, S. et al. (2017), Oregon's quality rating improvement system (QRIS) validation study one: Associations with observed program quality, Portland State University and Oregon State University.	[76]
LoCassale-Crouch, J. et al. (2007), "Observed classroom quality profiles in state-funded pre-kindergarten programs and associations with teacher, program, and classroom characteristics", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 22/1, pp. 3-17, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2006.05.001</u> .	[68]
LoCassale-Crouch, J. et al. (2011), "Implementing an early childhood professional development course across 10 sites and 15 sections: Lessons learned", <i>NHSA Dialog: A Research-to-Practice Journal for the Early Childhood Field</i> , Vol. 14/4, pp. 275-292, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15240754.2011.617527</u> .	[47]
Markussen-Brown, J. et al. (2017), "The effects of language- and literacy focused professional development on early educators and children: A best-evidence meta- analysis", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 38, pp. 97-115, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2016.07.002</u> .	[54]
Mashburn, A. et al. (2008), "Measures of classroom quality in prekindergarten and children's development of academic, language, and social skills", <i>Child Development</i> , Vol. 79/3, pp. 732-749, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2008.01154.x</u> .	[3]
Mashburn, A. et al. (2009), "Peer effects on children's language achievement during pre- kindergarten", <i>Child Development</i> , Vol. 80/3, pp. 686-702,	[8]

http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01291.x.

Montie, J., Z. Xiang and L. Schweinhart (2006), "Preschool experience in 10 countries: Cognitive and language performance at age 7", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 21/3, pp. 313-331, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2006.07.007</u> .	[9]
Moon, J. and J. Burbank (2004), "The Early Childhood Education Career and Wage Ladder: A Model for Improving Quality in Early Learning and Care Programs", <u>http://www.eoionline.org</u> (accessed on 02 February 2018).	[62]
NICHD Early Child Care Research Network (2002), "Child-care structure → process → outcome: Direct and indirect effects of child-care quality on young children's development", <i>Psychological Science</i> , Vol. 13/3, pp. 199-206, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.00438</u> .	[23]
OECD (2011), <i>Starting strong III: A Quality Toolbox for Early Childhood Education and Care</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264123564-en</u> .	[85]
OECD (2015), <i>Starting Strong IV: Monitoring Quality in Early Childhood Education and Care</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264233515-en</u> .	[77]
Pessanha, M., C. Aguiar and J. Bairrão (2007), "Influence of structural features on Portuguese toddler child care quality", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 22, pp. 204-214, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2007.02.003</u> .	[16]
Philips, D. et al. (2000), "Within and beyond the classroom door: Assessing quality in child care centers", <i>Early Childhoof Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 15/4, pp. 475-496, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(01)00077-1</u> .	[4]
Phillipsen, L. et al. (1997), "The prediction of process quality from structural features of child care", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 12, pp. 281-303, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(97)90004-1</u> .	[5]
Pianta, R. et al. (2005), "Features of Pre-Kindergarten programs, classrooms, and teachers: Do they predict observed classroom quality and child-teacher interactions?", <i>Applied Developmental Science</i> , Vol. 9/3, pp. 144-159.	[28]
Raikes, H., H. Raikes and B. Wilcox (2005), "Regulation, subsidy receipt and provide characteristics: What predicts quality in child care homes?", <i>Early Childhood</i> <i>Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 20/2, pp. 164-184, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2005.04.006</u> .	[41]
Silva et al. (ed.) (2010), <i>The EPPE Research Design: an educational effectiveness focus</i> , Routledge, London/New York.	[64]
Schaack, D., V. Le and C. Setodji (2017), "Home-based child care provider education and specialized training: Associations with caregiving quality and toddler social-emotional and cognitive outcomes", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 28/6, pp. 655-668, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2017.1321927</u> .	[42]
Schnechter, C. and B. Bye (2007), "Preliminary evidence for the impact of mixed-income preschools on low-income children's language growth", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 22/1, pp. 137-146, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2006.11.005</u> .	[72]

Siraj-Blatchford, I. et al. (2005), "Technical Paper 10 "Intensive Case Studies of Practice Across Foundation Stage"", <u>http://www.leeds.ac.uk/educol/documents/00003934.htm</u> (accessed on 19 February 2018).	[50]
Slot, P. et al. (2015), "Associations between structural quality aspects and process quality in Dutch early childhood education and care settings", <i>Early Childhood Research</i> <i>Quarterly</i> , Vol. 33, pp. 64-76, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2015.06.001</u> .	[36]
Slot, P., M. Lerkkanen and P. Leseman (2015), <i>The relations between structural quality</i> <i>and process quality in European early childhood education and care provisions:</i> <i>Secondary data analyses of large scale studies in five countries</i> , CARE, <u>http://ecec- care.org/fileadmin/careproject/Publications/reports/CARE_WP2_D2_2_Secondary_d</u> <u>ata_analyses.pdf</u> .	[48]
Slot, P. et al. (2016), <i>D2.3: Multiple case study in seven European countries regarding culture-sensitive classroom quality assessment</i> , CARE, <u>http://ecec-care.org/fileadmin/careproject/Publications/reports/CARE_WP2_D2_3_Multiple_Case_study_FINAL_REPORT.pdf</u> .	[84]
Slot, P. (2016), <i>Curriculum voor het jonge kind (Curriculum for young children)</i> , uitgave Kennisdossier kinderopvang BKK Oktober 2016, <u>https://www.ris.uu.nl/ws/files/26172779/Kennisdossier_BKK_201601_prf02_PS.pdf</u> .	[86]
Slot, P. (2017), <i>Literature review on Early Childhood Education and Care quality:</i> <i>Relations between structural characteristics at different levels and process quality,</i> Internal document, OECD, Paris.	[78]
Slot, P. et al. (2017a), "Measurement properties of the CLASS Toddler in ECEC in the Netherlands", <i>Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology</i> , Vol. 48, pp. 79-91, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2016.11.008</u> .	[73]
Slot, P. et al. (2017b), Structural and Process Quality of Danish Preschools: Direct and Indirect Associations with Children's Growth in Language and Pre-Literacy Skills, Revision submitted for publication.	[29]
Sylva, K. et al. (2004), The Effective Provision of Pre-school Education (EPPE) project: Final Report - A longitudinal study funded by the DfES 1997-2004, Institute of Education, University of London/ Department for Education and Skills/ Sure Start, London.	[32]
Thomason, A. and K. La Paro (2009), "Measuring the quality of teacher–child interactions in toddler child care", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 20, pp. 285-304, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409280902773351</u> .	[15]
Tonyan, H. and C. Howes (2003), "Exploring patterns in time children spend in a variety of child care activities: Associations with environmental quality, ethnicity, and gender", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 18/1, pp. 121-142, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(03)00006-1</u> .	[69]
Vandenbroeck, M. et al. (2018), <i>Quality in family child care providers: A study of variations in process quality of home-based childcare</i> , Submitted for publication in European Early Childhood Education Journal.	[43]

Vermeer, H. et al. (2016), "Quality of child care using the environmental rating scales: A meta-analysis of international studies", <i>International Journal of Early Childhood</i> , Vol. 48/1, pp. 33-60, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s13158-015-0154-9</u> .	[6]
Vogel, C. et al. (2015a), <i>Toddlers in early Head Start: A portrait of 2-years-olds, their families, and the program serving them</i> , Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, DC.	[17]
Vogel, C. et al. (2015b), <i>Toddlers in early Head Start: A portrait of 3-years-olds, their families, and the program serving them</i> , Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, DC.	[18]
von Suchodoletz, A. et al. (2017), "Associations among quality indicators in early childhood education and care (ECEC) and relations with child development and learning: A meta-analysis", Internal document, OECD, Paris.	[37]
Zaslow, M. et al. (2004), "The role of professional development in creating high quality preschool education", <i>Welfare Reform & Beyond Working Paper</i> , <u>https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/200411Zaslow.pdf</u> (accessed on 19 February 2018).	[51]
Zaslow, M. and I. Martinex-Beck (eds.) (2006), <i>Quality and qualifications: Links between professional development and quality in early care and education settings</i> , Brookes Publishing, Baltimore.	[30]
Zaslow, M. et al. (2010), <i>Quality, dosage, thresholds, and features in early childhood settings: A review of the literature</i> , Mathematica Policy Research, Washington, DC.	[49]

Annex A. List of network member contributors

Reviewers of this publication provided advice and guidance on the development of the two background studies summarised in this report, commented on the drafts, etc. as members of the OECD Network on Early Childhood Education and Care (listed in alphabetical order).

Country	Name	Organisation	
Australia	Australian Government Department of Education and Training		
Belgium (Flanders)	Christele Van Nieuwenhuyzen	Kind en Gezin (Child and Family), Policy Area Childcare	
Canada	Christian Paradis Kelly Hennig Louise Deschambault	Employment and Social Development Canada Alberta Education Ministère de la Famille du Québec	
France	Gilles Petreault	Ministère de l'éducation nationale (Ministry of Education)	
Germany	Simone Bloem Dana Harring Daniel Turani	Deutsches Jugendinstitut e.V. (German Youth Institute)	
Iceland	Björk Óttarsdóttir	Ministry of Education, Science and Culture	
Japan	Early Childhood Education Division, Elementary and Secondary Education Bureau, Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT)		
Netherlands	Inge Bruggers	Ministry of Social Affairs and Employment	
Norway	Tove Mogstad Slinde	Ministry of Education and Research	
Poland	Katarzyna Malec	Ministry of National Education	
Switzerland	Veronika Neruda	Conférence des directrices et directeurs cantonaux des affaires sociales (Swiss Conference of Cantonal Ministers of Social Affairs)	
United Kingdom	Hannah Collyer	Department for Education	
United States	Tom Snyder	Department for Education	
European Commission	Emanuela Tassa Viktoria Bolla	DG Education, Youth, Sport and Culture (EAC)	

Table A A.1. List of network member contributors to this report

Annex B. Literature review method

The methodology for the literature review search was based on a number of starting points that fit the goals of Phase I of the project "Policy Review: Quality beyond Regulations in ECEC" (Slot, $2017_{[16]}$). The literature review was not designed as a systematic review and was carried out with good judgment in line with project goals.

First, an important goal was to align the two initial research inputs for the project, i.e. the literature review and the meta-analysis, and to build on recent OECD projects and publication on quality in ECEC. To fit this goal, the same search terms were used for the two research activities, with additional search terms being added to the literature review for structural quality and for family-based care, as follows:

ECEC OR ECE OR preschool OR care OR child care OR day care OR family OR home-based OR early education OR early childhood AND

structur* quality OR teach* OR teach* education* OR teach* training OR inservice OR professional development OR experience OR ratio OR group size OR class* size OR leadership OR organisation OR organisation OR team OR work* condition*

AND Process quality OR classroom quality OR instruc* quality OR curriculum OR practices OR teaching OR interaction OR activities OR teacher-directed OR child-cent* OR climate

Second, the review was meant to take a cross-national approach, thus aimed explicitly at retrieving studies from countries other than the United States. Hence, search terms related to the continents or regions were added, specifically for South America, Africa, Asia and the Middle East. Additional relevant literature was elicited from participants of the OECD ECEC Network meeting on 4 July 2017. Moreover, feedback and suggestions provided by interested and participating countries in the Policy Review project from September to November 2017 were also integrated in the literature review.

Third, to ensure the inclusion of grey literature in addition to scientific papers, policy and research reports from several countries were covered (e.g. Australia, Flemish Community of Belgium, the Netherlands, England [United Kingdom], and the United States) through search engines as Google and Google Scholar. This allowed the consideration of (ongoing) research projects such as the Effective Early Education Experiences (i.e. E4kids) study in Australia and Measurement and Monitoring of Quality (i.e. MeMoQ) study in the Flemish Community of Belgium, for which scientific papers are not yet available. Moreover, several policy reports were used to collect information on specific structural features, such as the Quality Rating and Improvement Systems (QRIS) in the United States that contained highly relevant findings.

Lastly, the literature review took a comprehensive approach to study the relations between structural and process quality including centre- and family-based day care and focused on the age range from birth up to five years of age.

Reference

Slot, P. (2017), *Literature review on Early Childhood Education and Care quality:* ^[17] *Relations between structural characteristics at different levels and process quality*, Internal document, OECD, Paris.

Annex C. Meta-analysis method

The meta-analysis in this report (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$) used the recommendations by (H. M. Cooper, 2009) and (H. Cooper, Hedgesand Valentine, 2009) as a guideline for the steps which follow the formulation of research questions, i.e. literature retrieval and study selection, data extraction and general analytic approach. The methodology for each of the steps is summarised below, and described in greater detail in (von Suchodoletz et al., $2017_{[17]}$).

Literature retrieval of relevant studies and study selection

The identification of publications suitable to the purpose of the meta-analysis involved different sources of information and different steps. First, an important goal in this process was to align the two parts of Phase I of the project "Policy Review: Quality beyond Regulations in ECEC", i.e. the literature review and the meta-analysis, and to build on recent OECD initiatives on quality in ECEC. We therefore included all references cited in the literature review (in total, 60 references in the version presented at the ECEC Network meeting 4 July 2017). In addition, the OECD project team provided two relevant literature reviews on quality in ECEC (Anders, 2015; Strasser, Rolla, & Romero-Contreras, 2016) from which all references were included (Anders, 2015: 186 references; Strasser et al., 2016: 47 references).

A second important goal of the meta-analysis was to include studies conducted outside the United States, with a particular focus on OECD member countries. We conducted an online search of governmental education-related websites of OECD member countries (links found OECD website: were on the member country http://www.oecd.org/about/membersandpartners/list-oecd-member-countries.htm) and identified national studies relevant to ECEC. To retrieve as complete a list as possible, member countries of the ECEC Network and the OECD team provided additional largescale national studies.

Once a list of national studies was identified, we conducted a systematic literature search of electronic databases (PsycNet, ERIC and EBSCO Host). In a first step, we identified scientific publications using data from national studies by directly inputting search terms of well-known large-scale studies (e.g. *Bildungsprozesse, Kompetenzentwicklung und Selektionsentscheidungen im Vorschul- und Schulalter* [Educational Processes, Competence Development and Selection Decisions in Preschool- and School Age, BiKS], E4KIDS, National Center for Early Development and Learning [NCEDL], State-Wide Early Education Programs [SWEEP], etc.). In a second step, we used the country name and the following search terms "early childhood education" OR "center" OR "child care" OR "childcare" OR "day care" OR "daycare" OR "preschool" OR "kindergarten" OR "pre-k" to identify additional studies. This strategy ensured that all countries of interest were well represented in the national study list but also generated a significantly large number of hits which included many irrelevant studies. In such cases, the above search terms were filtered to "key words" OR "appearing in the abstract".

In general, the literature retrieval/search was restricted to studies published over the past 10 years, i.e. between 01.01.2007 and 31.05.2017. Additional criteria were defined in close collaboration with the OECD project team and included: children's age (with a focus on children ages 3-6 years) and developmental domains (focusing on emerging academic skills, behavioural skills, social-emotional skills) as well as measures to evaluate the quality of studies, such as reliability regarding the measures used to assess the variables of interest.

It is important to note that this process was not rigid in its parameters and was carried out with good judgment until the national study list consisted of studies that were relevant to the objectives of this project. The total number of studies that were identified through the literature search regarding national studies was 1 079. Nine of these studies were duplicates (i.e. already included in the above-mentioned literature reviews' reference lists: Anders, 2015; Slot, 2017; Strasser et al., 2016) and therefore deleted from the list. In sum, a total number of 1 410 studies was identified (i.e. references from Anders, 2015; Slot, 2017; and Strasser et al., 2016 plus the literature search for national studies) and entered into the data extraction process of the meta-analysis.

A full reference list is available for download from our website at: <u>www.oecd.org/education/school/ECEC-meta-analysis-studies.pdf</u>.

Data extraction

Due to the large number of publications identified in the literature retrieval/search, data extraction followed a heavily structured procedure. To reduce the number of studies, the studies were first pre-screened and restricted to studies that included process quality indicators. By doing so, we ensured that studies included the necessary data relevant to the research questions. Box A.C.1 details the screening flowchart.

Out of the total of 1 410 identified studies, resource and time constraints limited the number of pre-screened studies for the meta-analysis to 1 204 studies (85% of the total number of identified studies). Among these studies, 221 studies reported research exclusively from the United States; 85 studies reported data from multiple countries, including the United States; 295 studies reported research conducted in a European country; and 340 studies reported research from countries from outside the United States and Europe. The pre-screening identified 233 studies (138 Non-US studies and 95 US studies) that qualified for full screening (i.e. included process quality measures). Table A C.1 summarises the pre-screening categories.

Box A.C.1. Screening flowchart for the meta-analysis

If some of the analyses presented in a study meet our criteria the study will be screened.

PRE-SCREENING

PRE-A: Non-US/US research including process quality indicators: Does the study report data from outside the United States and includes measures process quality indicators? If yes, the study will be screened first.

- 1. NON-US study AND measures of process quality indicators \rightarrow FIRST PRIORITY FOR SCREENING
- 2. US study AND measures of process quality indicators → SECOND PRIORITY FOR SCREENING
- 3. NON-US study BUT NO measures of process quality indicators \rightarrow LATER SCREENING (if resources available)
- 4. US study BUT NO measures of process quality indicators → LATER SCREENING (if resources available)

IMPORTANT: Code the country in which the data was collected during prescreening.

A: EXCLUSION criteria: Do any of the following exclusion criteria apply?

- 5. The study is reported in a journal/book/book chapter that is NOT available online (time constraints do not permit us to wait for inter-library loan or responses from authors).
- 6. The study is published prior to 01-01-2007 or after 05-31-2017.
- 7. The study is published prior to 01-01-2000 or after 05-31-2017.
- 8. The study is ONLY qualitative (i.e. no quantitative analyses are reported).
- 9. The study is a (multiple) case study.
- 10. The study is ONLY descriptive (i.e. only descriptive data is reported).
- 11. The study is an unpublished dissertation.
- 12. The study is only published as a conference abstract that does NOT provide full information that would be required for coding.
- 13. The study does NOT report structural/process quality indicators observed in an ECEC setting. The study will be excluded even if structural/process quality indicators were reported in primary school or for infant/toddler classrooms only.
- 14. The study is a policy/government report.
- IF 1-9, SKIP TO CODING PRIORITY AND CHECK # 1 DO NOT CODE
- 15. None of the above \rightarrow GO TO NEXT SECTION: B
- B: LANGUAGE OF PUBLICATION: Is the study a non-English publication?
 - 16. Yes, the study is NOT published in English → SKIP TO CODING PRIORITY AND CHECK # 2 NON-ENGLISH PUBLICATION
- IMPORTANT: Code the language in which the study has been published

17. No \rightarrow GO TO NEXT SECTION: C

C: CHILD CARE SETTING: Does the study include centre-based or non-centre-based child care settings?

- 18. The study includes informal non-centre based child care settings (unregistered/uncertified family-based care). → SKIP TO CODING PRIORITY AND CHECK # 3 INFORMAL NON-CENTRE BASED CHILD CARE SETTING
- 19. The study includes formal non-centre based child care settings (registered/certified family-based care; recognised under the country's respective ECEC regulations). → SKIP TO CODING PRIORITY AND CHECK # 4 FORMAL NON-CENTRE BASED CHILD CARE SETTING
- 20. The study includes centre-based child care settings. \rightarrow GO TO NEXT SECTION: D
- D: INTERVENTION/IMPACT EVALUATION
 - 21. The intervention/impact evaluation did NOT provide analyses relevant for the goals of the meta-analysis. → SKIP TO CODING PRIORITY AND CHECK # 1 DO NOT CODE
 - 22. The intervention/impact evaluation did include indicators of structural quality as covariates to a treatment equation when predicting process quality. \rightarrow GO TO NEXT SECTION: E
- E: Is the study a META-ANALYSIS OR RIEVIEW?
 - 23. Yes \rightarrow SKIP TO CODING PRIORITY AND CHECK # 5 META-ANALYSIS OR REVIEW
 - 24. No \rightarrow GO TO NEXT SECTION: F

F: Does study report acceptable RELIABILITY of quality/child outcome measures?

25. No, study does not include multi-item measure (i.e. only one single item is used to measure aspects of quality and thus no reliability information is reported).

 \rightarrow SKIP TO CODING PRIORITY AND CHECK # 1 DO NOT CODE

- 26. Yes, BUT measures used in the study do NOT have acceptable reliability (for example, reported consistencies are < .6).
- 27. Yes, BUT study ONLY reports reliability for child outcome measures.

 \rightarrow IF 2 or 3, CHECK # 7 FOR LOW PRIORITY

28. Yes, study reports acceptable reliability for quality measures (for example, reported consistencies are \rightarrow .6) OR study reports acceptable reliability for quality AND child outcome measures (for example, reported consistencies are \rightarrow .6)

 \rightarrow GO TO NEXT SECTION: G

- G: RELEVANCE of study: Do any of the following criteria apply?
 - 29. The study includes process quality measures.
30. The study reports international research (i.e. non-US).

Additional information about the study:

- 31. The study differentiates between school socio-economic status and/or accounts for socio-economic status in the analyses.
- 32. The study reports separate variables for structural quality and process quality (i.e. the study did NOT combine structural and process quality indicators into one global quality score).
- 33. The study includes child outcome data.
- 34. Sample size teachers/leaders (Goal 1): The sample size equals or is larger than 45 teachers/classrooms/playgroups/playrooms (more conservative G*Power analysis correlational analyses with an effect size of .45)
- 35. Sample size children/students (Goal 2): Child outcomes are reported for more than (on average) 4 children per classroom.

 \rightarrow IF 1 AND 2, and any of 3-7 \rightarrow CHECK #8 FOR HIGHEST PRIORITY CODING

 \rightarrow IF 1 BUT NOT 2, and any of 3-7 \rightarrow CHECK #6 FOR HIGH PRIORITY CODING

- 36. The study combines indicators of structural and process quality into one global quality score but item-level information is available to determine the percentage of items that focus on structural quality versus process quality.
- 37. Sample size teachers/leaders (Goal 1): The sample size equals or is larger than 26 teachers/classrooms/playgroups/playrooms (more optimistic G*Power analysis correlational analyses with an effect size of .6)

 \rightarrow IF 2 AND 8 OR 9, CHECK # 7 FOR LOW PRIORITY CODING

→ IF 8 OR 9, CHECK # 9 FOR LOW PRIORITY CODING

38. None of the above \rightarrow SKIP TO CODING PRIORITY AND CHECK # 1 DO NOT CODE

CODING PRIORITY (CHECK ONLY ONE):

- \Box 1 DO NOT CODE
- □ 2 NON-ENGLISH PUBLICATION
- □ 3 INFORMAL NON-CENTER BASED CHILD CARE SETTING
- □ 4 FORMAL NON-CENTER BASED CHILD CARE SETTING
- □ 5 META-ANALYSIS OR REVIEW
- \Box 6 HIGH PRIORITY CODING (US STUDY)
- □ 7 LOW PRIORITY CODING (NON-US STUDY)
- □ 8 HIGHEST PRIORITY CODING (NON-US STUDY)
- □ 9 LOW PRIORITY CODING (US STUDY)

Code	Description	Number of studies per category (N=1204)
1	Non-US study AND measures of process quality indicators \rightarrow FIRST PRIORITY FOR SCREENING	138
2	US study AND measures of process quality indicators \rightarrow SECOND PRIORITY FOR SCREENING	95
3	Non-US study BUT NO measures of process quality indicators \rightarrow LATER SCREENING (if resources available)	535
4	US study BUT NO measures of process quality indicators \rightarrow LATER SCREENING (if resources available)	121
999	Country of data collection cannot be identified	45
9999	The pre-screening criteria cannot be applied (website, government/policy report, literature review/meta-analysis, book, etc.).	270

Table A C.1. Pre-screening categories

Source: (von Suchodoletz et al., 2017_[17])

To be coded, these studies had to undergo a second screening process (i.e. full screening). The full screening consisted of several additional categories. Studies were excluded if exclusion criteria applied (see Box A.C.2; Section A); if they were not published in English (Section B); if the study did not include centre-based child care settings (Section C); if the study reported an intervention and/or impact evaluation and did not report analyses relevant to the research questions (Section D); if the study was a meta-analysis and/or literature review (Section E); if the study did not include information to evaluate the reliability of the measures (Section F). Studies which met the inclusion criteria were categorised into coding priorities: Highest priority coding (screening code 8; i.e. non-US research with process quality measures), high priority coding (screening codes 7 and 9, see Table A C.2).

Table A C.2. Screening categories

Number of studies meeting the coding priority criteria and included in the coding are in bold.

Code	Description	Total number of studies per category (N=233)	Number of Non-US studies per category (N=138)	Number of US studies per category (N=95)
1	DO NOT CODE	109	64	45
2	NON-ENGLISH PUBLICATION	7	7	NA
3	INFORMAL NON-CENTER BASED CHILD CARE SETTING	0	0	0
4	FORMAL NON-CENTER BASED CHILD CARE SETTING	3	2	1
5	META-ANALYSIS OR REVIEW	5	4	1
6	HIGH PRIORITY CODING (US STUDY)	21	NA	21
7	LOW PRIORITY CODING (NON- US STUDY)	1	1	NA
8	HIGHEST PRIORITY CODING (NON-US STUDY)	23	23	NA
9	LOW PRIORITY CODING (US STUDY)	2	NA	2
	FULL SCREENING NOT COMPLETED	62	37	25

Source: (von Suchodoletz et al., 2017_[17])

The pre-screening and full screening process was completed in two rounds of which only the first round could be included in the coding for the meta-analysis. This was due to time and resource constraints limiting the number of studies from which data could be extracted. The first round identified 56 studies eligible for full coding (i.e. screening categories 6 and 8). Following Cooper (2009) and Cooper et al. (2009), the quality of the screening decision was evaluated for each of the studies and corrected for 12 studies which were subsequently excluded from the full coding. Reasons were: The study did not include variables/measures relevant to the research questions of the meta-analysis (Barnett, Yarosz, Thomas, Jung, & Blanco, 2007; Curby, Grimm, & Pianta, 2010; Fenech, Harrison, & Sumsion, 2011; Kimer, Tuul, & Õun, 2016; Perren et al., 2017; Ribeiro, Zachrisson, & Dearing, 2017); The study did not report results of interest to the meta-analysis (Ahn & Shin, 2013; Helmerhorst, Riksen-Walraven, Fukkink, Tavecchio, & Gevers Deynoot-Schaub, 2016; LoCasale-Crouch et al., 2007; Tayler et al., 2016); The study was not published between 01.01.2007 and 31.05.2017 (Connor, Morrison, & Slominski, 2006). This resulted in a final sample of 44 studies included in the coding (See flow diagram in Figure A C.1), of which 16 studies reported research from European countries (screening category 8), 21 studies reported research from the United States (screening category 6), and 7 studies reported research from outside both Europe and the United States (screening category 8) (see Table A C.3). Among the 44 studies included in the coding, 25 studies reported separate indicators for structural and process quality; 30 studies included samples of more than 45 ECEC staff; and 32 studies reported child data (19 of those studies included samples of more than 4 children per classroom). Figure A C.2 summarises reasons for the exclusion of studies after full screening.



Figure A C.1. Flow diagram of data extraction

Source: (von Suchodoletz et al., 2017_[17])

			Samp	le size			E	CEC Quality				Doman of Child	
					Structural Characteristics Indicators of Process Quality					Development and Learning			
Author (Year)	Country	Large Scale Study	ECEC Staff	Children	Centre	Group	ECEC Staff	Staff-Child Interactions	Facilitatio n of Peer Interactio ns	Developmenta I and Educational Activities	Measures of Process Quality	Emerging Academic Skills	Behavioural / Social Skills
Abreu-Lima (2013)	Portugal	-	60	215	_	-	—	Х	—	Х	ECERS	Х	Х
Anders et al. (2012)	Germany	BiKS	-	532	_	Х	_	Х	_	Х	ECERS	Х	_
Bowne et al. (2016)	Chile	Un Buen Comienzo	118	-	—	-	Х	—	-	Х	Video coding	_	-
Brock & Curby (2014)	USA	SWEEP	694	2938	_	_	Х	Х	_	—	CLASS,STR S	_	Х
Bub (2009)	USA	NICHD SECCYD	-	503	—	-	—	Х	—	Х	ORCE,COS, STRS	—	Х
Buckrop et al (2016)	USA	NCEDL	245	959	_	Х	Х	Х	_	—	CLASS,STR S	Х	_
Burchinal et al (2010)	USA	NCEDL/SW EEP	671	1129	Х	-	—	Х	—	_	CLASS	Х	Х
Burchinal et al (2011)	USA	NICHD SECCYD	-	344	—	Х	—	Х	—	_	ORCE,COS	Х	_
Burchinal et al (2014)	USA	NICHD SECCYD	-	677	_	_	_	Х	_	—	ORCE	Х	Х
Burchinal et al (2014)	USA	Family life Project	-	849	_	_	_	Х	_	—	CLASS	Х	Х
Cadima et al. (2015)	Belgium	-	30	145	_	Х	Х	Х	-	—	STRS,CLAS S	-	Х
Cadima et al. (2016)	Portugal	-	103	485	—	—	—	Х	-	—	CLASS	-	Х
Chang et al. (2007)	USA	NCEDL/SW EEP	161	345	—	Х	Х	X	-	-	ECERS,STR S	Х	-
Cloney et al. (2015)	Australia	-	462	-	Х	-	—	Х	—	—	CLASS	—	

Table A C.3. Description of coded studies (n=44)

148 ANNEX C. META-ANALYSIS METHOD

Coley et al (2016)	USA	ECLC-B	-	4250	Х	Х	Х	Х	_	Х	ECERS	Х	Х
de Haan et al.	Netherlands	-	16	92	_	_	_	_	_	Х	Activity	Х	_
(2014)											Coding		
Dennis et al (2013)	USA	-	37	-	—	Х	Х	Х	-	—	ECERS	—	—
Ferreira et al. (2016)	Portugal	-	50	168	-	—	—	Х	—	_	STRS	—	Х
Guo et al. (2010)	USA	-	67	328	_	—	Х	Х	—	—	CLASS	Х	—
Hatfield et al. (2013)	USA	-	16	-	—	Х	Х	Х	—	—	CLASS	—	—
Howes et al. (2008)	USA	NCEDL/SW EEP	692	2323	Х	Х	Х	Х	_	Х	ECERS,CLA SS,STRS	Х	Х
Hu et al. (2016)	China	-	162	-	Х	Х	Х	Х	_	—	ECERS	—	—
Justice et al. (2008)	USA	-	135	-	—	—	Х	—	—	Х	CLASS	—	—
Kluczniok et al. (2014)	Germany	-	16	191	Х	_	_	—	_	Х	ECERS	_	Х
Kuger et al. (2016)	Germany	BiKS	97	-	Х	Х	Х	Х	—	Х	ECERS	—	—
Lehrl et al. (2014)	Germany	BiKS	89	-	_	Х	Х	_	_	Х	Activity Logs	_	_
Lerkkanen et al. (2012)	Finland	First Steps Study	49	515	Х	Х	Х	Х	_	_	ECCOM	_	Х
McCartney et al (2010).	USA	NICHD SECCYD	-	705	-	_	_	Х	_	—	ORCE	_	Х
McGinty et al (2012)	USA	-	59	379	—	—	Х	Х	_	Х	ORCE	Х	—
Melhuish et al (2013)	UK-Northern Ireland	EPPNI	-	683	-	_	_	Х	_	—	ECERS	Х	_
NICHD ECCRN (2007)	USA	NICHD SECCYD	-	913	_	_	_	Х	_	—	ORCE	Х	Х
Niklas et al (2016)	Australia	E4Kids Study	121	343	Х	_	_	Х	_	—	CLASS	Х	_
OConnor et al (2014)	USA	NICHD SECCYD	-	1126	_	_	_	Х	_	—	STRS	_	Х
Philips et al (2009)	USA	-	106	-	Х	_	Х	Х	_	Х	CLASS	_	Х
Pianta et al. (2008)	USA	-	113	-	—	Х	Х	Х	_	—	CLASS	_	—
Richter et al (2016)	Germany	BiKS	107	235	_	_	_	Х	_	_	ECERS	Х	Х
Sylva et al. (2016)	United Kingdom	EPPE	-	2701	-	—	—	Х	—	—	ECERS	Х	-

Shavega et al. (2014)	Tanzania	-	20	320	_	Х	Х	Х	_	_	STRS, CLASS	_	Х
Slot et al. (2017)	Netherlands	Pre-COOL	375	-	Х	Х	Х	Х	—	—	CLASS	—	—
Smidt et al. (2012)	Germany	BiKS	50	96	—	Х	—	—	—	Х	Observation	Х	—
Strasser et al. (2009)	Chile	-	-	126	—	_	—	—	_	Х	Observation	Х	—
Tayler et al (2013)	Australia	E4Kids Study	258	-	Х	-	—	Х	-	_	CLASS	_	_
Vandell et al (2010)	USA	NICHD SECCYD	-	957	_	_	_	Х	_	—	ORCE	Х	Х
Vermeer (2010)	a) Spain		26	-	_	Х	Х	Х	—	—	ECERS	_	—
	b) Netherlands		31	-	—	Х	Х	Х	—	—	ECERS	_	—

Note: CLASS- Classroom Assessment Scoring System, ECERS- Early Childhood Environment Rating Scale, STRS- Student Teacher Relationship Scale, ORCE-Observational Record of the Caregiving Environment, COS- Classroom Observation System. *Source*: (von Suchodoletz et al., 2017_[17])





Non English publication
Formal non center
Meta analysis/review
Low priority(Intl)
Low priority(US)
Prescreened as 1 & 2 , but not full screened
Not online
Published prior to 01-01-2007 or after 05-31-2017
The study is ONLY qualitative
The study is a (multiple) case study.
The study is ONLY descriptive

Source: (von Suchodoletz et al., 2017_[17])

The final step of data extraction included the coding, using a detailed codebook (available upon request from the authors of the meta-analysis or authors of the report). The codebook was developed in close collaboration with the OECD project team, with several rounds of feedback from the OECD team being incorporated. The codebook allowed for fine-grained extraction of different types of information to reflect the complexity of reported study designs and analyses. Extracted information included general information about the study including:

- the primary goal of the reported research and research design;
- information regarding the timing of the data collection;
- the participants, the recruitment procedure, and the country/region where the data was collected;
- the representativeness of the reported sample;
- the population served in the ECEC centres;
- the type and setting of the ECEC centre;
- and the type of publication;
- information about the applied measures for structural and process quality, and for child outcomes; including information about the type of measure, reliability and type of reliability analysis);
- information about the effects (standard deviation, size and significance of effects) and about the type of reported analysis.

Whenever a study reports a relevant finding indicating the strength of the relationship of a structural characteristic and process quality in the ECEC setting (goal 1), or of a structural and/or process quality aspect and a developmental outcome (goal 2), it was included in our coding. The codebook also includes detailed explanations of all categories and codes to facilitate reliability of coding.

We had four coders (one of the PIs and three other coders at the masters and undergraduate levels) extracting the data. For each step, the quality and accuracy of data extraction was checked through 15% of references being pre-screened/screened/coded by two independent coders. The inter-coder agreement was acceptable for the pre-screening, screening and coding, ranging between 80-100%.

Description of studies included in the meta-analysis

The full coding of 44 studies has been completed. Twenty-one of the studies reported research from the United States. Of the remaining studies, 16 reported research from different European countries (Germany [6], Netherlands [2], Portugal [3], and one study each from Flemish Community of Belgium, Finland, Ireland, Spain, and the United Kingdom) and 7 research from other countries (Australia [3], Chile [2], China [1], and Tanzania [1]).

Five of the studies from the United States came from the NCEDL and SWEEP databases (Brock & Curby, 2014; Buckrop, Roberts, & LoCasale-Crouch, 2016; M. Burchinal, Vandergrift, Pianta, & Mashburn, 2010; Chang et al., 2007; Howes et al., 2008), and seven studies from the NICHD SECCYD (National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Study of Early Child Care and Youth Development) database (Bub, 2009; M. Burchinal et al., 2011; M. R. Burchinal, Lowe Vandell and Belsky, 2014; McCartney et al., 2010; NICHD ECCRN, 2007; O'Connor, Scott, McCormick and Weinberg, 2014; Vandell et al., 2010).

The majority of studies from Germany [5] came from the BiKS database (Kuger, Kluczniok, Kaplan, & Rossbach, 2015; Lehrl, Smidt, Grosse, & Richter, 2013; Richter, Lehrl, & Weinert, 2015; Smidt, Lehrl, Anders, Pohlmann-Rother, & Kluczniok, 2012).

Two of the studies from Australia came from the E4Kids (Effective Early Educational Experiences) database (Niklas, Tayler, & Cohrssen, 2017; Tayler, Ishimine, Cloney, Cleveland, & Thorpe, 2013).

Additional databases from large-scale national cohort studies included the First Steps database in Finland (Lerkkanen et al., 2012), the Pre-COOL database in the Netherlands (Slot, Boom, Verhagen, & Leseman, 2017), the Un Buen Comienzo database in Chile (Bowne et al., 2016a), and the EPPE (Effective Provision of Pre-School Education) database in the United Kingdom (Sylva et al., 2013).

The primary goal of the studies was to describe quality in ECEC settings (n=13), to explore associations between structural and process quality (n=11) and/or associations between ECEC quality and children's development and learning (n=33). Fifteen studies reported cross-sectional data (i.e. all data were collected at one measurement point); the remaining studies were longitudinal studies with at least two waves of data collection.

Of the independent samples, (i.e. excluding overlapping datasets by retaining only the largest sample size), the total sample size of the studies coded was 3 110 ECEC staff (lead teachers) and 16 386 children, together from 1,977 ECEC centres. Sample sizes ranged from 92 to 2 938 children, and from 16 to 694 ECEC staff. When reported (n=26), the samples were representative at the state/regional level where the data was collected for most studies (n=22). Additional studies reported that the study population was representative at the national level (n=1: (Slot, Boom, et al., 2017) or at the local level (n=3; (Bowne et al., 2016a; Cadima et al., 2016; Phillips et al., 2009). All of the studies that included child data had similar numbers of boys and girls (43% to 53% girls). Children's age was, on average, 66 months (ranging from 37 months to 180 months; SD=36.9). When reported, the majority of ECEC staff was female (95% to 100%) and, on average, 37 years old (SD=4.80).

The majority of studies (n=37) recruited participants in the ECEC setting. With regard to the type of ECEC setting (public and/or private), information was available for 15 studies of which five studies recruited participants from both, public and private ECEC settings. The remaining studies recruited participants from public ECEC settings. The primary population of children served in the ECEC centres was diverse in terms of background and included children from low-income backgrounds, immigrant children, ethnic minority children, and children whose home language is different from the language used in the ECEC centre.

Description of Measures: Structural and process quality

Most studies described structural features of the ECEC setting as part of the sample description. This resulted in vastly different operationalisations of structural quality indicators across studies, thus limiting the comparability of results.

Process quality was operationalised as staff-child interactions in all but 7 studies and most commonly assessed through observational measures. Measures were the Early Childhood Environment Rating Scale (ECERS; (Harms, Clifford, & Cryer, 1998; Sylva et al., 2006); n=13), the Classroom Assessment Scoring System (CLASS; (R. C Pianta, La Paro, & Hamre, 2008); n=16), the Observational Record of the Caregiving Environment (ORCE; NICHD ECCRN, 1996; n=7), and the Classroom Observation System (COS; NICHD

ECCRN, 2004; n=2). Nine studies used a self-report measure (in all cases the Student-Teacher Relationship Scale, STRS, was used; (Robert C. Pianta, 2001). Of these studies, the self-report was used in addition to the observational measure in 7 studies. In 23 studies, a global score of the measure was used to describe the quality of staff-child interactions. In addition, 18 studies focused on positive interactions (i.e. warmth, responsiveness, emotional climate), 4 studies on negative interactions (i.e. conflict, permissiveness, negative climate), 10 studies on instructional interactions (i.e. general instructional support and cognitive stimulation but not content-specific instruction), and 8 studies on organisation/management of routines/chaos.

Fifteen studies focused on the quality or more exposure to developmental and educational activity indicators of process quality which were assessed using observational (n=13) and self-report measures (n=2). Different measures were used across studies, including, for example, the ECERS-E (Harms et al., 1998); n=3), the Early Literacy and Language Classroom Observation (ELLCO; (Smith, Dickinson, & Sangeorge, 2002); n=1), the Emerging Academics Snapshot (Ritchie, Howes, Kraft-Sayre, & Weiser, 2001; n=1), or the Target Child Observation (Kuger, Pflieger, & Roßbach, 2006); n=1). Despite the variety of measures, all studies focused on educational activities, i.e. early literacy or early numeracy activities.

None of the studies, however, investigated peer interactions as an indicator of process quality.

Evaluating the quality of the measures used to assess process quality

Most of the studies reported information regarding the reliability of process quality measures (n=37 for the measure of staff-child interactions and n=11 for the measure of developmental and educational activities). The majority of studies reported alpha reliability coefficients, ranging between 0.68 and 0.95 for the measure of staff-child interactions and between 0.72 and 0.91 for the measure of developmental and educational activities. Some studies reported interrater reliability coefficients, ranging between 0.69 and 0.90 for the measure of staff-child interactions and between 0.71 and 0.90 for the measure of developmental and educational activities.

Description of measures: Child data

Data on children's development and learning was most commonly assessed using standardised performance tests (n=21) and ECEC staff/parent ratings (n=8). Two studies used self-report measures. Available child data were grouped into emerging academic skills (early numeracy and literacy) and social and behavioural skills (behaviour regulation, executive function, behavioural problems, social competence). Common measures of emerging academic skills included the Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test (PPVT), the Woodcock-Johnson Tests of Cognitive Ability, and ECEC staff or parent rating scales to assess social and behavioural competencies.

Evaluating the quality of the measures used to assess children's development and learning

Information regarding the measures' reliability was limited. Only 17 studies reported reliability information, with alpha coefficients ranging between 0.72 and 0.98. However, in the majority of cases where reliability was not reported, studies used well-established and validated measures.

General analytic approach

Description of effect sizes and preparation of data for estimation of overall effects

One important goal of meta-analysis was to compare multiple studies to estimate the overall, or combined, measure of effect size. For the current analysis, effect size is the degree and direction of association, or correlation, between two variables (e.g. between indicators of structural and process quality for Research Question 1, and between indicators of structural/process quality and child development and learning for Research Question 2).

Most of the studies reported correlation indices in the form of either zero-order correlation coefficient or regression coefficient. The former simply reflects the association between two variables without controlling for additionally related variables, while the latter is mostly produced as a result of multivariate regression where additional control variables are included. Both zero-order correlation coefficient and regression coefficient are standardised, such that a coefficient value ranges between -1 to 1 and being closer to 0 means little association between two variables. A coefficient of negative value would mean that an increase in the measure of one variable is associated with a decrease in the measure of the other variable, while a coefficient of positive value would mean that both variables increase or decrease in same direction. Only standardised coefficients were used in the analyses. Unstandardised coefficients of an association between two variables were standardised by multiplying the unstandardised coefficient with the coefficient of the standard deviation of variable 1 divided by the standard deviation variable 2.

The unit of analysis in this meta-analysis is at the study level – that is, each study that provides at least one effect size measure. Of the 44 studies included in the coding, a total of 34 studies (n=17 reporting research from the United States and n=17 reporting research from outside the Unites States) contributed at least one usable effect size in the analysis. Note that at least two unique studies are needed to run a meta-analysis and to obtain an estimate of combined effect size measure. For this reason, any studies that reported an effect size for an association that no other studies reported could not be used. Four studies that reported only unstandardised correlation coefficients could not be used in the analysis, because three did not report standard deviations for variables (Melhuish et al., 2013; NICHD ECCRN, 2007; Robert C Pianta, Mashburn, Downer, Hamre, & Justice, 2008) and the other appeared to report erroneous standard deviation values (M. Burchinal et al., 2010). Without a reported standard deviation for variables, unstandardised correlation coefficients cannot be standardised. Lastly, studies that used special regression methods that did not allow for effect size standardisation (Bowne et al., 2016b; Smidt et al., 2012; Sylva et al., 2013) were also omitted from the analysis.

Of the 34 studies that provided at least one effect size measure in our analysis, 14 studies adjusted their effect sizes by statistically accounting for nesting among subjects. Nested structure within data exists when a group of children are nested within an ECEC staff, and a group of ECEC staff are in turn nested within a centre/program. Adjusting for such hierarchical nesting may improve the accuracy of effect size, by accounting for the similarity among the subjects within a group compared to the subjects nested within other groups. In the current meta-analysis, we did not differentiate effect sizes based on whether nesting was adjusted in original studies.

Aggregation of effect sizes

To increase the number of unique studies for a test, we aggregated variables within a study for the following indicators: for staff-child interactions we combined positive interactions, instructional interactions and organisation/management of routines/chaos into one indicator; for developmental and educational activity, we combined all indicators into one; and for child data we combined behavioural and social-emotional indicators into one. Variables were combined within each study, by first converting effect size measures to *z*-score via Fisher's *z*-transformation method and then averaging these *z*-scores and back-converting the average into Pearson's *r* correlation coefficient using an equation suggested by (Corey, Dunlap, & Burke, 1998).

Statistical analysis

All statistical analysis was conducted using Comprehensive Meta Analysis software V.3. We used a two-tailed significance level of 0.05 throughout the analysis. Two types of meta-analysis were used in the current study: (general) meta-analysis and sub-group meta-analysis.

First, to estimate the combined measure of association between two variables, we ran a meta-analysis for each association of interest. Twenty such meta-analyses were conducted. An analysis was conducted if there were at least two studies contributing effect size measures; in other words, the sample size of each analysis was at minimum 2 (median=3).

The result of each analysis is presented in a forest plot. In these, original effect sizes reported from each study are depicted as black squares, and a summary effect size depicted as a blue diamond. Summary effect size is the estimated combined association between two variables. A summary effect size not significantly different from 0 (dotted line in a forest plot) would suggest little association, while a positive summary effect size closer to 1 would suggest stronger positive association and the opposite for a negative summary effect size closer to -1.

To obtain a summary effect size, original effect sizes are aggregated by assigning different 'weights' to each effect size (rather than simply averaging all effect sizes), hence the different sizes of black squares. The weighting is done because studies often differ in the precision of reported effect sizes.

There are two models used in meta-analysis, fixed-effect model and random-effects model, which make different assumptions about how to evaluate which effect sizes may be more precise and thus should receive higher weights. A fixed-effect model assumes that there is one true effect size that underlies all the studies in an analysis. As such, observed variability in effect sizes would be only due to sampling error. Under fixed-effect model, an effect size provided from a study with larger sample size receives higher weight because a larger sample size increases the precision of an estimate.

In contrast, a random-effects model allows a possibility that there are multiple true effect sizes and that studies may differ because they reflect meaningful differences among the studies due to the characteristics of their populations. Because each study is assumed to represent a distinct population, weighting is more balanced across studies but is more sensitive to the number of available effect sizes.

A random-effects model is more appropriate when considerable variation is expected among studies, such as in the current meta-analysis where we aimed to compare studies conducted on possibly quite heterogeneous populations from around the world. However, because of the low sample size per analysis, as well as over-representation of research from the United States with large sample sizes, we flexibly chose between fixed-effect and random-effects model assumptions following these criteria: Whenever there were more than two of US studies plus two non-US studies represented in the sample of unique studies, we used a random-effects model. Whenever there were less than two of either US or non-US studies represented in the sample of unique studies, we used both fixed-effect and random-effects model. Finally, when only US studies were available, we used a fixed-effect model.

Second, we conducted sub-group meta-analysis to test whether effect sizes would vary according to 1) countries and 2) children's socio-economic background. Country comparisons were only possible to conduct across US and non-US studies (i.e. combining all other countries represented in the sample of 34 studies), due to the availability of data. Socio-economic background comparisons were conducted only among studies from the United States.

Because all the nine available studies conducted on disadvantaged children (i.e. children from low-income populations) were from the United States, we restricted the comparison within the United States to reduce potential addition of heterogeneity other than the difference due to children's socio-economic background. In a sub-group meta-analysis, variability of effect sizes across sub-groups is compared to the overall variability of effect sizes. Whether the former is significantly larger than the latter is tested by Cochran's Q-test. We assumed random-effects model for every sub-group meta-analysis, to account for the possibility that two sub-groups being compared may come from distinct populations.

References

Ahn, D. and D. Shin (2013), "Is the social use of media for seeking connectedness or for avoiding social isolation? Mechanisms underlying media use and subjective well- being", <i>Computers in Human Behavior</i> , Vol. 29/6, pp. 2453-2462, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2012.12.022</u> .	[13]
Anders, Y. (2015), <i>Literature review on pedagogy in OECD countries</i> , OECD, Paris, <u>http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=EDU/EDPC/ECEC%282015%297&docLanguage=En</u> .	[4]
Barnett, W. et al. (2007), "Two-way and monolingual English immersion in preschool education: An experimental comparison", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 22/3, pp. 277-293, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2007.03.003</u> .	[7]
Bowne, J., H. Yoshikawa and C. Snow (2016), "Experimental impacts of a teacher professional development program in early childhood on explicit vocabulary instruction across the curriculum", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 34, pp. 27-39, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2015.08.002</u> .	[38]
Bowne, J. et al. (2017), "A meta-analysis of class size and ratios in early childhood programs: Are thresholds of quality associated with greater impacts on cognitive, achievement, and socioemotional outcomes?", <i>Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis</i> , advanced online publication, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3102/0162373716689489</u> .	[53]
Brock, L. and T. Curby (2014), "Emotional support consistency and teacher–child relationships forecast social competence and problem behaviors in prekindergarten and kindergarten", <i>Early Education and Development</i> , Vol. 25/5, pp. 661-680, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2014.866020</u> .	[18]
Bub, K. (2009), "Testing the effects of classroom supports on children's social and behavioral skills at key transition points using latent growth modeling", <i>Applied Developmental Science</i> , Vol. 13/3, pp. 130-148, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10888690903041527</u> .	[23]
Buckrop, J., A. Roberts and J. LoCasale-Crouch (2016), "Children's preschool classroom experiences and associations with early elementary special education referral", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 36, pp. 452-461, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2016.01.016</u> .	[19]
Burchinal, M. et al. (2010), "Threshold analysis of association between child care quality and child outcomes for low-income children in pre-kindergarten programs", <i>Early</i> <i>Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 25/2, pp. 166-176, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2009.10.004</u> .	[20]
Burchinal, M. et al. (2011), "Examining the black-white achievement gap among low- income children using the NICHD study of early child care and youth development", <i>Child Development</i> , Vol. 82/5, pp. 1404-1420, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-</u> 8624.2011.01620.x.	[24]

Burchinal, M., D. Lowe Vandell and J. Belsky (2014), "Is the prediction of adolescent outcomes from early child care moderated by later maternal sensitivity? Results from the nichd study of early child care and youth development.", <i>Developmental psychology</i> , Vol. 50/2, pp. 542-53, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0033709</u> .	[25]
Cadima, J. et al. (2016), "Classroom interactions, dyadic teacher–child relationships, and self–regulation in socially disadvantaged young children", <i>Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology</i> , Vol. 44/1, pp. 7-17, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10802-015-0060-5</u> .	[40]
Chang, F. (2007), "Spanish-speaking children's social and language development in pre- kindergarten classrooms.", <i>Early Education and Development</i> 18(2), pp. 243–269.	[21]
Connor, C., F. Morrison and L. Slominski (2006), "Preschool instruction and children's emergent literacy growth.", <i>Journal of Educational Psychology</i> , Vol. 98/4, pp. 665-689, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.98.4.665</u> .	[17]
Cooper, H. (2009), <i>Research synthesis and meta-analysis: a step-by-step approach 4th ed;</i> , Sage Foundation, New York.	[2]
Cooper, H., L. Hedges and J. Valentine (2009), <i>Handbook of Research Synthesis and Meta-Analysis, The</i> , Russell Sage Foundation, New York.	[3]
Corey, D., W. Dunlap and M. Burke (1998), "Averaging correlations: Expected values and bias in combined pearson rs and fisher's z transformations", <i>Journal of General</i> <i>Psychology</i> , Vol. 125/3, pp. 245-261, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00221309809595548</u> .	[54]
Curby, T., K. Grimm and R. Pianta (2010), "Stability and change in early childhood classroom interactions during the first two hours of a day", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 25/3, pp. 373-384, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2010.02.004</u> .	[8]
Fenech, M., L. Harrison and J. Sumsion (2011), "Parent users of high-quality long day care: Informed consumers of child care?", <i>Australian Journal of Early Childhood.</i> , Vol. 36, pp. 95-103.	[9]
Harms, T., R. Clifford and D. Cryer (1998), <i>Early Childhood Environmental Rating Scale–Revised (Spanish)</i> , Teachers College Press, Vermont.	[42]
Helmerhorst, K. et al. (2017), "Effects of the Caregiver Interaction Profile Training on Caregiver–Child Interactions in Dutch Child Care Centers: A Randomized Controlled Trial", <i>Child & Youth Care Forum</i> , Vol. 46/3, pp. 413-436, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10566-016-9383-9</u> .	[14]
Howes, C. et al. (2008), "Erratum to "Ready to learn? Children's pre-academic achievement in pre-Kindergarten programs" [Early Childhood Research Quarterly 23 (2008) 27–50]", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 23/3, pp. 429-430, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2008.08.001</u> .	[22]
Kimer, M., M. Tuul and T. Õun (2016), "Implementation of different teaching approaches in early childhood education practices in Estonia", <i>Early Years</i> , Vol. 36/4, pp. 368- 382, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09575146.2015.1118443</u> .	[10]

Kuger, S., K. Pflieger and H. Rossbach (2005), <i>Familieneinschätzskala</i> <i>Forschungsversion [Family rating scale, research version]</i> , University of Bamberg, Bamberg, Germany.	[50]
Kuger, S. et al. (2016), "Stability and patterns of classroom quality in German early childhood education and care", <i>School Effectiveness and School Improvement</i> , Vol. 27/3 <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2015.1112815</u> .	[30]
Lehrl, S. et al. (2014), "Patterns of literacy and numeracy activities in preschool and their relation to structural characteristics and children's home activities", <i>Research Papers in Education</i> , Vol. 29/5, pp. 577-597, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02671522.2013.792865 .	[31]
Lerkkanen, M. et al. (2012), "A Validation of the Early Childhood Classroom Observation Measure in Finnish and Estonian Kindergartens", <i>Early Education & Development</i> , Vol. 23/3, pp. 323-350, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2010.527222</u> .	[36]
LoCasale-Crouch, J. et al. (2007), "Observed classroom quality profiles in state-funded pre-kindergarten programs and associations with teacher, program, and classroom characteristics", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 22/1, pp. 3-17, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2006.05.001</u> .	[15]
McCartney, K. et al. (2010), "Testing a series of causal propositions relating time in child care to children's externalizing behavior.", <i>Developmental Psychology</i> , Vol. 46/1, pp. 1-17, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0017886</u> .	[26]
Melhuish, E. et al. (2013), "Preschool affects longer term literacy and numeracy: results from a general population longitudinal study in Northern Ireland", <i>School</i> <i>Effectiveness and School Improvement</i> , Vol. 24/2, pp. 234-250, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2012.749796.	[51]
NICHD Early Child Care Research Network (1996), "Characteristics of infant child care: Factors contributing to positive caregiving", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 11, pp. 269-306, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(96)90009-5</u> .	[45]
NICHD Early Child Care Research Network (2004), "Multiple Pathways to Early Academic Achievement", <i>Harvard Educational Review</i> , Vol. 74/1, pp. 1-29, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17763/haer.74.1.k845735459043543</u> .	[46]
NICHD Early Child Care Research Network (2007), "Age of entry to kindergarten and children's academic achievement and socioemotional development", <i>Early education and development</i> , Vol. 18(2), <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10409280701283460</u> , pp. 337-368.	[27]
Niklas, F., C. Tayler and C. Cohrssen (2017), "Bilingual children's language learning in Australian early childhood education and care settings",	[34]

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02671522.2017.1353672.

O'Connor, E. et al. (2014), "Early mother–child attachment and behavior problems in middle childhood: the role of the subsequent caregiving environment", <i>Attachment & Human Development</i> , Vol. 16/6, pp. 590-612, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2014.937817</u> .	[28]
Perren, S. et al. (2017), "Child-centred educational practice in different early education settings: Associations with professionals' attitudes, self-efficacy, and professional background", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 38, pp. 137-148, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2016.07.001</u> .	[11]
Philips, D., W. Gormley and A. Lowenstein (2009), "Inside the pre-kindergarten door: Classroom climate and instructional time allocation in Tulsa's pre-K programs", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 24, pp. 213-228, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2009.05.002</u> .	[41]
Pianta, R. (2001), STRS Student-teacher Relationship Scale: Professional Manual, Psychological Assessment Resources, Odessa, FL.	[47]
Pianta, R., K. La Paro and B. Hamre (2008), <i>Classroom Assessment Scoring System</i> (<i>CLASS</i>) manual, <i>Pre-K</i> , Paul H. Brookes Publishing, Baltimore, MD.	[44]
Pianta, R. et al. (2008), "Effects of web-mediated professional development resources on teacher–child interactions in pre-kindergarten classrooms", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 23/4, pp. 431-451, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/J.ECRESQ.2008.02.001</u> .	[52]
Ribeiro, L., H. Zachrisson and E. Dearing (2017), "Peer effects on the development of language skills in Norwegian childcare centers", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 41, pp. 1-12, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/J.ECRESQ.2017.05.003</u> .	[12]
Richter, D., S. Lehrl and S. Weinert (2015), "Enjoyment of learning and learning effort in primary school: the significance of child individual characteristics and stimulation at home and at preschool", <i>Early Child Development and Care</i> , Vol. 186/1, pp. 96-116, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2015.1013950</u> .	[32]
Ritchie, S. et al. (2001), <i>Emerging academics snapshot</i> , Unpublished instrument, University of California, Los Angeles.	[49]
Slot, P. (2017), Literature review on Early Childhood Education and Care quality: Relations between structural characteristics at different levels and process quality, Internal document, OECD, Paris.	[6]
Slot, P. et al. (2017a), "Measurement properties of the CLASS Toddler in ECEC in the Netherlands", <i>Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology</i> , Vol. 48, pp. 79-91, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2016.11.008</u> .	[37]
Smidt, W. et al. (2012), "Emergent literacy activities in the final preschool year in the German federal states of Bavaria and Hesse", <i>Early Years</i> , Vol. 32/3, pp. 301-312, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09575146.2011.642851</u> .	[33]

Smith, M., D. Dickinson and A. Sangeorge (2002), <i>Early literacy and language classroom observation scale (ELLCO)</i> , Paul Brookes, Baltimore, MD.	[48]
Strasser, K., A. Rolla and S. Romero-Contreras (2016), "School readiness research in Latin America: Findings and challenges", New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development, Vol. 2016/152, pp. 31-44, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/cad.20160</u> .	[5]
Sylva, K. et al. (2006), "Capturing quality in early childhood through environmental scales", <i>Early Childhood Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 21/1, pp. 76-92, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2006.01.003</u> .	[43]
Sylva, K. et al. (2013), "The effects of early experiences at home and pre-school on gains in English and mathematics in primary school: a multilevel study in England", <i>Zeitschrift für Erziehungswissenschaft</i> , Vol. 16/2, pp. 277-301, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11618-013-0364-6</u> .	[39]
Tayler, Collette, Ishimine, Karin Cloney, Dan Cleveland, GordonThorpe, K. (2013), "The quality of early childhood education and care services in Australia.", <i>Australasian Journal of Early Childhood</i> , Vol. 38, pp. 13-21. 9p. 4 Charts.	[35]
Tayler, C. et al. (2017), "Final report to the Partner Organisations for the Effective Early Education Experiences (E4Kids) Study", <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4225/49/58F99F47A2AB4</u> .	[16]
Vandell, D. et al. (2010), "Do effects of early child care extend to age 15 years? Results from the NICHD study of early child care and youth development", <i>Child</i> <i>Development</i> , Vol. 81/3, pp. 737-756, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-</u> <u>8624.2010.01431.x</u> .	[29]
von Suchodoletz, A. et al. (2017), "Associations among quality indicators in early childhood education and care (ECEC) and relations with child development and	[1]

learning: A meta-analysis", Internal document, OECD, Paris.

ORGANISATION FOR ECONOMIC CO-OPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT

The OECD is a unique forum where governments work together to address the economic, social and environmental challenges of globalisation. The OECD is also at the forefront of efforts to understand and to help governments respond to new developments and concerns, such as corporate governance, the information economy and the challenges of an ageing population. The Organisation provides a setting where governments can compare policy experiences, seek answers to common problems, identify good practice and work to co-ordinate domestic and international policies.

The OECD member countries are: Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Chile, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Korea, Latvia, Luxembourg, Mexico, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, the Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, the United Kingdom and the United States. The European Union takes part in the work of the OECD.

OECD Publishing disseminates widely the results of the Organisation's statistics gathering and research on economic, social and environmental issues, as well as the conventions, guidelines and standards agreed by its members.

Starting Strong Engaging Young Children LESSONS FROM RESEARCH ABOUT QUALITY IN EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION AND CARE

The first years of life lay the foundations for a child's future development and learning. Many countries have increased their financial support for provision of early childhood education and care (ECEC) over the past years. More recently, the focus of debate has been shifting from expanding access to affordable ECEC to enhancing its quality. A growing body of research suggests that the magnitude of the benefits for children will depend on the level of quality of early childhood services, with especially strong evidence in the case of disadvantaged children.

In light of budgetary constraints, policy makers require the latest knowledge base of the quality dimensions that are most important for ensuring children's development and early learning. However, current research is often narrow in focus or limited to programme-level or national-level conclusions. This book expands the knowledge base on this topic. It draws lessons from a cross-national literature review and meta-analysis of the relationship between early childhood education and care structure (e.g. child-staff ratios, staff training and qualifications), process quality (i.e. the quality of staff-child interactions and developmental activities), and links to child development and learning.

This report concludes with key insights, as well as avenues for further research.

Consult this publication on line at http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264085145-en.

This work is published on the OECD iLibrary, which gathers all OECD books, periodicals and statistical databases. Visit *www.oecd-ilibrary.org* for more information.









